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Cantel Medical Corp.

N

Dedicated to Infection Prevention and Control

Cantel Medical Corp. is a leading provider of infection prevention and control products in the healthcare market.
Our products include specialized medical device reprocessing systems for renal dialysis and endoscopy, dialysate
concentrates and other dialysis supplies, disposable infection control products primarily for the dental industry, water
purification equipment, sterilants, disinfectants and cleaners, hollow fiber membrane filtration and separation products
for medical and non-medical applications, and specialty packaging for infecticus and biological specimens. 'We also -
provide technical maintenance for our products and offer compliance training services for the transport of infectious
and biclogical specimens,

Through Minntech, Cantel operates its Dialysis, Endoscope Reprocessing and Therapeutic Filtration operating segments.
The Company designs, develops, manufactures, markets and distributes disinfection/sterilization reprocessing systems,
sterilants, and diafysafe concentrates and other supplies for renal dialysis; hollow fiber filtration and separation products
for medical applications; and Medivators endoscope reprocessing systems, sterilants and other supplies.

Through Crosstex, Cantel operates its Dental operating segment which designs, develops, manufactures, marke"ts and
distributes single-use infection control products used principally in the dental market including face masks, towels and
bibs, tray covers, sterilization pouches and disinfectanis. ' -

Through Mar Cor Purification, Cantel operates its Water Purification and Filtration operating segment providing water
purification equipment design and manufacturing, project management, installation, maintenance, deionization and
mixing systems, filtration and separation products and disinfectants to the medical, pharmaceutical, biotechnology,
research and other industrial markets.

Through Saf-T-Pak, Cantel operates its Specialty Packaging operating segment which provides specialty packaging
and thermal control products, as well as related compliance training for the transport of infectious and biological
specimens and thermally sensitive pharmaceutical, medical and other products.

Selected Financial Highlights
{Doltar amounts in thousands, except per share data) - .
2006 2006 2004 2003 2002

Net sales $192,179 $137.157  $123,04%  $ 93,962 § 87,141
Income from continuing operations 6,653 7.885 4,877 4,420 4,769
Income from discontinued operations 10,268 7.610 5717 3.490 2,383
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 6,776 — — — —
Net income $ 23,697 $ 15505 310654 $ 7910 § 7152
Diluted earnings per common share:
Continuing operations $ 041 $ 049 $ 032 $ 030 % 033
Discontinued operations : 0.63 -0.47 0.38 0.24 0.16
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations 0.42 — — — —
Net income $ 145 $ 086 $ 070 & 054 "% 049
Total assets o : $238,227 $165279 $146,726 $109.810 $107.814
Stockholders' equity $£140,805 $108626 $ 86511 & 70182 $ 57,911
Equity per share : $ 9.14 $ 724 § 592 % 503 3 419




1 — Cante! Medical Corp.

To Our Shareholders:

Fiscal 2006 marked a year of significant transmon for
Cantel Medical, highlighted by the acquisiticn of the Crogstex
dental business, the termination of our 55-year Olympus]dls
tributorship in Canada and our strategic decision to change our
United States Medivators® endoscope reprocessing business
from a distribution mode! o a direct sales and service model.

Our Results

Our fiscal 2006 financial performance was positive,
although there were a few challenges. However, our bottom line
results must be examined in light of the events described above
Fiscal 2006 revenues of $257,100,000 and net income from
operations of $16,921,000, or $1.04 per diluted share, compared
favorably Wltlh fiscal 2005 revenues of $197,402,000 andI net
income of $15 505,000, or $0.96 per diluted share. On a conltinu
ing basis (wnthout our Canadian distribution business). Cantel
Medical flscal 2006 revenues were $192,179,000 with net income
of $6,653, OOQ or $0.41 per diluted share. This compares ;Wlth
revenues of $137,157,000 and net income of $7,895,000, or $0.49
per diluted share during fiscal 2005,

As of July 31, 2006, the Company's balance sheet inclpded
cash and cash equivalents of $28,898,000 and bank debt of
$38,000,000, resulting in a net debt of $8,102,000, and stock-
holders’ equ1ty of $140,805,000. During fiscal 2006, cash|flow
from opera‘uons was $22,061,000, or $1.36 per diluted share,
compared with $24,773,000, or $1.53 per diluted share, respec-
tively, in fiscal 2005, Cash flow generated by net income, Iafter
adjusting forznon -cash charges related only to deorecratlon and
arnorhzahon and stock-based compensation expense ({but
excluding other elements of cash flow from operaiions),|was
$35,058,000 for fiscal 2008, compared with $20,071,000 for fiscal
2005, or §2. 15 and $1.24 per diluted share, respectively.

Although the loss of the Olympus business will |hurt
our short- terlm results, from a long-term perspective, Cantel
Medical is nolw fully dedicated to its principal strategic objelctwe
of growing as a market leader in proprietary and brahded
infection prevention and control products and services.
Numerous efforts were completed in fiscal 2006 and more are
underway to!significantly expand our position in these pro:duct
segments through both organic growth and acquisitione. All
of our major operating segments have geod internal growth
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prospects and represent excellent opportunities to leverage
synergistic acquisitions.

Dental Disposable Products

There is no better example of this than our Crosstex
dental business which was acquired on August 1, 2005. Crosstex
is a leading infection prevention and control company that
develops, markets and distributes single-use products primarily
for the dental market. Crosstex’ fiscal 2006 performance
exceeded our expectations. We invested heavily during the year
to increase Crosstex’ production capacity for both current and
new products, which should pay both short-term and long-term
dividends. With the expertise and experience of our dedicated
Crosstex management team and Cantel Medical's financial
support, we expect that Crosstex will grow not only in its
current markets, but also in expanded areas of healthcare
and other channels of distribution.

Water Purification and Filtration

In fiscal 2006, we experienced good growth in the first
full year of our newly combined water purification, filtration
and disinfectants businesses, now under the name Mar Cor
Purification. Cantel Medical recently appointed Curtis D.
Weitnauer as Mar Cor's President. Mr. Weitnauer brings over
twenty years of industry experience with GE Water and Process
Technologies and Osmonics Inc. (now a part of GE Water), He
has extensive experience in general management as well as
operations, sales and marketing and is the ideal person to lead
our growing water purification, filtration and disinfectants busi-
ness. The Company further strengthened the executive team
especially in the sales and marketing area. Additionally, we
enhanced the business by the acquisition of Fluid Solutions on
May 1, 2006, which expanded our presence in New England.

We are very aptimistic that Mar Cor Purification will have
subsiantial growth in fiscal 2007 and beyond. Mar Cor has
recently launched a new line of heat sanitizable reverse
osmosis machines for the dialysis market and will soon launch
a new line of hollow fiber filters.

Endoscope Reprocessing
Another major development for the Company in fiscal
2006 was our strategic decision to change our United States

MEDIVATORS'
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Medivators endoscope reprocessing business from a distribu-
tion model to a direct sales and service model. Commencing
in fiscal 2007, we terminated our ten-year relationship with
Olympus and developed a direct sales and service organiza-
tion in the United States. Throughout the former distribution
arrangement with Olympus, we employed our own personnel to
provide clinical sales support activities as well as an internal
technical and customer service functicn, depot maintenance
and service and all logistics and distribution services for the
Medivators/Clympus customer base. This exisiing infrastruc-
ture will continue to be a critical factor in our new direct sales
and service strategy. During fiscal 2008, we invested $806,000
to develop our field sales and service organizaticn in prepara-
tion for the August 2006 implementation of our new strategy.
We continue to invest in the development of our state-of-

the-art Dyped MDS (Modular Disinfection System) endoscepe |

reprocessors. Several models have been launched throughout
Europe, and we continued to expand our sales and marketing
capability to significantly increase sales in fiscal 2007, Overall,
we expect significant growth in our European equipment and
disinfectant and sterilant business. Additionally, we intend to
seek approval from United Siates and Canadian regulatory
authorities within the next 12 months to launch our new MDS
endoscope reprocessors in North America.

This cperation is Cantel Medical's first direct hospital
sales and service force, and we plan to explore fuiure hospital-
based opportunities with this new capability. Early reporis are
positive on the effectiveness of our new sales and service team.
We expect significant growth in both equipment and disinfec-
tant sales in fiscal 2007.

Dialysis

In the United States, Minntech continues to be affected
by the consolidation of dialysis providers. As reported through-
out the year, Fresenius' acquisition of Renal Care Group and
DaVita's acquisition of Gambro have created new challenges in
maintaining market share and selling prices. As a result, we
have taken numerous steps to reduce operating expenses to
partiaity offset these developments. On a more positive note, in
the United States, DaVita remains commitied to dialyzer reuse
and continues to expand purchase of boih dialyzer reprocess-
ing equipment and sterilants. Additionalty, we will continue our
efforts to expand automated dialyzer reprocessing around the
world and have already experienced some success in Asian
markets, particularly in China.

MAR COR
PURIFICATION

Other (Therapeutic Technologies and Specially Packaging)

‘Although the fiscal 2006 performance of the Therapeutic
Technologies Group was negatively affected by several non-
recurring events, all of the group's emerging technologies
and joint venture development projects in drug delivery, blood
filtration and bhio-artificial organs are showing considerable
promise as they progress through safety trials and Phase I
clinical trials.

We remain optimistic about the prospects for Sat-T-Pak,
our specialty packaging company. In fiscal 2006, we strength-
ened the division's executive management team and taunched
a line of thermal management phase change materials under
the brand name, Saf-T-Temp™.

Looking Forward

We are enthusiastic and confident that our strategy to
build Cantel Medical with proprietary branded products in the
infection prevention and control sector will continue to improve
shareholder value in the future. Growth will come from both the
organic growth of our core businesses and through acquisi-
tions that will leverage our current business platforms. We
firmly believe our exacutive team and our employees have the
drive and commitment necessary to achieve our goals.

We are pleased to announce that Cantel Medical
was recently included in the Forbes list of "200 Best Small
Companies” for the seventh year in‘a row. ‘

We thank all our customers, suppliers and shareholders
for their continued confidence, and our Directors for their sup-
port and guidance throughout the year. We also extend a spe-
cial thank you to the entire staff of our Carsen subsidiary for
their dedicated service through the very last day of operations,
and wish them all. the best in their fuiure endeavors. Most
importantly, we sincerely thank all our employees for their dedi- -
cation and contribution to the Company's continued success.

Lot . A

Charles M. Diker
Chairman of the Board

2

James P. Reilly
Prasident and Chief Executive Oificer

SAFPAK
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washlngton, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

BS] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the flscal year ended July 31, 2006

H

{ or
| TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 O0R 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition perlod from to

Commission File No. 001-31337

]

- CANTEL MEDICAL CORIP

N (Exact name of. regrstrant as specified in its charter)

Del,aware _ - 22-1760285
{State or other jurisdiction of (L.R.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identification no.)
150 Clove Road Little Falls, New Jersey " 07424
(Address of pnncrpal executive ofﬂces) (Zip code)

Registrant's telephone number including area code: (973) 890-7220
) o - Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

i ' . | . Name of each exchange
' Title of each class on which registered

Common Stock, $.10 par value ' New York Stock Exchange

! Securities registered purs uant to Section 12{g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a well- known‘ seclsoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes (] No [X]
Indicate by chack mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [J No ]

Indicate by check mark whether Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such
reports) and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements|for the past 90 days. Yes X No (J

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained-herein, and will
not be contarned to'the best of Registrant's knowledge, in defrnrtwe proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in
Part 11l of this'Form 10-K or any amendmaent to this Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is'a Iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non- accelerated filer (as defined
in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Large accelerated filer [ Accelerated fiter ® Non-accelerated filer (J
Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell. company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [(J No

State the aggregate market value of the voting and ncn- votrng commen equity held by non-affiliates of the Registrant, based on
shares he!d and the cIosrng price of a share of the Reg|strant s common stock on January 31, 2006, the last business day of the
Registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter as quoied by the New York Stock Exchange on that date: $204,877,350.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the Registrant’s classes of common stoc_k as of the close of business on
Septernber 18, 2006: 15,524,903

Documents mcorporated by reference: Definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the 2006 Annuat Meeting of Stockholders of Registrant.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains "forward Iooklng '
statements” as that term is defined ander the anate Securi-
ties thlgahon Reform Act of 1995 and releases issued by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC™) and within
the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act") and Section 21E of the Securi-

ties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™). .-

These statements are based on current expectations, estimates,

or forecasts about our businesses, the industries in which we

operate, and the beliefs and assumptions of management;

they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts: We have
tried, wherever possible, to identify such statements by using
words such’as "expect," "anticipate,” “goal,” “project,” “intend,”
“plan,” “believe,” "seek,” "may,” “could,” and variations of such

"o

words and similar expressions. In addition, any staterments that

refer to predictions or projections of our future financial perfor-
mance, anticipated growth and trends in our businesses, and

_other characterizations of future events or circumstances are
forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned-that these '

forward-looking statements are only predictions about future
events, activities or developments and are subject to numerous
risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to pre-
dict including, among other things, the foliowing:

+ the increasing market share of srngie -use dralyzers relative
to reuse dialyzers

» the adverse impact of consolidation of dialysis providers

s uncertainties related to our assumption of direct sales and
service of Medivators endoscope reprocessing products in
the United States on August 2, 2006

* our dependence on a concentrated number of distributors
for our dental segment products

* our dependence on acquiring new businesses and success-

. fully integrating and operating such businesses

* the uncertain outcome of plaintiff's appeal of Summary
Judgment dismissing a lawsuit filed against us that alleged
viclations of federal antitrust laws

« foreign currency exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations

* the'impact of significant government regulation on our
businesses

You should understand that it is not possible to predict or
identify all such factors. Conseguently, you should not con-
sider the foregoing items.to be a complete list of all potential
risks or uncertainties, See "Risk Factors™ below for a discus-
sion of the above risk factors and certain additional.risk factors
that you should consider before investing in the shares of our
commaon stock.

Al forward-looking statements herein speak only as of the
date of this Report. We expressty disclaim any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any
forward-tooking statements contained herein to reflect any -
change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change

Item 1. BUSINESS. . - . v

in events, condmons or circumstances on which any such

statement is based
y

For these statements, we: clalm the protection of the safe harbor

. for forward-looking statements contained in Section 274 of the

Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act.

PART 1

3

General” : il

We are a Ieadmg provider of infection preventron and control
products in the healthcare market specializing in the following
operating segments:

« Dialysis: Medical device reprocessing systems, sterilants/
disinfectants, dialysate concentrates and other supplies for
renal dialysis.

= Dental: Single-use, infection control products used princi-

~pally in the dental markat'including face masks, towels and
bibs, tray covers.'saliva ejectors, germicidal wipes, plastic
cups, sterilization pouches and disinfectants.’

* Endoscope Reprocessing: Medical device reprocessing sys-
tems and sterilants/disinfectants for endescopy.

= Water Purification and Filtration: Water purification equip-
ment and services, filtration and separation products, and
disinfectants for the medical, pharmaceutical, biotech and

" other industrial markets.

* Therapeutic Filtration: Hollow fiber membrane filiration and
separation technologies for medical applications. {(included
in All Other reporting segment)

* Specialty Packaging: Specialty packaging and thermal con-
trol products, as well as related compliance training, for
the transport of indectious and biological specimens and
thermally sensitive pharmaceutical, medical and other
products. (Included in All Other reporting segment)

Most of our equipment, consumables and supplies are used
to help prevent the occurrence or spread of infecticns.

"

‘Throughout this document, references to “Cantel,” “us,” "we,”

“our," and the "“Company” are references to Cantel Medical
Corp. and its subsidiaries, except where the context makes it

-clear the reference is to Cantel itself and not its subsidiaries,

Recent Events

Discontinued Operations—Termination of Carsen's Distribution
Agreements with Olympus

On July 31, 2006, our wholly-owned subsidiary Carsen Group
Inc. ("Carsen”) closed the sale of substantiaily all of its assets
to Olympus America Inc. and certain of its affiliates (collectively,
“Olympus”) under an Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of
May 16, 2006 among Carsen, Cantel and Olympus. Olympus
purchased substantially all of Carsen's assets other than those




~ The $10,000,000 fixed portion of the purchase price was in

|
related to Carsen's Medivators business and certain other -
smaller produ:ctilinee. Following the closing, Olympus hiredl
substantially all of Carsen's employees and took over Carsep's
Olympus-related operations (as well as the operations related
to the other acqurred product tines). In connection with the
transaction, Carsen 's Medivators-related assets as well as cer

{ain of its other assets that were not acquired by Qlympus were

sold to our ne'w Canadian drstrrbutor of Medivators products.

The purchase price for the net assets sold to Olympus was|-
approxamately $31,200,000, comprised. of a fixed sum of
$10,000,000 plus an additional formula-based sum:of
$21,200,000. In addition, Olympus will pay Carsen 20%
of Olympus' revenues attributable to Carsen’s unfilled cus-
tomer orders as of July 31, 2006 that were assumed by
Olympus at the closing. Such payments to Carsen (currently
anticipated to be approximately $450,000) will be made follow
ing Olympus' receipt of customer payments for such orders

consideration for {i) Carsen's customer lists, sales records,
and certain other assets related to the sale and servicing of
Qlympus products and certain non-Olympus products dis-
triputed by Carsen, (i) the release of Olympus' contractual
restriction on hiring Carsen personnel, (iii) real property leases
{which were assumed or replaced by Olympus) and leasehold
improvements, computer and software systems, equipment
and machinery, telephone systems, and records related to

the acquired assets, and (iv) assisting Olympus in effecting

a smooth transition of Carsen’s business of distriouting and
servicing Olympus and certain non-Olympus products in
Canada. Cantel has also agreed {on behalf of itself and its
affiliates) not to mahufacture distribute, sell or represent for
sale in Canada through July 31, 2007 any products that are|
competitive \;vrth the Olympus products formerly scld. by
Carsen under its Olympus Drstrrbutron Agreements.

The $21,200, 000 formula based portlon of the purchase price -

was based on the book value of Carsen's inventories of Olyrnpus
and certain non- Olympus products and the net book amount
of Carsen’s a]ccounts receivable and certain other assets, all

at July 31, 2006 subject to offsets, particutarly for accountls
payable of Carsen due to Olympus.

A

Net proceeds from Carsen s sale of net assets and the termr

nation of Car'sen s operations were approximately $21,100 QOO
(excluding the backlog payments) after satisfaction of remain-
ing liabilittes'and taxes. :

As a result of the foregoing transaction, which corncrded with
the exprratron of Carsen s exclusive distribution agreements
with Olympus on.July 31, 2006, Carsen no longer has any ,
remaining product lines or active business operations. -

The busrnesses of Carsen, previously reported in the
Endoscopy and Surgrcal Endoscope Reprocessing and All
Other reportrng segments are reflected as a discontinued| |
operatron in our Consolrdated Frnancral Statements.
|
!

{
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Direct Sale of Medivators Systems in the United States  ~+ -

On August 2, 2006, we commenced the sale and service of
our Medivators brand endoscope reprocessing equipment,
high-level disinfectants, cleaners and consumabies through
our own United States field sales and service organization.
Qur direct sale of these products is the result of our decision
that it is in our'ti.est long-term interests to control and further
develop our owrl direct hospital-based United States distribu-
tion network anq.'.“as such, not to renew Olympus' exclusive
United. States distribution agreement when it expired on
August 1, 2006. '

Throughout the former distribution arrangement with Olympus,
we employed our own personnel to provide clinical sales sup-

“port activities as well as an internal technical and customer

service function, depot maintenance and service and all logis-
tics and distribution services for the Medivators/Olympus cus-
tomer base. This existing and fully developed infrastructure
will continue fo be a critical factor in our new direct sales and
service strategy. See "—Reporting Segments—Endoscope
Reprocessing.” .

During the seven-year period following the expiration of the
distribution agreement with Olympus on August 1, 2006,
Clympus will have the option to provide certain ongoing sup-
port functions to its existing customer base of Medivators
products, subject to the terms and conditions of the agree-
ment. In addition, Olympus may continue to purchase from
Minntech for resale in connection with such support functions,
Medivators accessories, consumables, and replacement and
repair parts, as well as Raprcrde“’ drsrnfectant

Acqursrtron of fluid Solutions, Inc.

On May 1, 2006, we expanded our infection preventron and
control business in water purification by purchasing certain
assets of Fluid Solutions, Inc., a privately-held high_purity water
systems manufacturer and service company with a resin regen-
eration facility. The assets and operations of Fluid Solutions.
based in Lowell, Massachusetts, have been integrated into our
Water Purification and Filiration segment. See “—Reporting
Segments—Water Purification and Filtratién™ and- Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The primary reason for the acquisition v'vas_,to expand our cus- '
tomer base in the biotech, pharmaceutical, research, hospital,
and semiconductor markets as well as our sales presence and
resin regeneration capability in the New England ared. ' '

Acquisition of Crosstex International, inc.

On ‘August 1, 2006, we acquired Crosstex 1nternatronal Inc.
("Crosstex”), a leading manufacturer and reseller of single-
use, infection control preducts used principally in the dental
market. See “—Reporting Segments—Dental” and Note 3 to
the Consotidated Financial Statements.
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Reporting Segments
The following table gives information as to the percentage of
consolidated net sales from continuing operations accounted

for by each of our reporting segments: -
| - Year Ended July 31

Dialysis ; 307 477 464
Dental 28.3 — —
Water Purification and Filtration 18.9 21.2 24.2
Endoscope Reprocessing : 158 209 2041

All Other ) 6.3 10.2 6.3

100.0  100.0 100.0

The table above does not-include information related to the
operations of Carsen, which are reflected as a discontinued
operation in our Consolidated Financial Statements.

For a presentation of net sales, net income and total assets by
reporting segment, see Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. T o

Dialysis

General .

We design, develop, manufacture and sell reprocessing sys-
tems and sterilants for dialyzers (artificial kidneys}, as well as
dialysate concentrates and supplies utilized for renal dialysis.
These products are sold in the United States and, to a signifi-
cantly lesser extent, throughout the world. Our customer base
is comprised of large and small dialysis chains as weli a3 inde-
pendent dialysis clinics. We sell the products in the United
States primarily through our own direct distribution network,
and in many international markets either direcily or under
various third-party distribution agreements.

Dialyzer Reprocessing Products and Services

During dialysis, a dialyzer (a device serving as an artificial kid-
ney) is used to fitter fluids and wastes from a dialysis patient’s
blood. Qur dialyzer reprocessing products are limited to use
by centers that choose {o clean, disinfect and reuse dialyzers,
known as “dialyzer reuse,” rather than discard the dialyzers
after a single use. Qur products meet rigorous sterility assur-
ance standards and regulations, thereby providing for the safe
and effective reuse of dialyzers used in dialysis clinics.

Dialysis centers in the United States that reuse dialyzers derive
an economic benefit since the per-procedure cost is less when
utilizing dialyzer reuse compared with single use and such
dialysis clinics generally receive a capitated payment for pro-
viding hemodialysis treatment. Although public information is
not available to accurately quantify the number of dialysis cen-
. ters currentiy employing dialyzer reuse versus single use, it is
apparent that the market share of single use dialyzers has heen
increasing during the past five years relative {o reuse dialyzers.

We believe that approximately 40% of all dialysis centers in

the United States currently reuse dialyzers. This compares to
approximately 76% reuse reported by the Centers for Disease
Control in 2001. We believe that the shift from reuse {o single

use dialyzers is principally due to the commitment of Fresenius
Medical Care ("Fresenius”), the targest dialysis chain in the
United States and a manufacturer of single-use dialyzers, to
convert all of its reuse dialysis clinics (including newly acquired .

c||n|cs) to smgle use. facnmes A contlnued decrease in dlalyzer

Qur dialyzer reprocessing products include the Renatron® |l
Automated Dialyzer Reprocessing System, the Renalog® RM
Data Management System and the Renaclear® Dialyzer Clean-
ing System, together with Renalin® Cold Sterilant and Renalin
100 Cold Sterilant, peracetic acid based sterilants that replace
less environmentally friendly products.

The Renatron system provides an automated method of rins-
ing, cleaning, sterilizing and testing dialyzers for reuse. The
Renatron It Automated Dialyzer Reprocessing System, the
most current version of the product, includes a bar-code
reader, a computer and the Renalog RM Data Management )
System, a software accessory that provides dialysis centers
with automated record keeping and data analysis capabilities.
We helieve our Renatron systems are faster, easier to use, and
more efficient than competitive automated systems. We also
believe that the Renatron systems are the top selling automated
dialyzer reprocessing systems in the world.

Qur Ren_acilear system. the first dedicated automated dialyzer
cleaning system, removes blood and organic debris from
difficult-to-clean dialyzers before reprocessing, a process
known as “pre-cleaning.” Pre-cleaning is common in dialysis
units because the practice can help extend the useful clinical
life of a dialyzer. When dialyzers are pre-cleaned by hand,
many dialysis facilities remove the dialyzer header caps (the
end caps of a dialyzer) to more effectively rinse out heavy
blood debris. However, opening the dialyzer in this fashion may
increase the risk of contamination of the dialyzer components
and damage to the dialyzer.membrane. The Renaclear system’
features a high-powered fluid injector that cleans dialyzer
headers (the two internal ends of a dialyzer) without requiring
removal of the header caps. The Renaclear system is designed
for use with our peracetic acid-based Renaclear disinfectant.

Qur Renalin 100 sterilant is a proprietary pe'racetic acid-based
formula that, when used with our Renatron system, effectively
cleans, disinfects and sterilizes dialyzers without the hazard-
ous fumes and potential disposal issues related to glutaralde-
hyde and formaldehyde reprocessing solutions. We believe
Renalin sterilant is the leading dialyzer reprocessing solution
in the United States.

V;Ve also manufacture a cornprehensive preduct line of test
strips to measure concentration levels of the peracetic acid

’ chemistries we produce. These test strips ensure that the

appropriate concentration of sterilant is maintained through-
out the required contact period, in addition to verifying that all
sterilant has been removed from the dialyzer prior to patient
use. In addition, we sell a variety of dialysis supplies manufac-
tured by third parties.
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Our Dialysis segment offers various preventative maintenance
programs and repair services to support the effective operatlon
of reprocessmg systems over their lifetime; Qur field serwce
personnel, dlaly5|s center technicians and international th|rd
party ¢ distributors install, maintain, upgrade. repair and trouble-
shoot equipment. 1

Dialysate Concentrates

Our renal dialysis treatment products include a line of acild
and bicarbonate concentrates, referred to as dialysate concen-
trates, used by kidney dialysis centers to prepare dialysate,la
chemical solution that draws waste products from the patlent s
blood through a dialyzer membrane during the hemodualysus
treatment. D|alysate concentrates are used in the dialysis pro-
cess, whether single use or reuse dialyzers are being utit |zed
We believe that we have one of the industry's most complete
lines of dialys:ate concentrate products, which include both|
liquid and powder form for use in virtually all types of kidney
dialysis mactluines. y
Dental

On August 1, 2005, we acquired Crosstex, a leading manufac
turer and resetler of single-use, infection control products Iused
principally in the dental market. As a result of the acquisition,
we now offer a broad selection of core disposable dental plrod
ucts, comprising over 60 categorles of dental merchandlse
including face masks, towels and bibs, tray covers, saliva evac
uators and ejectors, germicidal wipes, plastic cups. stenhzatlon
pouches, surface barriers, eyewear, disinfectants and clealners
hand care products gloves, sponges, cotton products, needles
and syringes, and scalpels and blades. We helieve that wle
maintain a leading market position in the United States for
face masks,.towels and bibs, {ray covers, saliva ejectors, ger-
micidal W|pes and plastic cups used in the dental market.

We manufacture products accounting for approximately two-
thirds of our1 net sales in this segment. We source the batelmce
of our produlcts from third-party suppliers, certain of whu:p are
sold under exclusive distributorship agreements with the sup-
plier. Since the acquisition, we have increased our, manufe;c
turing capabmty oi-certain key products and commenced .the
manufacture of certain products and product components that
we pre.-wously sourced. The majority of our dental products are
sold under the Crosstex® brand name. For certain of our cus-
tomers, we élso produce private label products.

QOur dental products are sold to approximately 350 wholesale
customers, compnsmg approximately 1,200 ship-to iocations in
the United States and, to a lesser extent, in Europe and Jépan
The wholesalers generally include major healthcare d|str|butors
group purchasmg organizations and co- operatives that sell our
products to'dental _practices as well as medical, vetermar)lt, and
school locations.

Water Puri:fication and Filtration.

General )
We design, :develop. manufacture and sell water purification
systems and accessories for dialysis, research laboratories,

pharmaceutical and indusirial customers. These systems
provide purification solutions specitic to our customers’
needs and site conditions, ranging from low-volume, wall
mounted reverse osmosis systems, to high-volume, complete
turnkey purification systems. We generally sell the equipment
directly to our customers in the United States, Puerto Rico,
and Canada and through various third-party distributors in

international markets.

Purification systems can include combinations of treatment
methods such as (i) carbon filtration, which removes chlorine
and dissolved organic contamination by adsorption; (i) reverse
osmosis (RO), which is a filtration process thai forces liquid
through non-peorous or semi-porous membranes to remove

" particles, microorganisms and dissolved minerals and organics; .

{iii) ulira-filtration, which removes bacteria, viruses and other
ultrafine impurities from water using a membrane similar
in design to a reverse osmosis membrane; (iv) deionization,
which is an ion exchange platform thai requires resin regen-
eration (see "Resin Regeneration” below); and (v} electro-
deionization, which is a form of deionization that is based

on the conductance of electrical charges._

Water Purification Equipment

Our line of Biolab® Equipment water purification systems

has heen designed te produce "hiologically pure” water for
use in the pharmaceutical, elecironics, research and medical
industries, The equipment is designed in sanitary and semi-
sanitary configuraticns to provide efficient and reliable produc-
tion of USP grade water {i.e., water meeting the FDA-enforced
standards of the.United States Pharmacopeia). The Biolab
Equipment line includes systems that utilize heat to sanitize
the equipment, thus reducing the amount of chemicals con-
sumed and labor reguired for mainienance. Heai sanitization
is enwvironmentally friendly and.prevents the formation of dan-
gerous bicfilms. Heat disinfection has been used in the phar-
maceutical industry for years and has been recently introduced
in the dialysis market.

The Biolab Equipment line of RO machines includes various
designs and sizes to meet our customers' specific requirements.

" Qur.standard line of equipment includes the 2200, 3300, 4400,

8400, RODI® combination RO and etectro-deionization system,
and various heat disinfecting configurations. The 4400 RC'is
the principal RO manufactured by us and canbe configured
for pharmaceuticat, medical and industrial applications. The
Biolab Equipment line has recently been expanded to offer
packaged systems for the commercial and indusirial market.
These systems are pre-engineered for specific applications
and will be stocked for rapid order fuliiliment. ..

We also offer pretreatment equipment, lab water equipment,

a fuli range of service deionization tanks and specific equip-
ment designed to support the dialysis market. This equipment
includes our Semper Pure® portable reverse 0smosis machine,
a bicarbonate system with central and single mix distribution
units, and concentrate systems with central concentrate hold-
ing tanks.
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Our systems meet water quality and good manufacturing
practice standards of the Association for the Advancement

of Medical Instrumentation ("AAMI"). We have received 510(k)

clearances from the FDA for our Biolab purification equipment .

for healthcare applications and for our dialysis water purifica-
tion systems, bicarbonate mix.and distribution systems and
the Semper Pure machine.

Service & Maintenance; Resin Regeneration

We provide service and maintenance for water purification sys-

tems in the United States and Canada through fifteen regional
offices (thirteen in the United States and two in Canada). These
service centers are staffed with sales and service personnel

to support both scheduled and emergency customer require-

. ments. Each office provides 24-hour emergency service for our
customers through a fleet of stocked service vehicles. Six of
the offices (Toronto, Montreal, Philadelphia, Boston, Chicago, .
‘and Atlanta) are equipped with resin regeneration plants
(described below). )

Resin régeneration {also known as service deionization and
carbon exchange} is the process in which cylinders (pressure
vessels with an inlet connection and an outlet connection)
are assembled, sanitized, and filled with ton exchange resin,
which is processed using hydrochloric acid and caustic soda.
These cylinders are connected to a customer's water supply.
As the water passes through the ion exchange resin beads,
minerals are removed. When the electrical charge placed on
the resin beads during the regeneration process is exhausted,
the cylinders are exchanged for identical cylinders with regen-
erated resin. The cylinders with exhausted resin are returned
by service personnel to cur regeneration plants and the-resin.
is regenerated for use by the same or another customer.
Customers are invoiced for each cylinder replacement.

Filtration .

We offer a full line of filters utilizing hollow fiber membrane
technology. The filters, sold under the FiberFlo® Capsule Filters
and FiberFlo® Cartridge Filters names, are utilized to remove
impurities from liquid streams for a wide range of applications.
Such applications include the filtering of ultrapure water to
remove bacteria and endctoxing in medical environments to
provide protection for patients undergoing treatments that use
ultrapure water. In fact, our cartridge filters are validated to
remove all endotoxins in dialysis water, which is included in
our registration of the filters as Medical Devices under FDA
510k} regulations. The filters are also used in medical device
reprocessing systems to help meet reprocessing water qualtity
guidelines outlined by the AAMI. In industrial applications,-the
filters are used to protect systems from contamination from .
particulates and microorganisms.

Our FiberFlo filters are alsc being used in a variety of industries
including pharmaceutical manufacturing, food and beverage

processing, cosmetic manufacturing and electronics manufac- -

turing. The filters are being used increasingly for the removal
of bacteria, pyrogens and other contaminants from aqueous
solutions, These filters are engineered for point-of-use applica-
fions that require very fine filtration. Their hollow fiber design

. microfiber and flat sheet membrane prefiltration products

_believe ocur endoscope reprocessing equipment offers several

provides a surface area that is up to four times larger than
traditionai pleated fiiters that are used in the same markets.

The large surface area provides greater capacity and longer

filter life for the customer. FiberFlo Capsule Filters and Car-
tridge Filters are available in a variety of styles, sizes, and
configurations to meet a comprehensive range of customer
needs and applications.

Other FiberFlo filter products include the FiberFlo Degassing
Module, which was developed and is used in semiconductor,
pharmaceutical, Iaboratory,f“ edmalka ndibioprocessinglappliz
cations for CO, and O, removal, humidification, oxygenation
and dissolving of gases in solutions. Other products include

designed to protect the FiberFlo filter products and prolong
theu life in their intended applications.

FiberF!o filter products are sold directly and through various
third-party distributors in the United States, Puerto Rico,
Canada, and other international markets.

Sterilants

Minncare® Cold Sterilant is a liquid sterilant product used to
sanitize and disinfect high-purity water systems. Minncare Cold
Sterilant is based on our proprietary peracetic acid sterilant
t;echnology. and is engineered to clean and disinfect reverse
osmosis (RO} membranes and associated water distribution
systems. Minncare Cold Sterilant is widely used in the dialysis,
medical, pharmaceutical and other industries to disinfect ultra-
pure water systems as part of overall procedures to control
the contamination of systems by microorganisms and spores.
Actril® Cold Sterilant is a ready-te-use formulation of our pro-
prietary peracetic acid based sterilant technology. It is used
f9r surface disinfection in a variety of industries, including the
medical and pharmaceutical industries. We also have private
label agreements for both Minncare and Actril steritants with
companies in the infection control industry.

During 2005 we introduced the Minncare Dry Fog® System for
use as an enhancement to the existing clean room disinfection
pfrocedures at pharmaceutical and medical device manufac-
turers. We currently sell the Minncare Dry Fog System either
directly or through third-party distributors. However, due to
disappcinting sales of the system, we are reevaluating our
distribution options and considering the discontinuance of

the product line.

Endoscope Reprocessing
; :

General Co :
We design, develop, manufacture and sell endoscope repro-
cessing systems, sterilants and related supplies. Although
endoscopes generally can be manually disinfected. there are
many problems associated with such methods including the
lack of uniform disinfection procedures, personnel exposure
to disinfectant fumes and incomplete rinsing that could result
in disinfectant residue remaining in or on the endoscope. We

advantages over manual immersion in disinfectants. Our prod-
ut?ts. which meet rigorous sterility assurance standards and




regulations. allow the safe and effective reuse of endoscopes
in healthcare tacnmes throughout the world.

™~
Qur automated endoscope reprocessing equnpment is desiglwed
to pre-rinse the device, then continuously pump disinfectant
through all |nternal workmg channels of the endoscope, thus
exposing all mternal and external areas of the endoscope to
the disinfectant, resultlng in more thorough and consistent

disinfection, After disinfection, all internal channels and exter—
nal surfaces are thoroughly rinsed to completely remove disin
fectani remdue This automated process inhibits the build up
of biofilms in the working channels and, when performed in
accordance with directions for use, renders the endoscope
safe for the next patient use. In addition, the entire disinfection
process can be completed with minimal participation by the
operator, freeing the operator for other tasks, reducing the
exposure of personnel to the chemicals used in the dlsmfec
tion process and reducmg the risk of infectious diseases. Our
reprocessmgpqmpment also reduces the risks associated lmth
inconsistent manual disinfecting.

Endoscope Reprocessing Products and Services

Our Medivators® line of endoscope reprocessing systems
includes two autom;ated systems, the DSD-201 system, which
is @ microprocessar-controlled, duat-basin, asynchronous endo-
scope disinfe;ction system, and the SSD-102, which is a single
basin vers‘tonI of the DSD-201 System. These systems can be
used on a broad variety of endoscopes and are prograrnm'eltble
by the user. The dual-basin system can disinfect two endo-
scopes at a t:me We aiso manutacture the Medivators CER
(formerly MV) series of countertop semi-automated endoscope
reprocessors These products are more compact, less expen-
sive single and dual endoscope disinfection units.

Our Dyped endoscope reprocessing system represents a state -
of-the-art, technologmally advanced system designed to be

compliant with emerging European standards. We commenced
sales of Dyped systems in Europe in 2004 and are currently

developing a'future generation system for the North American
market for which we intend to seek initial regulatory approval .
in 2007. When offered in North America (not an‘nmpated to
occur until after fiscal 2007), the Dyped systems will be inte- .
grated into our Medivators product line.

In connection with our endoscope réprocessing business,|we
manufacture Rapicide® glutaraldehyde-based high-level dtsrn-
fectant and sterllant which has United States Food. and D{ug
Administration (" FDA") 510(k) clearance for a high-level dlsm
fection clalm of five-minutes at 35 degrees Celsius. This dllSIF'l-
fection contact time i is currently one of the fastest avallablle of
any dlsunfectant product sold in the United States, which glves
us a competitive advantage. We also sell Adaspor® peracetlc
acid based hngh level disinfectant, packaged by a third party,
for the European market that can be employed in a single:use
or multiple-use system.
QOur Endoscbpe Reprocessing segment offers varicus preyen
tative malntenance programs and repair serwces to support
the effectlve operatlon of reprocessing systems aver their
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lifetime. Our field service personnel and international third-
party distributors install, maintain, upgrade, repair and
troubleshoot equipment. -

Marketing and Sales

On August 2, 2006, we commenced the sale and service of
our Medwators brand endoscope reprocessing equipment,
high- tevel disinfectants, cleaners and consumables through

our own United States field sales and service organization.
Qur direct sale of these products is the result of our decision
that it is in our best fong-term interest to control and further
develap our own direct hospital-based United States distribu-
tion network and, as such, not to renew Olympus' exclusive
United States distribution agreement when it expired on
August 1, 2006.

Throughout the former distribution arrangerr_t‘ent with Olympus,
we employed our own personnel to provide clinical sales sup-
port activities as well as an internal technical and customer
service function, depot maintenance and service and all logis-
tics and distribution services for the Medivators/Olympus cus-
tomer base. This existing and fully developed infrastructure
will continue to be a critical factor in our new direct sales and
service strategy. Qutside of the United States, the Medivators
group has direct sales, marketing, and service capabilities in
the United Kingdom and Holland, and sells through indepen- -
dent distribution partners in the rest of Europe, Canada, Asia,
Australia and Latin America.

All Olher

We also operate other busmesses mcludmg the Specialty
Packaging operating segment, which includes specialty pack-
aging products and compliance training services for the'trans. -
port of infectious and biclogical specimens, and the Therapeutic
Filtration operating segment, which includes hemofilters,-hemo-
concentrators and-other hollow fiber filters manufaciured and
sold for medical applications. Due to the relatively small size

of these businesses, they are combined in the Al Other report-
ing segment.

Specialty Packaging .

We provide specialty packaging and thermal control products
for the transport of infectious and biotogicat specimens as
well as thermally sensitive pharmaceutical and medical prod-
ucts. Additionally, we provide compliance training services
for the safe and proper transport of infectious and biological
specimens, as defined by various international and natlonal
regulatory organlzatlons

We believe that the increasing concern over the potential
spread of infectious agents, such as avian ilu, E. coli and mad
cow disease, as well as potential acts of bio-terrorism using
agents s'uch'as'anthrax. have significanily increased aware-
ness of the proper shipping of diagnostic substances such

as blood and tissues. We believe that we are particularly well
qualified to meei the global need for compliant, secure, cost-
effective packaging solutions for the shipping cf infectious
and biological specimens.
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Throughout fiscal 2006, we continued the development, produc-

tion and sales of the Saf-T-Temp™ brand line of phase change
materials (PCM) using licensed proprietary thermal technology
for temperature-controlled shspments These phase change
materials help maintain thermally sensitive spemmens and
products, such as vaceines, pharmaceuticals, and diagnostic
reagents within a discrete temperature range during shipment.
The discipline of "Cald Chain Management” continues to grow
as manufacturers of temperature sensitive pharmaceuticals
and medical products as well as clinical laboratories search
for more efficient and cost-effective methods to ensure the

viability of their products and/or specimens in accordance
with quality-conirol standards. ’

In addition, to meet regulatory requirements that require ship-
pers of infectious and biological;substances to be trained and
certified at least every two years or as often as regulations
change, we offer a variety of training options, allowing the
customer to choose the method that best meets its needs.
We provide open enrollment symposium-style training semi-
nars in varicus cities, private seminar training at customers’
on-site locations, as well as seff- paced internet, CD and net-
work software. 1

Qur customer base consists of medical research companies,
diagnostic, clinical and university Jaboratories, pharmaceu-
tical and biotechnical companies, United States and Canadian
government agencies, hospitals and state public health depart-
ments. Our packaging, thermal and training products are
distributed world wide both dtrectly and through various third-
party distributors.

Therapeutic Filtration
Our therapeutic filtration products are extracorporeal filters .,
utilizing our proprietary hollow flber technology. These filters
include hemoconcentrators, hemoﬂlters and specialty filters
utilized for therapeutic medical apphcatlons We also offer a
fine of ancillary products, including blead pumps, air detec-

tors, and pressure monitors, .

We manufacture, market and se]l a comprehensive line of
hemoconcentrators. A hemoconcentrator is a device used by
a perfusionist {a health care professmnal ‘who operates heart-
lung bypass equipment) to concentrate red blood cells and
remove excess fluid fram the blogdstream during open-heart
surgery. Because the entire bloog volume of the patient passes
through the hemoconcentrator durmg an open-heart proce-
dure, the hiocompatibility of the blood contact components of
the device is critical.

Our hemoconcentrators are desi'gned to meet the clinical
requirements of neonatal through adult patients. Our principal
products are the Hermocor HPH® hemoconcentrators, which
contain our proprietary polysutfone hollow fiber. The' Hemocor
HPH line also features a unique “no-rinse” design that allows
it to be quickly and efficiently inserted into the bypass circuit
at any tirme during an open-heart procedure,

|

i.

We also manufacture, market and sell a line of Renaflo® Il hemo-

filters. A hemofilter is a device that performs hemcfiltration in
a slow, continuous blood filtration therapy used to control fluid
overload and acute renal failure in unstable, critically ill patients
who cannot tolerate the rapid filtration rates of conventional

*-hemodialysis. The hemofilter reroves water, waste products
and toxins from the circulating blood of patients while conserv-

‘i‘ng the celiular-and protein content of the patient’s blood. Our
hemofilter line features no-rinse, polysulfone hollow fiber that

requires minimal set-up time for healthcare professionals. The
hemofilter is available in five different sizes to meet the clinical

needs of neonatal through adult patier}ts.

'Historically. one of our most successful specialty filters was
sold on a private label basis to a manufacturer of a respiratory
'therapy device that incorporates our filker in their product,
particularly for pediatric applications. Sales of this filter were”
a significant source of growth in our Therapeutic Filtration
segmeni. However, due to problems incurred by the therapy
device manufacturer (unrelated to our product} in fiscal 2006,

sales of our specialty filter decreased significantly during the . ‘

last three fiscal quarters. We anticipate that sales to the manu-
fiacturer will recommence in the near future.

Cur thefapeutic products are sold to biotech manufaéturers
and through third-party distributors.

Government Regulation

Many of our products are subject to regulatlon by the FDA,
which regulates the testing, manufacturing, packaging, distri-
bution and marketing of our medical devices and water purifi-
cation devices in the United States. Delays in FDA review can
S|gn|f|cantly delay new.product introduction and may result in
a product becoming “dated" or losing its market opportunity
befare it can be introduced. Certain of our products may also
t:'lle regulated by other governmental or private agencies, includ-
ing the Environmental Protection Agency, Underwriters Lab, Inc.
(':'UL“). and comparable agencies in certain foreign countries.
The FDA and other agency clearances generally are required
before we can market such new or significantly changed exist-
ing products in the United States or internationally. The FDA
and certain other internationa! governmental agencies also
have the authority to require a recall or modification of prod-
ucts in the event of a defect.

The Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 and Safe Medical
D_ewce Act Qf 1990 require compliance with specific manu-
facturing and quality assurance standards for certain of our

products. The regulations also require manufacturers to estab-

Ilsh a quality assurance program tc monitor the design and
manufacturmg pracess and maintain records that show com-
pllance with FDA regulations and the manufacturer's written
specifications and procedure§ relating to its medical devices.
The FDA inspects medical device manufacturers for compli-
ance with the current Quality Systems Regulations ("QSR's").
Manufacturers that fail to meet the QSR’'s may be issued
reports or citations for non-compliance. In April 20086, follow-
ihg an inspection by the FDA, the FDA issued a "Warning




Letter” that called our attention to certain * Good Manufacturing
Practices” compllance deficiencies. We have responded to the
FDA's comments and modified our procedures to comply with
the requests made by the FDA. :

In addition, many. of ‘our infection prevention and control prod-
ucts sold in Canada and Europe are subject to comparable
regulations ar'td requirements as those described above. Inter
national regutatory bodies often establish varying regulatlons
governing product standards, packaging requirements, Iabel
ing requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties,
and tax requirements. For example, as a resuli of our sales lin
Europe, we were required to be certified as having a Quality
System that meets the ISO 13485-2003 standard.

Many of our products must also meet the requirements of the
Eurcpean Meldlcal Device Directive (*MDD") for their sale |nto
the European Union. This certification allows us, upon corn’ple-
tionof a comprehensive technical file, to affix the CE mark to
our products 1and to treely distribute’such products throughout
the European Union. Failure to maintain CE 'mark certrfrcatrlon
could have a material adverse effect on our business. Fedelral
state and foréign regulations regarding the manufacture and
sale of our products are subject to change. We cannot predlct
what impact, if any,/such changes might have on our business.

" Qur endoscope and dialyzer reprocessing products, as well
as our Canadian water purification equipment manufacturing
facility and many of our products manufactured in Canada, are
subject to regulation by Health Canada—Therapeutic Products
Directorate (“TPD™): which regulates the distribution and mar-
keting of medical devices in Canada. Certain of such products
may be regulated by other governmental or private agencres
including Canadran Standards Agency ("CSA"). TPD and other
agency clearances generally are required before we can mar:
ket new medlrcal products in Canada, The Health Products| and
Foed Branch-inspectorate ("HPFBL" }governs problem report
ing, modifica:tion and recalls. HPFBI alsc-has the authonty' to
require a recall or modification in the event of defect, In order
to market oulr medical products in Canada, we are reguired to
hold a Medical Device Establishment License, as well as cer-
tain medrcalldevrce licenses by product, as provided by HPFBI

Certain of our specialty packaging products have been ande
pendently tested by a third-party laboratory and certified by

Transport Ca_nada These certified packaging products as well '

as our other'specialty packaging products have been desrgned
to meet all applicable naticnal and international standards for
the safe transport.of infectious and biological substances
Such standards include those issued by Canadian General '
Standards Board, Transport of Dangerous Goods Reg ulatllons
Canada. Intérnational Civil Awa’uon Organization, lnternatlonal
Air Transport Association, and the Unlted States Code ot i
Federal Regulations Title 49.

Federal, state and foreign regulations regarding the manufac-
ture and sale of cur products are subject to change. We can-
not predict what impact, if any, such changes might have|on

our business.
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Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

We purchase raw maierials, sub-assemblies, components,

and other supplies essential to our operations from numerous
suppliers in the United States and abroad. The principal raw
materials that we use to conduct operations include organic®
chemicals, paper pulp, resin. stainless steel and plastic com-

ponents. These raw materials are obtainable from several

sources and are generally available within the lead times "~
specified to vendors.

From time to time we experience price increases for raw mate-
rials, with no guarantee that such increases can be passed
along to our customers. Except as described below, we have
not experienced, and do not foresee, exiracrdinary difficuity

in obtaining the materials, sub-assemblies, components, or
other supplies necessary for our business operations.

As a result of damage caused by major hurricanes io many |
resin suppliers in the southern United States, there was a
shortage of rasin in the market, and related price increases,
tor several months during fiscal 2006. However, since our
resin inventory was sufficient to meet our requirements, we
were not materially affected by the market shortage.' No mar-
ket shortage currently exists. '

Intellectual Property _
We protect our technology and products by, among other
means, filing United States and foreign patent appfications.

. There can be no assurance, however, that any patent will pro-

vide adequate protection for the technology. system, product,
service, or process it covers. In addition, the process of obtain-
ing and protecting paients can be long and expensive. We also
rely upon trade secrets, technical know-how, and continuing
technologrcal innovation to develop and maintain our proprie-
{ary position.

As of September 18, 2008, we held 49 United States patents
and 56 foreign patents and had 8 United States patents and
21 foreign patents pending. Patenis for individual products
extend for varying periods, beginning in 2006 and ending in
2023, according to the date of patent filing or grant and legal
term of patents in various countries where patent protection
is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which -
can vary from coufitry to country, depends upon the typeof
patent, the scope of its coverage, and the availability of legal
remedies in the country. We believe that the patents in each
of our segments are |mportant In addition, we license from
independent third parties under certain patents, trade secrets
and other intellectual property, the nght to manufacture and
sell our Rapicide disinfectant and sterilant (see ' '—Reporting
Segments—Endoscope Reprocessmg } and our phase change
material products (see "—Reporting Segments—Other—
Specratty Packaging”}. These licenses, both of which are long-
term, are critical to our commercialization of those products.

QOur products are sold around the world under various brand
names and trademarks, We consider our brand names and
trademarks o be valuable in the marketing of our products in
each segment. As of September 18, 2006, we had a total of 358
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1
trademark registrations in the U%nited States and in various
foreign countries in which we conduct business, as well as
68 trademark applications pending world-wide.
) |
Seasonality . | )
Our business generally is not seasonal in nature.

|
Principal Customers

None of cur customers accounted for 10% or more of our con-
solidated net sales from continuing operations during fiscal
2006 or fiscal 2005 except for Olympus America Inc., which
was our exclusive distributor of Medivators endoscope repre-
cessors and related accessories and supplies during those
periods. Olympus accounted for;apprpximately 10%, 12% and

13%. respectively, of our consoliéjated net saies from continu-

ing operations during fiscal 2008, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Except as described below, none of our segments is reliant
upon a single customer, or a few customers; the loss of any
one or more of which would have a material adverse effect on
the segment.

Qur Dental segm_eﬁt is particulalrly reliant on four customers
who collectively accounted for 48% of Dental segment net
sales and 13% of our consolidatéd net sales from continuing
operations during fiscal 2006. Three of such customers, Henry
Schein, Benco Dental and Patterson Dental each accounted
for 10% or more of this segment's net sales during that period.

.The loss of a significant amount of business from any of these

customers could have a material adverse effect on our Dental
segmeni. : ) Lt

During fiscal 2008, 'two of our customers, Davita and Fresenius.

accounied for approximately 25% and 19%,. respectively, of
the Dialysis segment net sales. The 19% figure with respect
to Fresenius includes sales to dialysis centers formerly owned
by Renal Care Group ("RCG"), a dialysis chain acquired by
Fresenius in March 2008. Due to Fresenius’ intention to con-
vert all of its reuse dialysis clinics: (including newly acquired,
clinics) to single use facilities, our "RCG-related” sales to
Fresenius will decrease substantially as clinics are converted.
The loss of a significant amount of business from DaVita or
Fresenius would have a material adverse effect on our Dialysis
segment. See * -——Competntlon and “Risk Factors.”

J
Backlog ;

On September 18, 2006, our consolidated backlog was approxi-

mately $9,680,000 (including Crosstex backlog of approximately
$863,000) compared with approximately $8,043, 000 (excluding
any backlog generated by Crosstex and Carsen) on September
19, 2005. All of the backlog is expected to be recognized within
one year of such date. '

Compefition _

General ‘!
The markets in which our business is conducted are highly

competitive. Competition is interise in all of our business

_we believe that the world-wide repuiation for the quality and

segments and includes many large and small competitors.

Important competitive factors generally include product design
and quality, safety, ease of use, product service, and-price. We
believe that the long-term competitive position for all of our
lsegments depends principally on our success in developing,
manufacturing and marketing innovative, cost-effective prod-
}Jcts and services.

Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical and
human resources than us, are well establish'ed with reputations

have certain other competitive advantages over us Howeve_r

innovation of our products among custorhers and our reputa-
tion for providing quality product service give us a competitive
z’adva_ntagé with respect {o our products. :

In addition, certain companies have developed or may be
expected to develop new technoiogies or products that could
directly or indirectly compete with our products. We anticipate
that we may face increased competition in the future as new
infection prevention and control products and services enter
the market. Numerous organizations are believed to be working
with a variety of technologies and sterilizing agents. In addition,
a number of companies have developed or are develeping dis-
posable medical instruments and other devices designed to
address the risks of infection and cantamination. There can
be no assurance that new products or services developed by
our competitors will not be more commercially successtul
than those provided or developed by us in the future.

-Segments * '

information with respect to-competition W|thrn our most signif-
icant individual segments is as follows: =

In our Dialysis segment, our most significant competition
comes from manutacturers of single-use d‘ialyzers’.' particularly
Fresenius, the largest dialysis chain in the United States and
a manufacturer of single-use dialyzers, Fresenius has publicly
disclosed its intent to increase the use of single-use dialyzers
iq its dialysis clinics. As such, its acquisition in March 2006 of
RCG, a significant dialysis chain and customer of our dialysis
reuse products, will adversely affect sales of our dialysis prod-
ucts and reprocessing equipment as Fresenius converts RCG's
dialysis clinics inte single-use facilities. See *—Reporting
Segments—Dialysis,” "Risk Factors” and "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations—Results of Operations.” )

Ir; our Dental segment, our principal competitors are Kimberly-
Clark, Tidi Products, Sultan Healthcare, Medicom, and Alcan.
We helieve that our product qu_ality. excellent customer service,
and breadth of product line are competitive advantages and
are the basis for our success in this segment.

In our Endoscope Reprocessing segment, our principal com-
petitors are STERIS, Custom Ultrasonics; ASP division of
Johnson & Johnson, Metrex, Ruhoff and Ecolab. ASP and
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Steris have recently introduced, or within a year are anticipated
{o introduce, new model endoscope reprocessors that will
directly compete with our reprocessors and may adversely
impact our ability to maintain our current market share in

this market. '

The Water Punfrcatron and Filtration segment has been experi-
encing increased competition due to a consohdatlon of supplr

ers during the past few years. This consolidation has resulted
principally from the acquisition by Iarge industrial manufactur
ers of many of the leading manufacturers of water punflcatlon
equipment and filtration products The resulting entities such
as GE Water and Sremens Water Technologies, which are thle
market leaders in this industry, are significantly larger and heve
greater financial and other resources available than the smal}ler
companies in the mdustry such as our Mar Cor Purlflcatlon
business. It remains difficult to assess the long-term |mpact

of such consolidation on our business and tc project such'
impaci in the future. In addition, this segment has experienced
increased pricing pressures in Canada in its resin regeneratlon
business. We believe that our ability to successfully compete
in the water purification, filtration and disinfectant market
derives from our broad product offerings, cur combination irr
fiscal 2005 of the sales and marketing eftorts of our two water.
purification businesses with our related filtration business o -
form our Mar. Cor Purification business, and the high value
and quality of our products.and services. We believe that by
focusing our efforts principally on the dialysis, pharmaceutical,
medical and industrial markets, providing a high level of cus-
tomer service, and making selective acquisitions, we can ¢on-
tinue to grow this segment, despite the continued |ndustry
consolrdatron and pricing pressures,

Research and Development

Research and development expenses (which include contrnu
ing engineering costs) increased by $1,018,000 to $5,117, 000
in fiscal 2006 from $4,099,000 in fiscal 2005. The majority of
our research and development expenses related to our Dyped
endoscope reprocessor and specialty filtration products. Thle
increase in research and development expenses in fiscal 2006
compared with fiscal 2005 was primarily due to ongoing
research and development on those products.

Envnronmental Matters

We anticipate that the effects of compllance with federal, s’tate
and local laws and regulations relating to the discharge of
materials into the envifonment or otherwise relating to the
protection of the environment, will not have any material effect
on our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.

Employees
As of September 18, 2006,.we employed 794 persons of whom
617 are located in the United States, 96 are located in Canada
62 are located in Europe, Africa and the Middle East, and 19
are located in the Far East. None of our employees are repre-
sented by labar unions. We consider cur relations with our
employees to be satisfactory.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

We have operations in Canada, Europe, Asia and other areas
outside of the United States. These operations are conducted
through our subsidiaries and involve the same business seg-
ments as our demestic operations. For a geographic presen-
tation of revenues and cother financial data for the three years
ended July 31, 2006, see Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

Our foreign operations are subject, in varying degrees, fo a
number of inherent risks. These risks include, among other
things, forergn currency exchange rate fluctuations, exchange
controls and currency restrictions, changes in local economic
conditions, unsettled political, regulatory or business condi-
tions, and government-sponsared boycotts and tariffs on the
Company's products or services.

Depending on the direction of change relative to the U.S. dol-
lar, foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations can increase
or reduce the reported dollar amounts of the Company’s net
assets and resuits of operations. Although net income during
fiscal 2006 was favorably impacted as a result of foreign cur-
rency mavements relative to the U.S. dollar, we cannot predict
future changes in foreign currency exchange rates or the
effect they will have on our operations. ~

Available Information

We make available to the public. free of charge, on or through
the Investor Relations section of our internet website, copies -
of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those
reporis as’soon as reasonably practicable after we electroni-
cally file such materials with the SEC. Our filings are available
to the public from commercial document retrieval services, our
website and at the SEC's website at www.sec.gov. Qur website
address is www.cantelmedical.com. Also available on our web-
site are our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Charters of the
Nominating and Governance Committee, Compensation and
Stock Option Committee, and Audit Committee, and Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics. Information contained on our
website is not incorporated by reference into this Report.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS.

We are subject to various risks and unceritainties refating to or
arising out of the nature of our businesses and general busi-
ness, economic, financing, legal and other factors or conditions
that may affect us. We provide the following cautionary discus-
sian of risks and uncertainties refevant to our businesses, which
we believe are factors thal, individually or in the aggregate, could
have a material and adverse impact on our business, resulfts of
operations and financial condition, or could cause our actual
results to differ materially from expected or historical results.

We note these factors for investors as permitted by the Private

.Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, You should understand

that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors.
Consequently, you sheuld not consider the following to be a
complete discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties.
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L : .
Our market for dialysis reprocessing products is limited to dialysis ~ * We recently commenced sales and service of our Madivators

centers that.reuse dialyzers, which market has been decreasing - | endoscope reprocessing systems in the United States on a direct
in the United States. - - : . - basis. There can be no assurance that our direct sales and service
Our dialyzer reprocessing products are limited to use by cen- program will be successful,
ters that choose to clean, sterlhze and reuse dialyzers, rather 'On August 2, 2006, we commenced the sale and service of
than discard the dialyzers after a single use. Dialysis centers in . our Medivators brand endescope reprocessing products and

| the United States that reuse dialyzers derive’an economic ben-  related accessories and supplies in the United States on a

' efit since the per-procedure cost is less when utilizing dialyzer “direct basis. Prior to that time, such products were distributed
reuse compared with single use and such dialysis clinics gen- “in that territory through Olympus under an exclusive distribu-
erally receive a capitated payment for providing hemodialysis tion agreement. We decided not to renew the agreement with

treatment. Although current public information is not avaitable ~ *Olympus based on our belief that it would be in our best long-
tgaccuratelﬂguantlfy‘themu mberofidialysi s[centerg[currently”t_erm intefeststofestablishjouriownidiract{ins

hospitat:basedidistsil

employing dialyzer reuse versus single use, it is apparent that *bution system in'the United States. Our decision to sell'direct
the market share of single use dualyzers has been increasing - has necessitated the establisnment of new field sales and
during the past five years relative to reuse dialyzers. We believe 'marketmg teams and the expenditure of significant start-up
that approximately 40% of all dialysis centers in the United ~  “amounts. There can be no assurance that our direct sales
States currently reuse dialyzers. This compares to approxi- = program will be successful. _
,rr?eggg; 76% reuse reported by the Centers for Disease Co.ntrol Because a significant portion of our Dental segment net sales
) . comes from a few large customers, any significant decrease in

The shift from reuse to single-use dialyzers is due in large sales io these custormers could harm our operating resulls.

part to the commitment of Fresenius, the largest dialysis chain fTF\e distribution network in the United States dental industry
in the United States and a manutacturer of single-use dialyz- is concentrated, with relatively few distributors of consum-
ers, to convert all of its reuse dialysis clinics (inciuding newly zables accounting for a significant share of the sales volume fo
acquired clinics) to single use facilities. On March 31, 2006, dentists. Accordingly, net sales and profitability of cur Dental
Fresenius acquired RCG, a significant customer of our dialysis 'segment are highly dependent on its reiationships with a lim-
reuse products. As Fresenius converts all or substantially all ited number of large distributors. During fiscal 2008, the top-
of the dialysis clinics of RCG into single-use facilities, our cus- four customers of our Dental segment accounted for approxi-’
tomer base for dialysis products will continue to decrease. This mately 48% of its net sales, with three of such customers each
downward trend has resulted in, and will continue to result in, .accounting for 10% or more of such segment’s net sales. We
a decrease in revenues and net income in our dialysis seg: are likely to continue to experience a high'degree of customer
ment. The continued decrease in dialyzer reuse in the United ‘concentration in this segment. We cannot assure you that
States in favor of single use dialyzers could have a material ‘there will not be a loss or reduction in business from one or
adverse effect on our business. See “Principal Customers,” more of our major customers. In addition, we cannot assure +
“—Competition” and * Management's Discussion and Analysis .you that net sales from customers that have accounied for sig*
“of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Results of 'nmcant net sales in the past, éither individually or as a group,
Operations” . . ‘will reach or exceed historical IeveWS in any future period.

¢ Although we do not anticipate that any of customers of the
.Dental segment will account for more than 10% of cur Company-
wide net sales on a consolidated basis, the loss or a significant
‘reduction of business from any of the major customers of the
‘Dental segment could adversely affect our results of opera-
‘tions. In addition, because our Dental segment products are
sold through third:-party distributors, and not directly to end
'users, we may not be able to condrol the amount and timing
of resources that our distributors devote to our products.

The consolidation of dialysis providers has resufted in greater
buying power by certain of our customers, which has caused
us to reduce the average selfing prices of our dialysis products,
thereby reducing net sales and profit margins. Such consolida-
ton has also resulted in the loss of dialysate concentrate sales.
There has been an increasing consolidation in the dialysis
industry, marked by the acquisition by certain major dialysis
chains of smaller chains and independents. Such consolidation
; of dialysis providers has resulted in greater Quyihg power by

certain of our customers, which has caused us.to reduce the Government regulation may delay or prevent new product
average selling prices of our dialysis products, thereby reduc- :n(roduc{ron

ing net sales and profit margins. The acquisition by DaVita, the Many of our products are subject to regulation by governmen-
second largest dialysis chain in the United States, of Gambro tal and private agencies in the United States and abroad, which

US in October 2005 has had the most significant adverse effect regulate the testing, manufacturing, packaging, labeling, dis-
in this regard. In addition, the DaVita and Fresenius acquisitions tribution and marketing of medical supplies and devices.

have resulted in the loss of low margin dialysate concentrate Certain international regulatory bodies also impose import
business since Gambro and Fresenius manufacture dialysate restrictions, tariff regulations, duties, and tax requirements.
concentrate themselves. Consequently, the Davita and RCG - Delays in agency review can significantly delay new product
dialysis centers have reduced their purchases of dialysate |ntroduct|on and may result in a product becoming “dated” or
| . concentrate from us. - Josing its market opportunity before it can be introduced. The
i )

.




FDA and other agency clearances generally are required

before we can market new products in the United States or
make-significant changes to existing products. The FDA also
has the autherity io require a recall or modification of products
in the event of a defect. The process of obtaining marketing |
clearances and approvals from regulatory agencies for new

products can be time consuming and expensive. There is no
assurance that clearances or approvals will be granted or that

agency review will not involve delays that would adversely
affect cur ablllty to eommercuallze our products

Federal, state and foreign regulations regarding the manufa<|:-
ture and sale of our products are subject to change. We cannot
predict what impact, if any, such changes might have on our

business. In addition, there can be no assurance that regulatllon
of our products will not become more restrictive in the future
and that any such development would not have a material
adverse effect on our business. For a mare detailed dis-
cussion on government regulation and related risks, see

*—Government Regulation.”

Custorner acceptance of our products fs dependent on cur ability
to meet changing requirements. ’
Customer acceptance of our products is significantly depen:
dent on our ability to offer products that meet the changing
requirements of cur customers, including hospitals, industrial
laboratories, doctors dentlsts clinics, government agencies
and industrial corporatrons Any decrease in the level of cusI
tomer acceptance of our productscould have a material
adverse effect on ouf business. T

We distribute our ,oroolucfs_ in highly competitive markets. .
We distribute substantially all of our products in highly com
petitive markets that-contain many products available from
natronally and internationally recognized oompetltors Many
of these competltors have sighificantly greater financial, tech-
nicél’and human resources than us and are well- es’talilishecll.
In addstlon some companies have developed or may be
expected to develop technologies or products that could corln
peie with the products we manufacture and distribute or that

would render. our products obsolete or noncompetitive..In a'ddi-'

tion, our competitors may achieve patent protection, regulatory
approval, or produci commercialization that would limit our
ability io compete with them. Although we believe that we
compete effectively with all of our present competitors in our
principal product groups, there can be no assurance that we )
will continue to do so. These and other competitive pressures |
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Currency ﬂuctuatrons and trade barners could adversely affect
our results of operations. .

A portion of our dialysis, dental, endoscope reprocessing,

and waier purification and filtration products are exported
and imported {o and from the Far East, Western Europe and
Canada, and our business could be materially and adversely
affected by the imposition of trade barriers, fluctuations in t:he
rates of exchange of various currencies, tariff increases and
import and export restrictions, affecting the United States
and Canada.
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Our Canadian subsidiaries purchase a portion of their inven-
tories in United States dollars and sell a significant amount

of their products in United States dollars and therefore are
exposed io foreign exchange gains and losses upon paymeni .

" of such payables and the collection of such receivables. Simi-

larly, such United States denominated assets and liabilities
must be converted into their functional Canadian currency .
when preparing their financial statements, which results in
foreign exchange gains and.losses. Additionally, the-results
of ooeratlons of our Canadlan sub5|d|ar|es are translated from
their functional Canadian currency to United States doliars for
purposes of preparing our consolidated financial statements.
Therefore, our continuing operations could be materialty and
adversely affected by fluctuations in the value of the Canadian
dollar against the United States dollar or by the imposition of
trade barriers, tanff increases or import and export restrictions
between the United States and Canada. Moreover, a decrease
in the value-of the Canadian dollar could result in a corre-
sponding reduction in the United States dollar value of our
assets that are denominated in Canadian dollars.

Our growth may be dependent on acquiring new businesses.
We intend to grow, in part, by acquiring businesses. The'suc-
cess of this strategy depends upon several factors, including:

+ our ability to identify and acquire businesses; -

» our ability to integrate acquired operations, personnel, prod-
ucts and technologies into our organization effectively;

* our ability to retain and motivate key personnel and to retain
the customers of acquired companies; and -

= financing.for our acquisitions may not be available on terms

we find acceptable. -

In addition, we have used our stock as partial consideration for
acquisitions. Qur common stock may not remain at a price at
which it can be used as consideration for acquisitions without
diluting our existing.stockholders, and potential.acquisition can-
didates may not view our stock attractively. We also may not be
able'to sustain the rates of growth that we have experienced

in the past, whether by acquiring businesses or otherwise.

Certain of our businesses are heavily refiant on r:ertafn raw
materials.

Although there is a dwersnty of products produced by our den-
tal segment, many of them are made from paper pulp and
resin. In addition, many of our products utitize plastic or stain-
less steel. We are therefore exposed to rising raw material
prices with no guarantees that such increases in costs can
be'passedialong to our customers. .

As a result of damage caused by recent Hurricane Katrina and
Hurricane Rita to many resin suppliers there was a shortage
of material in the market for several months during fiscal 2006.
However, since we had sufficient resin inventary.to meet our’
requirements we were not adversely affected by the market
shortage. Although no market shortage currently exists, there
can be no assurance that there will not be resin shortages in
the tuture.
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Because we operate in international markets, we are subject

fo political and economic risks that we do not face in the

United States.

We operate in a global market, Global operations are subject

to risks, incuding political and economic instability, general

economic conditions, imposition of government controls, the

need to comply with a wide variety of foreign and Uniied States

export laws. trade restrictions, and the greater dnffucu!ty of
administering-business overseas.

The markets for many of our products are subject to changing
technology.

The markets for many products we sell, particularly endoscope
reprocessing equipment, are subject to changing technctogy,
new product intreductions and product enhancements, and
evolving industry standards. The introduction or enhancement
of products embodying new technology or the emergence of
new industry standards could render existing products obso-
lete or result in short product life cycles. Accordingly, our abil-
ity to compete is in part dependent on our ability to continually
offer enhanced and improved products.

We may be exposed to product liability claims resulfting from the
use of products we sell and distribute.

We may be exposed to product liability claims resulting from
the products we sell and distribute. We maintain general liabil-
ity insurance that includes product fiability coverage, which we
believe is adeguate for our businesses. However, there can be
no assurance that insurance coverage for these risks will con-
tinue o be available or, if available, that it will be sufficient to
cover potential claims or that the present leve! of coverage will
continue to be available at a reasonable cost. A partially or
completely uninsured successful claim against us could have
a material adverse effect on us.

We use chemicals and other regulated substances in the manu- .

facturing of our products.

In the ordinary course of certain of our manufacturing pro-
cesses, we use various chemicals and other regulated sub-
stances, Although we are not aware of any material claims
involving violation of environmental or occupational health
and safety laws or regulations, there can be no assurance -
that such a claim may not arise in the future, which could
have a material adverse effect on us.

We rely on infelfectual properiy and proprielary rights to maintain
our competitive position. -

We rely heavily on proprietary technology that we protect pri-
marily through licensing arrangements, patents, trade secrets,
and proprietary know-how. There can be no assurance that any
pending or future patent applications will be granted or that
any current or fulure patents, regardless of whether we are

an owner or a licensee of the patent, will not be challenged,

. rendered unenforceable, invalidated, or circumvented or that
the rights will provide a competitive advantage to us. There can
also be no assurance that our trade secrets or non-disclosure

, agreements will provide meaningful protection of our proprie-

+tary information. There can also be no assurance that cthers

will not independently develop similar technologies or duplicate
any technology developed by us or that our technology will not
“infringe upen patents or other rights owned by others.

" If we are unable to retain key personnel, our business could be
,adversely affected.

"Our success is dependent to a significant degree upon the
.efforts of key members of our management. Although several -
:key perscnnel are parties to employmient agreements, such -
‘_agreements cannot assure the continued services of such
personnel, and the loss or unavailahility of any of them could
have a material adverse effect on our business. In particular,
"Mr, James P. Reilly, our President and Chief Executive Officer, -
has advised our Board that he will retire upon the expiration

of his employment agreement on July 31, 2007. The Board has
‘commenced a search for a successor to Mr. Reilly but there can
be no assurance that we will attract and hire a qualified candi-
date in a timely manner. In addition, our success depends in
large part on our ability to attract and retain highly qualified -
scientific, technical, sales, marketing and other personnel.
Cornpetition for such personnel is intense and there can be -
no assurance that we will be able o atiract and retain the
personnel necessary for the development and operation of

our businesses.

Our stock price has been volatile and may experience continued
sighificant price and volume fluctuations in the future that could
lreduce the value of outstanding shares.

The market for our common stock has, from time to time, expe-
rienced significant price and volume fluctuations that may
have been unrelated to our operating performance. Faciors
such as announcements of variations in our quarterly financial
'results and new business developments could also cause the
‘market price of our Common stock to fluctuate significantty.

Future issuances of our common stock may affect the market
price of our common stock.

The issuance of additional shares of our common stock may
materially and adversely affect the per share market price of
our common stock. In addition, if we issue additional shares
of our common stock, existing holders of our common stock
may experience dilution, and that dilution may be substantial.
Issuances or sales of substantial numbers of additional shares
of common stock, including in connection with future acquisi-
tions, if any, or the percepticn that such issuances or sales
could occur, may cause prevailing market prices for our com-
mon stock to decline.

-

[
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Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

' None

1

Item 2. PROPERTIES.

Owned Facilities

We own three burldings located on adjacent sites, comprrsrng a
total of 16.5 acres of land in Plymouth, a suburb of Mrnneapolrs,
Minnesota. The principal facility is a 110,000 square-foot bwld
ing, used for executive, administrative and sales staff, research
operations, manufacturing and warehousing. The second fa:cil-
ity is a 65,000 square-foot building used for manufacturing allnd
warehousing. The third facility is a 43,000 square-foot bui!dirlrg
used primarily for manufacturing and warehouse operatione;..

These facilities are used for our Dialysis, Ehdoscope Reproc-
essing, and Therapeutic operating segments as well as a por-
tion of our Water Purification and Filtration operating segment.

We own a 21,000 square-foot building in Heerlen, the Nether-
lands thai serves as our European headquarters and is used
as a sales office, manufacturing facility and warehouse, These
facilities are used for our Dialysis, Endoscope Reprocessing,
and Therapeutic operating segments as well as a portion of
our Water Purification and Filiration operating segment.

We own a 63,000 square foot building in Hauppauge, New
York, the headquarters for our Crosstex subsidiary, which is
used for executive, adminisirative and sales staff, manufac-
turing and warehousing for the Dental segment.

Leased Facilities
Qur principal leased facilities include the following:

) Square
Location™ Purpose Foctage Principal Operating Segment
Middletown, PA Warehouse and distripution hub 31,000 Dialysis
Plymouth, MN Warehousing 22,000 Various
Hauppauge, NY Warehousing 40,000 Dental
Sharon, PA* Manufacturing and warehousmg 35,000 Dental
Santa Fe Springs. CA Manufacturing and warehousing 35,000 Dental
tawrenceville, GA Manufacturing and warghousing - 40,000 Dental
Burlington, Ontario Sales and administrative offices, research and engineering,

rmanufacturing, and warehousing 21,600 Water Purification and Filtration

,Warehousmg and regeneration ‘plant
Regeneration plant

Oakville. Ontario
Montreal, Quebec

b

T 9,100 Water Purification and Filtration
, 4100 " Water Purification and Filtration

Skippack, PA i~ Sales and administrative offices, manufaciuring. warehousmg
T and regeneration plant . 22,500 Water Purification and Filtration
Lowell, MA Sales and administrative offices, manufacturing, warehousing
: . and regeneration plant 26,000 Water Purification and Filtration
Edmontion, Alberta Executive. sales and administrative offices, manufacturing Specialty Packaging (Included in
and warehousing 1,700 All Other reporting segment)

Little Falls, NJ Corporate executive offices

8,900 Cantel Medica! Corp.

*The facility in Sharon is owned by an entity controlled by three of the former owners of Crosstex (two of whom currently serve as officers of Crosstex).

In addition, we lease office and sales space in Tokyo, Japan;
Singapore; Dronfield, England; and Beijing, China that is |
used for all of our operating segments other than Dental and
Specialty Packaging. We lease office, sales and warehouse
space in Lienden, the Netherlands, and Osaka, Japan for our
Dental segment,

We lease additional space for our Water Purification and Frltra-
tion segment in Downers Grove, Illinois; Norcross, Georgra
Manassas Park, V:rgrrna Florida, New York; Orion Towns.hrpI
Mrchrgan Parma, Ohio; Ralgigh, North Carolina; Homewood
Alabama; Ethridge, Tennessee; and Lakeland: Florida. Botn
the Ilinois and Georgia facilities serve as warehouses and
regeneration plants, while the other locations are small stor-
age facilities supporting local service operations.

Net rentals for leased space for fiscal 2006 aggregated approx-
irmately $2,245,000 (including net rentals attributable to Crosstex
of approximately $768,000) compared with $1,378,000 in frscal
2005. The fiscal 2006 and 2005 amounts exclude the facrhtr S
leased by our discontinued operations.

U

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

In the normal course of bosiness, we are subject to pending -
and threatened Iegal‘af:tions. It is our policy to accrue for
amounts related to these legal matiers if it is probable that

a liability has been incurred and an amount of antlcnpated
exposure can be reasonably estimated.

On January 21, 20086, the United States District Court, District
of Minnesota, granted Minntech's Motion for Summary Judg-
ment in the previously reported antitrust lawsuit commenced
by HDC Medical, Inc. in November 2003. As a resuit of the rul-
ing, the complaint against Minntech, a wholly-owned subsid-
iary of Cantel, has been dismissed. In March 2006, HDC filed a
Notice of Appeal with respect to the court's ruling for Summary
Judgment arid in April 2006, HDC filed its Brief and Addendum
in.support of its appeal. Minntech filed its Brief in response to
the appeal on May 24, 2006 and HDC submitted a Reply Brief
on June 7, 2006. Oral argument before the Eighth Circuit Court
of Appeals in St. touis is scheduled for October 19, 2006. We
do not expect the Court to render a decision on HDC's appeal
prior to December 2008.
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In July 2006, we received a letier from the “Sellers” of Biolab
Equiprment Ltd. claiming that the Contingent Payment under the
Biolab Stock Purchase Agreement is payable to the Sellers but
oroviding virtually no support for their position. We responded
by stating that the claim has absolutely ne merit but that a for-
mal analysis with respect to fiscal 2006 could not be provided
until the completion of our year-end financial statements. In
October 20086, the Sellers sent a letter to us claiming that the
Contingent Payment, as well as related incentive compensa-
tion paymenits to two of the Sellers under their employment
agreements, has been fully earned. Although the Sellers pro-
vided an analysis purportedly supporting their position, we
believe that the analysis is erroneous and the claim has no
merit whatsoever. We advised the Sellers of our position and
within the next few weeks will deliver to the Sellers the formal
calculations required under the terms of the Stock Purchase
Agreement, Although we hope that this matter will be drop'ped
following the Sellers' receipt of such ¢alculations, there can be
no assurance in that regard. If we cannot amicably resolve this
matter, the Sellers can commence an arbitration proceeding
under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement. The maxi:
mum Contingent Payment and incentive compensation that
could be earned under the Stock Purchase Agreement and
relaied employment agreements of two of the Sellers (one

of whom remains an employee of the Company) are approxi- -
mately $3.000,000 and $600,000, respectively. ’

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF
SECURITY HOLDERS.

There was no submission of matters to a vote during the three
months ended July 31, 2006.

PART Ii

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON
EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER )
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES. '

Our Common Stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbal "CMN."

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated. the
high and low closing prices for the Common Stock as reported
by the New York Stock Exchange.

_ High * Low
Year Ended July 31, 2006 '
First Quarter : ) $22.40 $17.55
Second Quarter ’ 20.18 16.81
Third Quarter ) 17.85 - 14.40
Fourth Quarter 1597 13.07
Year Ended July 31, 2005
First Quarter ' $18.17  $13.67
Second Quarter- 2511 - 1408
Third Quarter : : - 3216 23.68

Fourth Quarter 30.95 15.15

 In January 2005, we issued 5,085,000 additional shares in con-
nection with a three-fortwo stock split. This 50% stock dividend
‘was paid on January 12, 2005 to stockholders of record on

January §, 2005. The effect of the stock split has been recog-

) "hized retroactively throughout this report.

We have not paid any cash dividends on the Common Stock
.and a change in this policy is not presently under consideration
'by the Board of Directors. We are not permitted to pay cash
dividends on our Common Stock without the consent of our
1United States lenders sow st -

On September 18, 20086, the closing price of our Common
Stock was $13.99 and we had 383 record holders of Common
Stock. A number of such hoiders of record are brokers and
‘other institutions holding shares of Common Stock in “street
name” for mare than one beneficial owner.

~iln April 2006, our Board of Directars epproved the repurchase

iof up to 500,000 shares of our outstanding Common Stock.
;Under the repurchase program we repurchase shares from
time-to-time at prevailing prices and as permitted. by appli-
‘cable securities laws (including SEC Rule 10b-18) and New
York Stock Exchange requirements, and subject to market con-
dmons The repurchase program has a cne- year term endmg
April 12, 2007. .

The first purchase under our repurchase program occurred on
'IApriI 19, 2006, Through July 31, 2006, we had completed the
ir_ep_urchase of 303,000 shares under the repurchase program.

The following table summarizes the repurchase of Common
Stock under the repurchase program during fiscal 2006:

" -_.L._.I I'il :I

Total Maximum Number
Average Number of Shares That May
Price Paid- of Shares Yet Be Purchased
Month Per Share Purchased Under the Program
April . $14.83 123,300 376,700
May . $14.09 43,5800 /332,900
June $13.69 © 110,400 © 222,500
July $14.30 25,500 197.000
o 303,000

{Fhrough September 18, 2006, we had completed the purchase
of 349,600 shares under the repurchase program at a total
average price per share of $14.14. Therefore, at September 18,
2006 the maximum number of shares that may be purchased
under the program are 150,400 shares.

l .

=y
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II
Item 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA.

The financial data in the foilowmg fable is qualified in its entlrety by, and sholld be read in conjunctlon with, the financial statements
and notes thereto and other infarmation incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K. Minntech is reflected in the Consolidated
Statements of Income Data for fiscal 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the portion of fiscal 2002 subseguent to its acquisition on
September 7; 2001, Baolab and Mar Cor are reflected in the Consolldated Staternents of Income Data for fiscal 2008, 2005 and .
2004. Dyped and Saf-T- Pak are reflected in the Consolldated Statements of tncome Data for fiscal 2006, 2005 and the portion of

fiscal 2004 subsequent to their acquisitions on September 12 2003 and June 1, 2004, respectively, Crosstex is reflected in the -

Consolidated Statements of Income Data for fiscal 2006. Brolab Mar Cor, Dyped, Saf-I-Pak and Crosstex are not reflected in the
results of operatlons for all other periods presented. Carsen|is reflected as a d|scont|nued operation for all years presented.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME DATA
(Amounis in thobsands, except per share dala)

: Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Net sales $192,179 5137167  $123,041 $ 93,852 $ 87,141
Cost of sales 122,963 83,276 78,103 57,650 51,889
Gross profit 69,216 53,881 44,938 36,302 35,252
Income from continuing operations before interest

expense and income taxes 15,344 14,322 9,844 7915 8,546
Interest expense, net 3,393 940 1,497 1,281 1,610
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 11,951 13,382 8347 6,634 6.936
Income taxes 5,298 5,487 3,470 2,214 2,167
Income from continuing operations 6,653 7,895 4877 4,420 4,769
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 10,268 7,610 5771 3,480 2,383
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax 6,776 — — — —
Net income $ 23,697 $ 15505 §$ 10654 $ 7910 $ 7.152
Earnings per common share:

Basic:® o ity

Continuing operaticns $ 043 % 053 $ 034 § 032 § 036
Discontinued operations ’ 0.66 0.52 0.41 0.25° 0.18
Gain on disposal cf discontinued operations 0.44 — — — —
Net income $ 153 3§ 105 $ 075 $ 057 $ 054
Diluted:® i ‘ ) :
Continuing operations J$ 041 5 049 $ 032 $ 030 % 033
Discontinued operations 0.63 0.47 0.38 024 0.16
Gain on disposal of duscontlnued operatrons 0.42 T — — - —
Net income $ 146 . % 096 $ 070 $ 084 $ 049
Weighted average number of common and - ) )

common equivalent shares:™ .

Basic 15,471 -i4,830 14,188 13,901 13,323

Diluted 16,276 16,208 15,244 14,773 - 14,5671

‘ CONSOLIDATEP BALANCE SHEETS DATA
- (Amounts in thousands, except per share data) "
’ . dJuly 31, ,

] 2006 '2005 2004 2003 2002
Total assets $238,227 5165279 $146,726 $109,810 $107.814
Current assets 82,448 94,490 73,943 61,930 58,138
Current liabilities | 39,087 43475 27,208 18,287 20314
Working capital . ‘ 43,351 51,015 46,735 43643 37,824
longtermdebt - e 34,000 — 220000 17750 25,750
Stockholders' equity , 140,805 108,626 86511 - * 70,182 57,911
Book value per outstanding commaon sharg™ $ 914 $ 724 $ 592.% 503 $ 419
Common shares outstanding® 15,399 15,005 14,612 13,964 13,832

(1) Per share and share amounis have been adjusied to reflect three-fortwo stock splits effected in the form of 50% stock dividends pald in each of

January 2005 and May 2002.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan-

cial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A") is intended
to help you understand Cantel Medical Corp. ("Cantel”}. The
MD&A is provided as a supplement to and should be read in
conjunction with our financial statements and the accompany-
ing notes. Our MD&A includes the following sections: '

Overview provides a brief description of our business and a
summary of significant activity that has aifected or may affect
our results of operations and financial condition.

Results of Operations provides a discussion of the consoli-
dated results of continuing operations for fiscal 2006 compared
with fiscal 2005, and fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004,

Liquidity and Capital Resources provides an overview of
our working capital, cashflows, contractual obligations, financ-
ing, significant distribution agreements and foreign currency
hedging activities. '

Critical Accounting Policies provides a discussion of our
accounting policies that require critical judgments, assump-
tions and estimates.

Overview -

Cantel is a leading provider of infection prevention and control
products in the healthcare market, specializing in the following
operating segments:

» Dialysis: Medical device reprocessing systems, sterilants/
disinfectants, dialysate concentrates and other supplies for
renal dialysis.

« Dental: Single-use, infection control products used princi-
pally in the dental market including face masks, towels and
bibs, tray covers, saliva ejectors, germicidal wipes, plastic
cups, sterilization pouches and disinfectants.

+ Endoscope Reprocessing: Medical device reprocessing sys-
tems and sterilants/disinfectants for endoscopy.

* Water Purification and Filtration: Water purifiéation equip-
ment and services, filtration and separaiion products, and
disinfectants for the medical, pharmaceutical, biotech and
other industrial markets. '

= Therapeutic Filtration: Hollow fiber membrane filtration and
separation technologies for meadical applications. (Included
in All Other reporting segment}) '

» Specialty Packaging: Specialty packaging and thermal con-

trol products, as well as related compliance training, for the
transport of infectious and biological specimens and ther-
maily sensitive pharmaceutical, medical and other, products.
(Included in All Other reporting segment}

Maost of our equipment, consumables and supplies are used to
help prevent the occurrence or spread of infections.

On July 31, 2006, our wholly-owned subsidiary Carsen Group
Inc. (“Carsen”) closed the sale of substantially all of its assets to
Olympus America inc. and certain of its affifiates (collectively,

“Olympus”) under an Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of
'May 16, 2006 among Carsen, Cantel and Olympus. Clympus
-purchased substantially all of Carsen's assets other than those

related to Carsen's Medivators business and certain other
1smalter product lines. Following the closing, Olympus hired
rsubstantially all of Carsen’s employees and took over Carsen's
'Olympus-related operations (as well as the operations related to
ithe other acquired product lines). The {ransaction resulted in

‘an after-tax gain of approximately $6,776,000 and was recorded
;separately on the Consolidated Statements of Income as gain
-on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax. )n connec-
tion with the transaction, Carsen's Medivators-related assets
as well as certain of its other assets that were not acquired

by Olympus were sold to our new Canadian distributor of
‘Medivators products.

As a result of the foregoing transaction, which coincided with
the expiration of Carsen’s exclusive distribution agreements
with Olympus on July 31, 2006, Carsen no longer has any
remaining product lines or active business operations.

The businesses of Carsen, previously reported in the Endoscopy
and Surgical, Endoscope Reprocessing and All Other report-
ing segments, are reflected as a discontinued operation in our
Consolidated Financial Statements and have been exciuded
from segment results for all periods presented. Net sales, cost
of sales, operating expenses, interest expense and income taxes
attributable to Carsen's operations have been aggregated into
a single line, income from discontinued operations, net of tax,
on the Consolidated Statements of Income. Additionally, the
assets and liabilities refated to the discontinued cperations have
been segregated from continuing operations in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Prior to being reporied as discontinued oper-
ations, fiscal 2006 net sales and operating income of Carsen
accounted for approximately 25.3% and 53.3% of our fiscal 2006
consolidated net sales and operating income, respéctively.

Further information regarding our discontinued operations is
included in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements -
and elsewhere in this MD&A,

ngnfﬁcant Activity

(i} The Olympus distribution agreements with Carsen, as
well as Carsen's active business operations, terminated
on July 31, 2006, as more fully described elsewhere in this
MD&A, “Business—Termination of Carsen's Distribution
Agreement,” "Business—Risk Factors” and Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. ’

(u) As a result of our decision to not renew Olympus’ exclu-
sive United States distribution agreement when it expired
on August 1, 2006, we commenced the sale and service
of our Medivators brand endoscope reprocessing equip-
ment, high-level disinfectants, cleaners and consumables
through our own United States field sales and service

- organization on August 2, 2006, as more fully described
elsewhere in this MD&A, "Business—Reporting Seg-
ments—Endoscope Reprocessing” and “Business—
Risk Factors.”




{iii) The dialysis industry has been undergoing significant
consolidation which has adversely impacted the average .
selling price of some of our dialysis products and may
continue to adversely affect our business, as more fully
descrlbed elsewhere in this MD&A, in “Business—

Competition” alnd in “Business—Risk Factors.”

(iv) On August 1, 2005, which is the beginning of our fISCd|
2006, we acquired Crosstex International inc. ("Crosstex")
as more fully described in “Business—Reporting Seé-
ments—Dental” and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements. ¢
u .
) In conjunctlon with the Crosstex acquisition, we amerI ded
and restated our United States credit facilities on August 1,

2005, as more fuIIy dESCrIbEd ‘elsewhere in this MD&A 'and

in Notes 3 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. —

{vi} A stronger Canadian dollar_legainst the United States Idol-

lar impacied our results of operations during fiscal 2006 .

compared with fiscal 2005, as more fully described else-
where in this MD&A. The increase in value was approxi-
-~ mately 7.7% for fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005'
based upon average exchange rates reported by bankmg
" institutions.

(viiy A weakar euro against the United States dollar impacted-
~+ our results of operations during fiscal 2006, compared
. with fiscal 2005, as more fuily described elsewhere |n this
MD&A. The decrease in value was approximately 3. 8% for
fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005, based upon aver- .
age exchange rates reported by banking institutions.

(viii) On May 1, 2008, we acquir_ed certain df the assets and I

assumed certain of the liabilities of Fluid Solutions, Ihf:. as -
more fully described in "Business—Recent Developments”

and Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.jl‘ ‘
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Results of Operations

The results of operations reflect the continuing operating results
of Cantel and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, but exclude the
operating results of Carsen.

Since the.Crosstex acquisition occurred on August 1, 2005,
Crosstex is reflected in our results of operations for fiscal 2006,
and is not reftected in our results of operations for fiscal 2005
and fiscal 2004. Certain distribution and warehouse expenses
of Crosstex have been reclassified from amounts previously
reported in our quarterly Form 10-Q’s to conform with the
accounting policies of Cantel which reguire such costs to be
classified as cost of sales. These reclassifications aifect cost N
of sales, gross profit and selling expenses of our Dental seg-
ment, and therefore our consolidated amounts.

Far fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005, discussion herein
of our pre-existing business refers to all of our reporting seg-
ments with the exception of Dental {since this entire reportlng
segment is refated to the Crosstex acquisition) as well as the
discontinued operahons of Carsen '

Si.nce the Saf-T-Pak acqu'asition occurred on June 1, 2004,
Saf-T-Pak is reflected in our results of operations for fiscal
2006, fiscal 2005 and for the last two months of fiscal 2004,
The acquisition of Saf-T-Pak added the Specialty Packagmg ’
operating segmeni, which is included in the All Other report-
ing segment, :

For fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004, discussion herein
of our pre-existing business refers to the Dialysis, Endoscope
Reprocessing, and Water Purification and Filtration reporting
segments and the Therapeutic Filiration operating segment,
which is included in the All Other reporting segment; but
excludes the impact of the Saf-T-Pak acquisition as well as

the dlscontmued opera’uons of Carsen. - L

The following table gives information as to the net sales from continuing operations and the percentage to the total net sales from

continuing operations for each of our reporting segments.

: Year Endec July 31,
2006 2005 2004
$ % $ % s %

Dialysis -

Dental

Water Purification and Filtration
Endoscope Reprocessing

All Other !

{Doflar amounts in thousands)
$ 58,908 30.7 ° % B5.457 477  $ 60810 49.4

54,293 28.3 — — - -
36,356 18.9 29,123 21.2. 29,7118 24.2
30,403 15.8 28,677 209 24,726 201
12219 6.3 13,900 10.2 1,787 6.3

$192,179  100.0  $137,157  100.0 T $123,041 1000

_ Fiscal 2006 Compared with Fiscal 2005

Neft sales
Net sales increased by $55,022,000, or 40.1%, to $192,179, 000
in fiscal 2006 from $137,157,000 in fiscal 2005. Net sales of
our pre- exustlng business increased by $729,000, or 0.5%, |to

- $137,886,000 for fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005. Net
sales contributed by our Dental segment in fiscal 2006 were
$64,293,000.

Net sales were positively impacted in fiscal 2006 compared
with fiscal 2005 by approximately $485,000 due to the trans-
lation of Canadian dollar net sales primartly of our Water
Purification and Filtration operating segment using a é_tronger
Canadian dollar against the United States dollar.
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In addition, net sales were negatively impacted in fiscal 2006
compared with fiscal 2005 by approximately $481,000 due to the
translation of Euro net sales primarily of our Dialysis operating
~ segment using a weaker euro against the United States dollar.

Increases in selling prices of our products did not have a signif-

icant effect on net sales in fiscal 2006. However, as discussed
below, we experienced a reduction in our dialysis net sales and
profit margins in fiscal 2006 due to reduced average selling
prices attributable to the DaVita/Gambro US acquisition.

The increase in net sales of our pre-existing business in fiscal
2006 was principally atiributable to increases in sales of waier
purification and filtration product_s and services and endoscope
reprocessing products and services. These increases in net
sales were partially offset by decreases in sales of dialysis
products and therapeutic products.

The increase in sales of water purification and filtration prod-
ucts and services of $7,233,000, or 24.8%, in fiscal 2006 com-
pared with fiscal 2005 was primarily due to increased demand
in North America for our water purification and filtration
equipment, and was partially attributable to the restructuring,
- strengthening, and consolidation of our sales and marketing
organization. Additionally, we acquired certain of the assets
and assumed certain of the liabilities of Fiuid Solutions, Inc.
on May 1, 2008 which resulted in approximately $1,500,000 of
incremental net sales in fiscal 2006.

The increase in sales of endoscope reprocassing products and
services of 6,0% in fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005 was
primarily due to an increase in demand for our endoscope dis-
infection equipment, disinfectants and product service both in
the United States and internationally. The increase in demand
for our disinfectants and product service is attributable to the
increased field population of equipment (including our Dyped
endoscope disinfection equipment in Europe) and our ability to
convert users of competitive disinfectants to our products.

Sales of dialysis products and services decreased by 10.0%

in fiscal 2006' compared with fiscal 2005 primarily due to a

" decrease in demand from domestic and international custom-
ers for dialysate concentrate (a concentrated acid or bicarbo-
nate used to prepare dialysate, a chemical solution that draws
waste products from a patient's blood-through a dialyzer mem-
brane during hemodialysis treatment) and Renatron dialyzer
reprocessing eqguipment both in the United States and interna-
tionally, and lower average selling prices for Renatron equip-

~ ment and Renalin sterilant due to increased sales to large
national chains that typically receive more favorable pricing.
Partially offsetting the decrease in sales of dialysis products
and services was an increase of approximately $1,512,000 in
net sales as a result of shipping and handling fees. such as_
freight, invoiced to customers during fiscal 2006 (related costs
of a similar amount are included within cost of sales). During

fiscal 2005, two of our largest customers were responsible for -~

transportation related to the products they purchased from us;
in fiscal 20086, these two customers requested that we under-
take and invoice them for such transportation.

The dialysis industry has been undergoing significant consoli-
dation through the acquisition by certain major dialysis chains
of smaller chains and independents. In October 2005, DaVita
Inc. ("DaVvita"), the second-largest dialysis ¢hain in the United
States, acquired Gambro AB’s United States dialysis’clin_ic '
business, Gambro Healthcare, Inc. ("Gambro US"). DaVita and
Gambro US are significant customers of cur dialysis reuse
products and accounted for approximately 25% of our dialysis
net sales during fiscal 2006, The DaVita/Gambro US acquisi-
tion has resulted in greater buying power for the larger result-
ing entity and thereby a reduction in our net sales and profit
margins due to reduced average selling prices of our dialyzer
reprocessing products.

[n addition, on March 31, 2006, Fresenius Medical Care
(“Fresenius"), the largest dialysis chain in the United States
and a provider of single-use dialyzer products, announced the
closing of its acquisition of Renal Care Group, Inc. ("RCG").
RCG has been a significant customer of our dialysis reuse
products. Combined net sales of Fresenius and RCG accounted
for approximately 18.6% of our dialysis net sales during fiscal
2008. We anticipate Fresenius will convert all or substantially
all of the dialysis clinics of RCG into single-use facilities, which
will adversely affect our sales of dialysis products. Given the
uncertainty of the post-acquisition operating strategies for
Fresenius/RCG, we are currently unable io determine the tim-
ing and impact on our future sales of dialysis products and
services., In addition, the DaVita and Fresenius acquisitions
have resulted in the loss of low margin dialysate concentrate
business since Gambro and Fresenius manufacture dialysate
concentrate themselves. Consequenily, the DaVita and RCG
dialysis centers have reduced their purchases of dialysate
concentrate from us.

Net sales contributed by the Therapeutic Filtration operating
segment were $7.012,000, a decrease of $1,804,000, or 20.5%
in fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005. This decrease in
sales was primarily due fo reduced sales in the United States
of pediatric filters, manufactured by us on an OEM basis for a
single customer's hydration system, due to a voluntary recall
of the system (unrelated to our product) by such customer. We
anticipate that sales to the manufacturer will recommence in
the near future. The reduction was alsc due to decreases in
demand for our hemoconcentrator products (a device used to
concentrate red blood cells and remove excess fluid from the
bloodstream during open-heart surgery) and hemofilter prod-
ucts (a product that performs a slow, continuous blood filtra-
tion therapy used to control fluid overload and acute renal
failure in unstable, criticaliy ill patients who cannot tolerate
the rapid filtration rates of conventional hemodialysis), both
in the United States and internationally.




Gross profit .
Gross profit increased by $15,335,000, or 28. 5% to $69,216,000
" in fiscal 2006 from $53,881,000 in fiscal 2005. Gross proﬂt‘of
our pre-existing business decreased by $2,857,000, or 5. 3%

to $51,024,000 in fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005. Gross
profit contributed by cur Dental segment in fiscal 2006 was

$18,192,000.

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 36.0% in fisca!

2006 cbmpared with 39.3% in fiscal 2005. Gross profit as a: per-

centage of net sales of our pre-existing business in fiscal EIOOQ
was 37.0%. Gross profit as a percentage of net sales for our

Dental segment in fiscal 2006 was 33.5%, which was adversely
impacted by a $658,000 one-time purchase accounting charge
related to our Dental segment's inventory during the three

months ended October 31, 2005. Excluding this one-time charge,

gross profit as a percentage of net sales for our Dental segment
in tiscal 2006 was 34.7%.

The lower gross profit percentage from our pre-existing bulsi-
ness in fiscatl 2006 as compared with fiscal 2005 was primarily
attributable to a lower gross profit percentage on our dlalysn;
products due to lower average selling prices on chalysate con-
centrate, Renatron equipment and sierilants principally as a
result of increased sales to large national chains that typically.
receive more favorable pricing, unfavorable overhead absc;rp
tion associated with the decrease in sales to domestic ané
international customers, and higher distribution costs. Addn
tionally, gross profit percentage for fiscal 2006 was adverslely
impacted by the sale of some large water purification and|fil-
tration systems at lower than normal margins. ’

With respect to the reduction in gross profit (as opposed o
gross profit percentage) the loss in gross profit. attnbutable
to decreases in net sales as explained above, as well as the~
aforementioned reasons for the reduction in gross profit
percentage, constitute the most significant factors in the
decrease in gross profit.

Operating expenses

Selling expenses increased by $3,264,000, or 21 4% to
$18,530.000 in fiscal 2006 from $15,266,000 in fiscal 2005
principally due to the inclusion of $2,436,000 of our Dental
segment's selling expenses; the initial cost of $806,000 t|0
develop our endos_c;ope reprocessing direct sales and serrice
network as a result of our decision to not renew Olympus'’
exclusive United States distribution agreement when it expired
on August 1, 2008, as more fully described elsewhere is thss
MDéEA; an increase in salary expense of approximately $23{J 000
“in our Specialty Packaging operating segment primarily for the
increase in our sales and marketing personnel; the recording
of $141,000 of stock-based compensation expense in fiscl.al
20086; and the transiation of Canadian expenses in our Water
Purification and Fiitration and Specialty Packaging segments

using'a stronger Canadian dollar against the United States dolf

lar which resulted in an additional $107,000 of selling expenses
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Partially offsetiing the increase in selling expenses were
decreases in sales and marketing personnel and commissions
in our dialysis reporting segment in response to the consolida-
tion of the dialysis industry since an incredsing percentage of
sales of our dialysis products are to major dialysis chains as
compared to small.chains and independent dialysis clinics.

Selling expenses as a percentage of net sales were 9.6% in
fiscal 2006 compared with 11.1% in fiscal 2005. The decrease
in selling expenses as a percentage of net sales was primarily
attributable to the inclusion of the lower selling cost structure
of our Dental segment (which such selling expenses as a per-
centage of our Dental segment net sales were 4.6% in fiscal
2006) and decreases in sales and marketing personnel and
commissions in our Dialysis reporting segment in response to
the consoclidation of the dialysis industry, partially offset by the
initial cost of $806,000 to' develop cur endoscope reprocessing
direct field sales and service organization.

General and administrative expenses increased by $10,031,000,
or 4G.7%, to $30,225,000 in fiscal 2006 from $20,194,000 in fis-
cal 2005 principally due to the inclusien of $7,779,000 of our
Dental segment’s general and adminisirative expenses (which
such expenses include $2,960,000 of amortization associated
with intangible assets); the recording of $845,000 of stock-based
compensation expense in fiscal 2006; $345,000 in incentive
compensation during the three months ended October 31,
2005 directly related to the Crosstex'acquisition; the translation
of Canadian expenses in-our Water Purification and Filiration
and Specialty Packaging segments using a stronger Canadian.
dollar against the United States dollar which resulted in an
additional $191,000 of general and administrative expenses; -
$160,000 in debt financing costs during the three months
ended October 31, 2005 related to our amended and restated
credit facilities; and the inclusion of $135,000 of Fluid Solution's
general and administrative expenses for the three month
period subseguent to the May 1, 2006 acquisition.

General and administr\ative eXpenses as a percentage of net
sales were 15,7% in fiscal 2006 compared with 14.7% in fiscal

- 2005. The increase in general and administrative expenses

as a percentage of net sales was primarily attributabie to the
aforementioned factors.

Research and development expenses {which include continu-
ing engineering costs) increased by $1,018,000 to $5,117.000
in fiscal 2006 from $4,099,000 in fiscal 2005. The majority of
our research and development expenses related to our Dyped
endoscope reprocessor and specialty filtration products. The
increase in research and development expenses in fiscal 2006
compared with fiscal 2005 was primarily due to ongeing
research and development on those products. ’

Interest . ‘ : -

.In fiscal 2006, interest expense increased by $2,786,000 to -

$4,232,000 from $1,446,000 in fiscal 2005 primarily due {0 the
significant increase in average outstanding borrowings as
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August 1, 2005 acquisition of Crosstex.

[nterest income increased by $333,000 o $839,000 in fiscal
2006 from $506,000 in fiscal 2005 primarily due to an increase
in average interest rates in fiscal 2006 and a higher average
cash balance.’

a result of financing a portion of the purchase price of the
|
|
I
|

Income from continuing operations before taxes
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
" decreased by $1,431,000 to $11,951,000 in fiscal 2006 from
$13,382,000 i |n flscal 2005 i

lncome taxes

The consolidated effective tax rate was 44.3% and 41.0% for
fiscal 2008 and 2005, respectwely -

L

We have provided income tax expense for our United States
operations at the statutory tax rate; however, actual payment
of U.S. Federal income taxes reflects the benefits of the utiliza-
tion of the remaining Federal net operating loss carryforwards
(*"NQOLs") accumulated in the United States. Our NOLs were
fully utilized during the three months ended Octoher 31, 2005.

Our resulis of continuing operations for fiscal 2006 and 2005

ies at their respective statutory rates. Such international sub-
sidiaries include our subsidiaries in Canada and Japan, which
had effective tax rates in fiscal 2006 of approximately 48.2%
and 47.9%., respectively. A partial income tax benefit was
.recorded in fiscal 2006 on the losses from operations at our
Netherlands subsidiary.

" The higher overall effective tax rate for fiscal 2006 compared
with fiscal 2005 is principally due to the geographic mix of pre-
tax income, an increase in the statuiory United States tax rate
to 35% from 34%, an increase in our overall state income tax
rate to approximately 8% from 6% due to the Crosstex acqui-
sition, Yosses related to our Netherlands operation for which
only a partial income tax benefit was recorded and stock-based
compensation during fiscal 2006 for which only a ;;artJaI income
tax benefit was recorded (including our Canadian operations
in which no tax benefi{ was recorded), partially offset by the
domestic production deduction resulting from the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004.

Stock-based compensation

On August 1, 2005, we adopted Statement of Financial Account-

ing Standards {*SFAS") No, 123, “Share-Based Payment (Revised
2004)" ("SFAS 123R"} using the modified prospective method
for the transition. Under the modified prospective method,
stock-based compensation expense will be recognized for any
option grant or stock award granted on or after August 1, 2005,
as well as the unvested portion of stock options granted prior
0 August 1, 2005, based upon the award's fair value. For fiscal
2005 and earlier periods, we have accounted for stock options
using the intrinsic value method under which stock compen-
sation expense is not recognized because we granted stock
options with exercise pricés equal to the market value of the
shares at the date of grant.

. ‘ - .
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also reflect income tax expense for our international subsidiar--

The following table shows the income statement components
of stock-based compensation éxpense recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Income in fiscal 2006:

Year Ended
July 31, 2006
Cost of sales $ 50,000
Operating expenses:
Selling 141,000
General and administrative 845,000
Research and development 20,000
Total operating expenses ~ 1,006,000

Dlscontmued operatlons . %5 125’(000

e L2 2

" Stock: based compensatlon before fihcome taxes - T
Income tax henefits (248,000)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 930,000

‘1,178,000 - -

Most of our stock options are subject to graded vesting in which
portions of the option award vest at different times during the
vesting peried, as opposed to awards that vest at the end of
the vesting period. We recognize compensation expense for
options subject to graded vesting using the straight-line basis,
reduced by estimated forfeitures. Total unrecognized stock-
based compensation expense related to total nonvested stock
options was $651,000 at July 31, 2006 with a remaining
weighted average period of 18 months over which such
expense is expected to be recognized.

For the year ended July 31, 2006, we recorded stock-based
compensation expense in the amount of $1,178,000 (which
decreased both basic and diluted earnings per share from net
income by $0.06) with a corresponding increase to additional
capital, partially offset by the related income tax benefits of

$248,000 (which pertain to options ihat do not qualify as incen-

tive stock options) with a corresponding increase in long-term
deferred income tax assets (which are netted with long-term
deferred income tax liabilities).

If certain criteria are met when an option is exercised, the
Company is alfowed a deduction on cur income tax return.
Accordingly, we account for the income tax effect on such
income tax deductions as additional capital (assuming
deferred tax assets do not exist pertaining to the exercised
stock options) and as a reduction of income taxes payable,
In fiscal 2006, option exercises resulted in income tax deduc-
tions that reduced income taxes payable by $1,166,000.

" At July 31, 2005 (prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R), we pre-
sented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the exercise
of stock options as operating cash flows in the consolidaied
statements of cash flows. Beginning August 1, 2005, we
changed our cash flow presentation in accordance with SFAS
123R, which requires the cash flows resulting from excess tax
benefits to be classified as financing cash flows, In fiscal 20086,

¢ $787,000 in excess tax benefits were shown as financing cash
flows in our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Excess tax
benefits arise when the ultimate tax effect of the deduction

for tax purposes is greater than the tax benefit on stock com- .

pensation expense {including tax benefits on stock compen-
sation expense that has only been reflected in the pro forma

R s
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‘l
 disclosures) which was determined based upon the award's
fair value, :

In fiscal 2005, we accelerated the vesting of certain unvested
and "out-of-the- money " stock options previcusly awarded to
certain executive offlcers and other employees (67 individuals
in total) under our 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan. Such |
options had exercise prices greater than $18.85, the closing
price on June 24, 2005, the date that our Board of Directors

.authorized such acceleration. Opticns to purchase 759,650l
shares of common stock (of which approximately 577,500
shares are subject fo options held by executive officers) were
subject to this acceleration. All other terms and cenditions 'of
the options remain in effect. Options held by non-employee
directors were not included in the acceleration. Because these
options had exercise prices in excess of the market value of
Cantel common stock on June 24, 2005, and therefore were
not fully achieving our original objectives of incentive compen-
sation and employse retention, we expect the acceleration
may have a posrtlve effect on employee morale, retention and
perception of optlon value. The acceleration eliminated any:
future compensatlon expense we would otherwise recognize
in our income statement with respect to these options \NlthI
the August 1, 2005 rmplementalron of SFAS 123R. The com'pen
sation expense, after tax, related to this acceleration totaled
approximately $3, 400, 000. If such acceleratlon did not occdr
we would have recognlzed additional compensation expense,

* net of tax, of approximately $1, 300 000, $1,300,000, $600, 0010
and $200,000 in fiscal 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectively,
based on the farr value of the oplrons granted at grant date
over the orlglnal vesting period.

Fiscal 2005 Comparéfd with Fiscal 2004

Net sales

Net sales increased by $14, 116 00Q0. or 11.5%, to $137,157.000 .
in fiscal 2005 from $123 041,000 in fiscal 2004. Net sales of
our pre-existing busrness increased by $9,701,000,'or 7.9%!. to
$132,073,000 for fiscal 2005 from $122,372,000 in fiscal 2004
Net sales contrlbuted by Saf-T-Pak in fiscal 2005 and the last
two months of fiscal 2004 were $5,084,000 and $669,000,
respectively. '

Net sales were posrtrvely impacted in fiscal 2005 compared
with fiscal 2004 by appr0xrmately $722,000 due to the trans-
lation of Canadian net salés of our Water Purification anq
Fiitration reporting segment using a stronger Canadian dollar
against the United States dollar '

In addition, net sales were posrtwely impacted in fiscal 2005
compared with fiscal 2004 by approximately $732,000 due to
the translation of our Netherlands subsidiary net sales usmg
a stronger.euro against the United States dollar. The majonty
of the net sales of our Netherlands_subsrdlary are |nc|uded in
the Dialysis reporting segment.

Increases in selling prices of our products did not have a sig-
nificant effect on net sales in fiscal 2005.

The increase in net sales of our pre-existing business in fiscal
2005 was principally attributable to increases in sales 6f endo-
scope reproceséing products and services, dialysis products
and therapeotic progucts. These increases in net sales were
partially offset by a small decrease in sales of water purn‘rca
tion and filtration products., . S R

The increase in sales of endosCope reproc'essing'products
and services of 16.0% in fisca! 2005 compared with fiscal 2004
was primarily due to an increase in sales of disinfectants, con-
sumables and product service, both in the United States and

internationally. The increase in sales of these products can
be attributed to the increased field population of equipment
(including our Dyped endoscope disinfection equipment in
Europe) and our ability to convert users of competitive disin-
{ectants to our products.

Sales of dialysis products and services increased by 7.6% in
fiscal 2005 as compared with fiscal 2004 primarily due to an
increase in customer demand in the United States and by an
international customer for dialysate concentrate (a concen-
trated acid or bicarbonate used to prepare didlysate, a chemi-
cal solution that draws waste products from a patient's blood
through a'dialyzer membrane durrng hemodralysm treatment)
and an increase in domestic demand for dialysis supplies. Par-
tially offsetting the increase in sales were lower average selling
prices for our Renalin (sterilant) product due to increased sales
to large national chains that typically receive lower prices.

The dialysis industry Has been undergoing significant l‘:onsoli-

" dation through the acquisition by certain major dialysis chains

of smaller chains and independents. In Octobier 2005, DaVita

" Inc. ("Davita"), the second-largest dialysis ¢chain in the United

States, acquired Gambro AB’s United States dialysis clinic
business, Gambro Healthcare, Inc. ("Gambro US"). In addition,
in May 2005, Fresenius Medical Care AG (*Fresenius"), the
largest dialysis chain in the United States and a provider of
single-use dialyzer products, announced that it entered into an
agreement to acquire Renal Care Group, Inc. (“RCG"). DavVita,
Gambro US, and RCG are significant customers of our dialysis
reuse products. If Fresenius’s acquisition is consummated,

and if Fresenius converts all or substantially all of the dialysis

“clinics of RCG into single-use facilities, our sales of dialysis

products will be adversely affected. In addition, the consolida-
tion of dialysis providers could result in greater buying power
by the larger resulting entities and thereby a reduction in our
net sales and profit margins due to reduced average selling
prices of dialysis products. However, given the uncertainty of
the post-acquisition operating strategies with respect to these
two transactions and the potential regulatory required dives-
ture of some of their dialysis clinics, we are currently unable to
determine the impact on our future sales of dialysis products
and services.

Sales in the All Other reporting segment increased 78.5% in
fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004. Net sales contributed
by the Specialty Packaging operating segment in fiscal 2005
were $5,084,000, an increase of $4.415,000 compared with
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the last two months of fiscal 2004 subsequent to the date

of the acquisition. Net sales contributed by the Therapeutic
Filtration operating segment were $8,816,000, an increase of
$1,698,000, or 23.9%, in fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004,

" due to an increase in customer demand for ourpediatric filters
in the United States and domestic and internationa! demand
for our hemofilters (a device that performs a slow, continuous
blood filtration therapy used to control fluid overload and acute
renal failure in unstable, critically ill patients who cannot toler- -
ate the rapid filtration rates of conventicnal hemodialysis).

Sales of water purification and filtration products and services
decreased by 2.0% in fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004
primarily due to the recognition of certain large low margin
water purification equipment sales during fiscal 2004, which

- orders had been accepted prior to the acquisition of Biolab.
After the acquisition was completed, we made a decision not
to sell our water purification equipment at such a low margin,

- thereby resulting in lower (but more profitable) sales. Partially
offsetting this decrease were increases in demand for our
water filtration products in the United States and international
sales of our new Minncare Dry Fog disinfection system.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased by $8,943,000, or 19.9%, to $53,881,000
in fiscal 2005 from $44,938,000 in fiscal 2004, Gross profit of
our pre-existing business increased by $6.178,000, or 13.9%,
to $50,782,000 in fiscal 2005 from $44,604,000 in fiscal 2004.
Gross profit contributed by Saf-T-Pak in fiscal 2005 and the
last two months of fiscal 2004 were $3,099,000 and $334,000,
respectively. '

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 39.3% in fiscal
2005, compared with 36.5% in fiscal 2004, Gross profit as a
perceniage of net sales of our pre-existing business in fiscal
2005 was 38.4%, compared with 36.4% in fiscal 2004. Gross
profit as a percentage of net sales for Saf-T-Pak in fiscal 2005
and fiscal 2004 was 61.0% and 49.9%, respectively.

The higher gross profit percentage {rom our pre-existing busi-
ness in fiscal 2005 as compared with fiscal 2004 was primarily
attrinutable to improved overhead absorption due to increased
sales velume as well as favorable sales mix in our Endoscope
Reprocessing and Therapeutic Fittration reporting segments.
| Partially offsetting these increases in gross profit percentage
was a lower gross profit percentage on our dialysis products
due to sales mix (as we sold more dialysate concentrate prod-
ucts) and a lower average selling price on dialysate concen-
trate as a result of increased sales to large national chains that
typically receive lower prices.

The favorable Canadian dollar exchange rates lowered the cost
of inventory burchased from suppliers in the United States by
our Canadian division of our Water Purification and Filtration
operating segment, and therefore decreased cost of sales and
increased gross profit, by approximately $178,000 in fiscal 2005
compared with fiscal 2004, In addition, gross profit was posi-
tively impacted in fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004 by

" sonnel and commissions in our dialysis reporting segment in
. response 1o the consolidation of the dialysis indusiry since an

approximately $263,000 due to the translation of gross profit
using a stronger Canadian dollar against the United States dol-
lar {(which also impacts net sales and therefore has no impact
on gross profit as a percentage of net sales). Similarly, gross

The increasensales of therapeuticproductswas;srimarily psimes Diolyvas positivelyiripactedgnyfiscal2005,comparedywith -

fiscal 2004 by approximately $143000d0E IO thE translation -~
of our Netherlands subsidiary gross profit using a stronger ’
euro against the United States dollar.

Operating expenses

Selling expenses increased by $720,000 to $15,266,000 in fis-
cal 2005 from $14,546,000 in fiscal 2004 principally due to
the inclusion of an additional $630,000 of Sai-T-Pak’s selling
expenses for fiscal 2005 as compared with the last two months
of fiscal 2004 and increases in commissions and incentive
compensation (except in our Dialysis reporting segment) due
to improved operaiing results. Partially offsetting the increase
in selling expenses were decreases in sales and marketing per-

increasing percentage of our sales of our dialysié products
are to major dialysis chains as compared to small chains and
independent dialysis clinics.

Selling expenses as a percentage of net sales were 11.1% in
fiscal 2005 compared with 11.8% in fiscal 2004. The decrease
in selling expenses as a percentage of net sales was primarily
attributable to the favorable impact of increased net sales
against the fixed component of selling expenses, and decreases
in sales and marketing personnel and commissions in our dial-
ysis }eporting segment in response to the consalidation of the
dialysis industry. )

General and administrative expenses increased by $3,858,000

{0 $20,194,000.in fiscal 2005 from $16,336,000 in fiscal 2004

principally due to the inclusion of an additional $1,077,000 of

Saf-T-Pak’'s general and administrative expenses for fiscal 2005

as comgpared with the last two months of fiscal.2004; increased.

accounting and consulting costs of approximately $696,000

relating to corporate governance (Sarbanes-Oxley compliance)

and the annual audit of our financial statements; an increase

in incentive compensation of approximately $843,000; an

increase of approximately $430,000 due to additional execu-

tive personnel; and the translation of Canadian expanses

relating to our Water Purification and Filtration segment using

a stronger Canadian dollar against the United States dollar

which resulted in an additional $103,000 of general and admin-

istrative expenses. Partially offsetting these increases was a

decrease in.bad debt expense due to the collection of several |

delinguent receivables and a $295,000 provision for legal claims |

recorded during fiscal 2004. |
|
|

‘Research and development expenses (which include continu-

ing engineering costs) decreased by $113,000 to'$4,099,000
in fiscal 2005 from $4,212,000 in fiscal 2004. The majority of
research and development expenses for fiscal 2005 and fiscal
2004 related to the Dyped endoscope reprocessor and spe-
cialty filiration products.
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Interest
In fiscal 2005, mterest expense decreased by $300, 000 to
$1,446,000 from $1,746,000 in fiscal 2004, principally due to
the decrease in average outstanding borrowings, partially off-
set by an increase in average interest rates. Interest mcome

increased’by $325,000 to $506,000 in fiscal 2005 from $181, 000 * :
- expense, gain on sale of discontinued operations and deferred - -
. income taxes), and decreases in accounts receivable {due to . -

in fiscal 2004, prmcabally due to an mcrease in cash avaalab!e
" for short-term investments. '

Income from continuing ;::eefaiions before taxes
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
'uncreased by $5, 035 000 to $13.382,000 in fuscal 2005 fron‘
$8,347,000 in fiscal 2004 . _

-.-;i,,-‘{.i,._ I N R
Income taxes ! ©
The consolidated effective tax rate was 41.0% and 41 6% fo
fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively.

We have provided income tax expense for our United States
operations at the statutory tax rate; howevar, actual payment
of United States Federal income taxes reflects the benefits|of
the utilization of the Federal net operating loss carryforwards
("NOLs") accumulated in the United States. At July 31, 2005
such Federal net operating loss carryforwards were approxr
mately $387,000: Since these NOLs will be fully utilized in f\lscak
2006, we will be making payments of United States Federal1
income taxes during fiscal 2006. Qur United States effecti\a:e
tax rate was 36.9% during fiscal 2005 compared with 37.0%
during fiscal 2004

Qur results of operatlons for fiscal 2005 and 2004 also reflect
income tax expense for our international subsidiaries at theur
respective statutory. rates. Such international subsidiaries

.~ include our subsididries in Canada, and Japan, which had
effective tax rates during fiscal 2005 of approximately 35.3%
and 45.0%, respectively. In fiscal 2005 and 2004, our Nether-
lands subsidiary had an overall loss (primarily due to reseérch
and development expenses attribuiable to the Dyped p_rodﬁct
line} for which no corresponding tax benefit was‘recorded.I As
a result, our consolidated effective tax rate of 41.0% is higher
than our United States and Canadian effective tax rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working Capital
At July 31, 20086, our working capital was $43,351,000, com-
paréd-with $51,015,000 at July 31, 2005. This decrease was
primarily due to the use of cash to repay $46,050,300 of our
outstanding borrowings during fiscal 2006, most of which

had been classified as long-term debt during the year. The
funds utilized to repay such debt came principally from pro- -
ceeds from the disposal of the discontinued operations as

well as earnings from our continuing operations. Partially off-
_setting these items was the acquisition of Crosstex, which
centributed $9,752,000 in working capital at August 1, 20015'
the date of acquisition (such Crosstex net assets were red‘uced
by $3,667,000 at July 31, 2006 due to the recording of an earn-
out payable to the former Crosstex sellers).
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $22.061.000,
$24,773,000 and $19,544,000 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. In fiscal 2008, the net cash provided by operating
activities was primarily due to.net income (after adjusting for
depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation

a decrease in net sales primarily in our Dialysis segment),

-partially offset by an increase in inventories (due to timing of

sales) and a decrease.in assets and liabilities of discontinued
operafions (due to the sale of substantially all of Carsen'’s
assets on July 31, 2006) In fiscal 2005, the net cash provided

" "by operating activities'was prtmanly *due to net income (after

adjusting for depreciation and amortization;and deferred
income taxes) and an increase in accounts payable, deferred
revenue and accrued expenses (due primarily to increased
incentive compensation payable as a result of improved oper-
ating results), partially offset by an increases in accounts
receivable (due {0 an increase in sales) and net assets of
discontinued operations (due to strong operating results at
Carsen). In fiscal 2004, net cash provided by operating activi-
ties was primarily due to net income (after adjusting for depre-
ciation and amortization, and deferred income taxes) and an
increase in income taxes payable, partially offset by increases
in net assets of discontinued operations (due to strong operat-
ing'results at Carsen)

Cash. Flows from investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $45, 950,000,
$3,626,000 and $26,696,000 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. In fiscal 2006, the net cash used in investing

.activities was primarily due to the acquisition of Crosstex and

capi‘tal' expenditures, partially offset by the proceeds received
from the sale of our discontinued operations. In fiscal 2005,
the net cash used in invesiing activities was primarily for capi-
tal expenditures. In fiscal 2004, net cash used in investing
activities was primarily due to the acquisitions of Biolab,

Mar Cor, Dyped and Saf-T-Pak and capital expenditures.

" Cash Flows from Financing Activities
iNet cash provided by financing aciivities was $20,127,000 in fis-

cal 2006, compared with net cash used in financing activities
of $6,519,000 in fiscal 2005 and net cash provided by financing
activities of $7,053,000 in fiscal 2004, In fiscatl 2006, net cash
provided by financing activities was primarily atiributable to
borrowings under our credit facilities related to the acquisition
of Crosstex, net of debt issuance costs, and proceeds from the
exercises of options, partially offset by repayments under our
credit facilities and the purchase of treasury stock. In fiscal
2005, the net cash used in financing activities was primarily
attributable to repayments under our credit facilities, partially
offset by exercises of stock options. In fiscal 2004, the net cash
provided by financing activities was primarily aitributable to
borrowings under our credit faciiities related to the acquisitions
of Mar Cor and Saf-T-Pak, net of debt issuance costs, and pro-
ceeds from the exercises of stock opiions, partially offset by
repayments under our credit facilities.
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Discontinued Operations—Termination of Carsen's Operations
On July 31, 2008, Carsen closed the sale of substantially all of

its assets to Otympus under an As;s'et Purchase Agreement
dated as of May 16, 2006 among Carsen, Cantél and Olympus.
Olympus purchased substantiaily all of Carsen's assets other
than those related toc Carsen's Medivators business and certain
other smaller product lines. Following the closing, Olympus
hired substantially all of Carsen's employees and took over
Carsen's Olympus-related operations {as well as the operations
related to the other acguired product lines). The transaction
resulied in an after-tax gain of approximately $6,776,000 and
was recorded separately on the Consolidated Statements of
Income as gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of
tax. In connection with the transaction, Carsen's Medivators- -
related assets as well as certain of its other assets that were
not acquired by Qlympus were sold to our new Canadian dis-
tributor of Medivators products.

The purchase price for the net assets sold to Olympus

was approximately $31,200,000, comprised of a fixed sum

of $10,000,000 plus an additional fermula-based sum of
$21,200,000. In addition, Olympus will pay Carsen 20% of
Olympus' revenues attributable to Carsen's unfilled customer
arders as of July 31, 2006 that were assumed by Olympus at
the closing. Such payments to Carsen {currently anticipated to
be approximately $450,000) will be made following Olympus'
receipt of customer payments for such orders.

The $10,000,000 fixed portion of the purchase price was in con-
sideration for (i} Carsen's customer lists, sales records, and cer-
tain other assets related to the sale and servicing of Olympus
products and certain non-Clympus products distributed by
Carsen, (i} the release of Olympus’ contractual restricticn on
hiring Carsen personnel, (iii} real property leases {which were
assumed or replaced by Olympus) and leasehold improvements,
computer and software systems, equipment and machinery,
telephone systems, and records related-to the acquired assets,
and (iv) assisting Olympus in effecting a smooth transition of
Carsen’'s business of distributing and servicing Olympus and
certain non-Olympus products in Canada. Cantel has also
agreed (on behalf of itself and its affiliates) not to manufac-
ture, distribute, sell or represent for sale in Canada through
July 31, 2007 any products that are competitive with the
Olympus products formerly sold by Carsen under its Olympus
Distribution Agreements.

The $21,200,000 formula-based po'rtion of the purchase price
was based on the book value of Carsen’s inventories of Olympus
and certain non-Clympus products and the face amount of
Carsen's accounts receivable and certain other assets, all at
July 31, 2006, subject to offsets, particularly for accounts pay-
able of Carsen due to Olympus.

Net proceeds from Carsen's sale of net assets and the termi-
nation of Carsen's oparations were approximately $21,100,000
(excluding the backlog paymenis) after satisfaction of remain-
ing liabilities and taxes. :

As a result of the foregoing transaction, which coincided with
the expiration of Carsen's exclusive distribution agreements

with Olympus on July 31, 2006, Carsen no longer has any
remaining product lines or active business operations.

The net sales and operating income attributable to Carsen's
business (inclusive of both Glympus and non-Olympus busi-
ness, but exclusive of the sale of Médivators reprocessors)
constitute the entire Endoscopy and Surgical reporting seg-
ment and Scientific operating segment: which historically was
included within the All Other reportlng segment

Operating segment lnformatlon and net i lncome attnbutable to -

Carsen's business is summarized below:
Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net sales:
Endoscopy and Surgical  $49,021,000 $41,469.000 $34,611,000
Endoscope Reprocessing 1,854,000 1,589,000 1,223,000
Scientific 14,046,000 17,187,000 11,118,000
Total $64,921,000 $60.245000 $46.952,000
Operating income: :
Endoscopy and Surgical ~ $14,018,000 $10.004,000 $ 8,400,000 ;L
Endoscope Reprocessmg 968,000 6§f§ 000° 490,000
Scientitic 978,000 1,207.000 - 161,000
15,964,000  11,867.000 9,051,000
Interest expense 57,000 118,000 80,000
Income before
income taxes . 15,907,000 11,748,000 8,966,000
~Income taxes 5,639,000 4,138,000 3,189,000
Income from discontinued
operaticns, net of tax $10,268,000 § 7,670,000 $ 5,777,000
Gain on sale of discon- ) o
tinued operations $11,397,000 $ — 3 —
Income taxes 4,621,000 = —
Gain on disposal of dis- -
continued operations,
net of tax $ 6,776,000 3 — % —

LY

Prior to being reported as discontinued operations, fiscal 2006
net sales and operating income of Carsen accounted for approx-
imately 25.3% and 53.3% of our fiscal 2006 consolidated net
sales and operating income, respectively.

Cash flows attributable to discontinued operations comprise
the following;

Year Ended July 31,
- 2006° 2005 2004
Net cash provided by
operating activities $ 6,561,000 $6,731,000 $4.565,000
Net cash provided by
{used in) investing ..
activities $30,774,000 3 (645,000 $ (122,000)

Financing activities of our discontinued operaticns did rot result
in any net cash in fiscal 2008, 2005 and 2004,

Direct Sale of Medivators Systems in the United States
On August 2, 2006, we commenced the sale and service of
our Medivators brand endoscope reprocessing equipment,

. el




i m:s an‘r.j' distribution se{wces for the Medivators/Clympus cu
tomer—base Th%%xrstmg and fuIIy developed infrastructure
5 erI continue to be a crmcal factor in our new direct sales and

) Long Term Contractual Obligations

high-level disinfectants, cleaners and consumables through
our own United States field sales and service organization. Qur
direct sale of these products is the result of cur decision that
it is in our best long-term interests to conirol and develop odr
own direct-hospital based United States distribution network
and, as such, not to renew Olympus’ exclusive United States

distribution agreement when it expired on August 1, 2006.

Throughout the former distribution arrangement with Olympus.
we employed our own personnel to provide clinical sales sup-
port activities as welk-as an interndl technical and customer
service function, deplot maintenance and service and all lcg

o
¥
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service strategy. During fiscal 2006, we incurred $806,000 fo
develop our field sales and service organization in preparation
for the August 2, 2006 impiementation of our new sales and
service strategy.

During the seven-year period following the expiration of the’
distribution agreement with Olympus on August 1, 2006,
Olympus will have the option to provide certain ongoing sup-
port functions to its existing customer base of Medivators
products, subject to the terms and conditions of the agree-
ment. In addition, Clympus may continue to purchase from
Minntech for resale in connection with such support functions,
Medivators accessories, consumables, and replacement and
repair parts, as well as Rapicide® disinfectant.

Aggregate annual requrred payments over the next five years and thereafter under our coniractual obligations that have long term

components are as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter . Total
: {Armounts in thousands) .

Maturities of the credit:facilities $ 4000 $6000 $8000 310000 $10000° $ —  $38,000
Expecied interest payments under the crediit facilities® 2,441 2,109 1,642 1,040 366 —_ 7,588
Minimum commitments under noncancelable operating leases 2,748 2,261 2,092 1,589 © 1,085 2,132 11,907
"~ Minimum commltments under noncancelable capital leases 14 — — —- — — 14
Note payable—Dyped ¥ 734 638 — - = _ 1,372
Deferred compensation and other 55 47 41 34 406 1n2 1,595
Employment agreements 3,280 1,554 224, 110 116 122 5,456
Total contractual obligations $13282° $12,649  $11,999 "$12,773 " $11,973 . $3.266 $65.942

{1} The expecled interest payments under the credit facrﬂtres reflect an interest rate of 6 75%, which was our weighted average interest rale on ouistanding barruwmgs at

September 18, 2006.

Credit Facilities -
In conjunction with the acquisition of Crosstex, we entered into
amended and restated credit facilities dated as of August 1)
2005 (the 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities"} with a consortium of
United States lenders to fund the cash consideration paid i in
the acquisition and costs associated with the acqursrtlon as’
well as.to modify our existing United States credit facrlrtres.l
The 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities include (i) a six-year $40.0 mil-
lion senior secured amortizing term loan facility and (i} a fn're
year $35.0 million senior secured revolvmg credit facility. In
addition, we agreed to repay the July 31, 2005 outstandrng bor-
rowings of $15,7560,000 under our original term loan facility
within ninety {80) days from the closing. In October 2005, such
amount was repaid primarily through the repatriation of funds
from our féreign subsidiaries. Amounts we repay under the
term loan facility may not be re-borrowed. Additionally, we
incurred debt issuance costs of approximately $1,426,000, of
which $160,000 of third-party costs was recorded in general
and administrative expenses during the three manths endeld
October 31, 2005 in accordance with applicabte accounting

rules. The remaining $1,266,000 of costs was recorded in o:ther

assets and will be amortized over the life of the credit facilities.

Borrowings under the 2005 U.S. Credit Faciities bear mterest
at rates ranging from 0% to 0.75% above the lender's base
rate, or at rates ranging from 1.0% to 2.0% above the London

Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR", depending upon our consoli-
dated ratio of debt to’earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion and amortization, and as further adjusted under the terms
of the 2005 W.S. Credut Facilities (“EBITDA”"). At September 18,
2006, the lender': 's base rate was 8. 25% and the LIBOR rates
ranged from 5.50% to 5.53%: The margins applicable to our

. outstanding borrowings at September 18, 2006 were 0.00%

above the lender’s base rate and 1.25% above LIBOR. Substan-
tially all of our outstanding borrowings were under LIBOR con-
tracts at Septernber 18, 2006. The 2005 U.S. Credit Facrlltres
also provide for fees on the unused portion of our facilities ~

at rates ranging from 0.20% to 0.40%, depending upon our
consolidated ratio of debt to EBITDA, such rate was 0.25%

at September 18, 20086.

The 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities require us to meet certain finan-

cial covenants and are secured by (i) substantially all of our U.S.- )

based assets (including assets of Cantel, Minntech, Mar Cor
and Crosstex) and (i) our pledge of all of the outstanding shares

of Minntech, Mar Cor and Crosstex and 65% of the outstand-

ing shares of our foreign-based subsidiaries. In June 2006,
Crosstex obtained a 600,000 eure standby letter of credit from
its former bank relating to a fixed asset being constructed for
Crosstex. Subsequent to July 31, 2006, a waiver was received
from our lenders permitting the standby leiter of credit. We are
in compliance with all financial and other covenants under the
2005 U.S. Credit Facilities.
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On July 31, 2006, we had $38,000,000 of outstanding borrow-
ings under the 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities all of which was
under the United States term loan facility. In July 2006, we ter-
minaied our Canadian-based senior secured revolving credit
facility with a Canadian bank due to the July 31, 2006 sale of
subétantially all of Carsen's assets. :

Operating Leases ‘

Minimum commitments under operating leases include mini-
mum rental commitments for our leased manufacturing facili-
ties, warehouses, office space and equipment.

Rent expense related to operating leases for fiscal 2006 was
recorded on a straight-line basis and aggregated $2,881,000
(including rent expense attributable to our Dental segment
of approximately $782,000) compared with $2,024,000 and
$1,703,000 for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. The fiscal
2006, 2005 and 2004 amcunts exclude rent expense related
to our discontinued operations.

Capital L eases

Minimum commitments under capital leases are for four trucks
used in our Water Purification and Filtration business. The
aggregate cost of the four trucks was approximately $122,000.
At July 31, 2006 and 2005, the net book value included in prop-
erty and equipment was approximately $12,000 and $41,000,
respectively.

Dyped Note Payable and Cther Long-Term Liabilities

In conjunction with the Dyped acquisition on September 12,
2003, we issued a note with a face value of €1,350,000
{$1,505,000 using the exchange rate on the date of the acqui-
sition). At July 31, 2008, approximately $1,372,000 of this note
was 'outstanding using the exchange rate on July 31, 2006.
Such note is non-interest bearing and has been recorded at
its present value of $1,282,000 at July 31, 2006. The current
portion of this note is recorded in accrued expenses and the
remainder is recorded in other long-term liabilities.

Also included in other long-term liabilities are deferred com-
pensation arrangements for certain former Minntech directors
and officers, '

Financing Needs

In fiscal 2008, we repatriated $46,872,000 of existing accu-
mulated profits from our international subsidiaries, of which
$44,872,000 came from our discontinued operations. Most of
such repatriations were used for debt repayment. At July 31,
2006, we had a cash balance of $29,898,000.

We believe that our current cash position, anticipated cash
flows from operations, and the funds available under our
revolving credit facility will be sufficient to satisfy our cash
operating reguirements for the foreseeable future based upon
our existing operations. At September 18, 20086, the entire
$35,000,000 under our United States revolving credit facility
was available. |

Repurchase of Shares

In April 2006, our Board of Directors approved the repurchase
of up to 500,000 shares of our outstanding Common Stock.
Under the repurchase program we repurchase shares from
time-to-time at prevailing prices and as permitted by applicable
securities laws (including SEC Rule 10b-18) and New York
Stock Exchange requirements, and subject to market condi- -
tions. The repurchase program has a one-year term ending
Apfil 12,2007.

The first purchase under our repurchase program occurred on
April 19, 2006. Through-July 31, 2006, we had completed the
repurchase of 303,000 shares under the repurchase program.

The following table summarizes the repurchase of Common
Stock under the repurchase program during fiscal 2006:

Total Maximum Number
Average Number of Shares That May

Price Paid of Shares Yet Be-Purchased
Month Per Share Purchased Under the Program
April $14.63 123.300 316,700
May $14.08 43,800 332,900
June $13.89 110,400 222,500
July $14.30 25,500 167,000

303,000

Through September 18, 2006, we had completed the purchase
of 349,600 shares under the repurchase program at a total
average price per share of 314,14, Therefore, at September 18,
2006, the maximum number of shares that may be purchased
under the program are 150,400 shares.

Foreign Currency

-During fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005, the average value

of the Canadian dollar increased by approximately 7.7% relative
to the value of the United States dollar. Changes in the value of
the Canadian dollar against the United States doltar affect our

results of operations principally for the follqwing reasons:

(i) Our Canadian subsidiaries {which are included in the
Specialty Packaging and Water Purification and Filtration
segments} purchase a portion of their inventories in United
States dollars and sell a significant amount of their prod-
ucts in United States dollars and therefore are exposed to
realized foreign currency gains and lossgs upon payment
of such payables and the collection of such receivables.
Similarly, such United States denominated assets and lia-
bilities must be converted into their functional Canadian
currency when preparing their financial statements, which
results in realized foreign exchange gains and losses. The
increase in the average value of the Canadian doliar, as
explained above, primarily resulted in gains for such liabili-
ties and losses far such assets. Since our Canadian sub-
sidiaries had more assets than liabilities denominated in
United States dollars, the increase in the average value of
the Canadian dollar had an adverse affect on their resulis
of operations in fiscal 2006.
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(i) The results of operations of our Canadian subsidiaries are
translated from their functional Canadian currency to
United States dollars for purposes of preparing our con-
solidated financial statements. The increase in the average
value of the-Canadian dollar, as explained above, had an
overall positive impact upon our results of operations due
to translating the-results of operations in fiscal 2006 at a:
higher average currency exchange rate as compared.with
the average currency exchange rate used to translate the
results of operations in fiscal 2006,

Durrng frscal 2006, such strengthenrng of the Canadran dollar
relative to the United States dollar had an overall positive |mpact
upon our results of operations (including the drscon‘unuedF
operations.) With respect to our continuing operations, there
was an overall adverse impact.

During fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005, the value of the
euro decreased by approximately 3.8% relative te the value
of the United States dollar. Changes in the value of the eurg’

|
against the United States dollar affect our results of operations-

ior the following reasons:

{i) Our Netherlanags subsidiary (which is reported in our Dilar-
ysis and Endoscope Reprocessing segments) maintains
a portion of its cash in United States'dollars, sells some} of
its products in United Statés dollars and pays variou$ Ira
bilities in United States dollars. Therefore, it is exposed to
realized foreign currency gains and losses upon activity in
such dollar cash accounts, collection of such receivables
and payment of such liabilities. Similarly, such United
States denominated assets and liabilities must be con:
verted info their functional euro currency when prepar'rrpg
their financial statements, which results in realized foreign
exchange gains and losses. The decrease in the average -
value of the euro, as explained above, prrmarrly resulted in "
losses for such liabilities and gains for such assets. Since
our Netherlands subsidiary had more assets than liabilities
denominated in United States dollars, the decrease in the
average value of the euro had an overall positive affect on
our results of operations in fiscal 2006.

(i) The' results of operat;ons of our Netherlands subsidiary, -
are translated from its functional euro currency to United
States dollars for the purpose of preparing our consolidated
financial statements. The decrease in the average velue of’
the euro, as explained above, had an overall positive imlpact
upon our results of operations due to translating the fiscal
2006 results of operatrons (whrch had an overall loss) at a
lower average currency exchange rate as.compared wrth
the average currency exchange rate used to translate tlhe

. fiscal 2005 results of operations (which also had an over-
all loss). '

During fiscal 20086, such weakening of the euro relative to the
United States dollar had an overall positive impact upon our
results of operations. ’ e,

R

In order to hedge against the impact of fluctuations in the value
of the euro relative to the United States dollar on the conversion
of such dollar denominated net assets into functional currency,
we enter into short-term contracts to purchase euros forward,
which contracts are generally one' month in duration. These .
short-term coniracts are designated as fair value hedges. Due
to the insignificant net amount of assets and liabilities of our-
Netherlands subsidiary denominated in United States dollars

at Septembar 18, 2006, we did not have any foreign currency
forward contracts on thai date. Under our credit facilities, such
contracts to purchase euros may not exceed $12,000,000 in an
aggregate notional amount at any time. During fiscal 2006, such
forward contracts were effective in offsetting most of the impact
of the weakening of the euro on our results of operations.

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Stand-
ards ("SFAS") No. 133, as amended, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (*SFAS 133"), all of our for-
eign currency forward contracts were designated as hedges.
Gains and losses related to the hedging contracts to buy euros
forward are |mmedrately realized within general and adminis-
tratrve expenses due to the short term nature of such contracts.

For purposes of translating the balance sheet at July 31, 2006
compared with July 31, 2005, the value of the Canadian dollar
increased by approximately 8.2% and the value of the euro
increased by approximately 5.2% compared with the value of
the United States dollar. The total of these currency movements
resulted in a foreign currency translation gain of $1,004,000

. during fiscal 2006 after adjusting for the realization of the cumu-

lative translation adjustment related to our discontinued opera-
tions, thereby increasing stockholders’ equity.

Changes in the value of the Japanese yen relative to the -
United States dollar during fiscal 2006 compared with fisca!
2005 did not have a significant impact upon either our results
of operations or the translation of our balance sheet, primarily
due to thefact that our Japanese subsidiary accounts for a
relatively small portion of consolidated net sales, net income
and net assets.

Inflation

During fiscal 2005 we experienced hrgher maierials, labor,

and distribution costs compared with fiscal 2005, which cost
increases were in excess of the general rate of inflation. We
implemenied price increases for certain of our products which
partially offset these cost increases; howaver, our pre-existing
businesses (primarily the Dialysis and Water Purification and
Filtration segmenis) were unable to obtain higher selling prices
as more fully described in “Results of Operations.”

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and -
results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accouniing principles generally accepted in the United States.
The preparation of these financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
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of assets, liabilities, net sales and expenses, and related disclo-
sure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis,
we continually evaluate our estimates. We base cur estimates
on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readity
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates. . :

We believe the following critical accounting pelicies affect our
more significant judgments and estimates used in the prep-
aration of our Consolidated Financial Statements. Although.
Carsen was réported as discontinued operations in fiscal 2006,
the Endoscopy and Surgical, Scientific and related portion of
the Endoscope Reprocessing operating segments adhered to
our critical accounting policies described below.

Revenue Recognition

- Revenue on product sales (excluding certain sales of endoscope

reprocessing equipment in the United States) is recognized as
products are shipped to customers and title passes. The pass-
ing of title is determined based upon the FOB terms specified
for each shipment. With respect to dialysis, therapeutic, spe-
cialty packaging and a poriion of endoscope reprocessing

‘products, shipment terms are generally FOB origin for com-

mon carrier and FOB destination when our distribution fleet

is utilized {except for one large customer in dialysis whereby all
products are shipped FOB destination). With respect to endos-
copy and surgical, water purification and filiration, scientific
products and dental products, shipment terms may be either

" FOB origin or destination, Customer acceptance for the major-

ity of our product sales occurs at the time of delivery. In ceriain
instances, primarily with respect to some of our water purifi-
cation and fittration eguipment and an insignificant amount of
our sales of dialysis equipment and scientific products, post-.
delivery obligations such as installation, in-servicing or training
are contractually specified; in such instances, revenue recogni-
tion is deferred until alt of such conditions have been substan-
tially fulfilled such that the products are deemed functional by
the end-user. With respeci to a portion of endoscopy and sur-
gical, water purification and filtration and scientific product
sales, equipment is sold as part of a system for which the
equipment is functionally interdependent or the customer's
purchase order specifies *ship-complete” as a condition of
delivery: revenue recognition on such sales is deferred until

all equipment has been delivered.

With respect o a portion of endoscopy and surgical sales

(all of which-is part of the discontinued operations), we enter
into arrangements whereby revenue is immediately recognized-
upon the transfer of equipment to customers who payona -
cost per procedure basis, subject to minimum menthly pay-
ments. Such arrangernents are non-cancelable by the customer
and provide for a bargain purchase option by the customer at
the conclusion of the term. All direct costs related to these
transactions are recorded at the time of revenue recognition.

Some of such transactions also provide for future servicing of
the equipment, which service revenue component is deferred
and recognized over the period that such services are pro-
vided. With respect to these multiple element arrangements,
revenue is allocated to the equipment and service components
based upon vendor specific objective evidence which princi-
pally includes comparable historical iransactions of simifar
eguipment and service sold as stand-alone components.

Sales of a majority of our endoscope reprocessing equipment
to a third-party. distributor in the United States are recognized
on a bill and hold basis. Such sales satisfy each of the follow-
ing criteria: (i) the risks of ownership have passed to the third-
ﬂparty distributor; (ii) the third-party distributor must provide a
written purchase order committing to the purchase of speci-
fied units; (i) the bill and hold arrangement was specifically
requested by the third-party distributor for the purpose of mini-
mizing the impact of multiple shipments of the units: (iv) the
third-party disttibutor provides specific instructions for ship-
ment to customers, and completed units held by us for the
third-party distributor generally do not exceed three months
of anticipated shipments; {v) we have no further performance
obligations with respect to such units; (vi) completed units
are invoiced to the third-party distributor with 30 day payment
terms and such receivables are generally satisfied within such
terms; and (vii} completed units are ready for shipment and
segregated in a designated section of our warehouse reserved

.only for the third-party distributor. Due to the termination of the

Minntech/Olympus distribution agréement on August 1, 2008,
future sates will no longer be made on a bill and hold basis,

Revenue on service sales is recognized when repairs are com-
pleted at the customer’s location or when repairs are completed
at our facilities and the products are shipped to customers.
Al shipping and handling fees invoiced to customers, such as
freight, are recorded as revenue (and related costs are included
within cost of sales) at the time the saie is recognized.

None of our sales, including the bili and hold sales arrange-
ment, contain right-of-return provisions, and customer claims
for credit or return due to damage, defect, shortage or other
reason must be pre-approved by us before credit is issued or
such product is accepted for return. No cash discounts for
early payment are offered except with respect to,a small por-
tion of our sales of dialysis and dental products and certain
prepaid packaging products. We do not offer price protection,
although advance pricing contracts or required notice periods
prior to implementation of price increases exist for certain.
customers with respect to many of our products. With respect
to certain of cur dialysis, endoscope reprocessing and dental
customers, volume rebates and irade-in allowances are pro-
vided; such volume rebates and trade-in allowances are provided
for as a reduction of sales at the time of revenue recognition
and amounted to $1,.216,000, $748,000 and $1,035,000 in fiscal
20086, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Included in the volume
rebates for fiscg-;l 2006 is approximately $1,157,000 in volume
rebates as a result of the addition of dental products, ofiset by
cancellation during the three months ended October 31, 2005
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of a volume rebate program resulting from consolidation injthe
dialysis industry. Such allowances are determined based on
estimaied projections of sales volume and trade-ins for the
entire rebate agreement periods. Trade-in allowances were
not significant during fiscal 2006. If it becomes known that

sales volume to customers will deviate from ariginal projec-
tions, the volume rebate provisions originally established
would be adjusted accordingly.

The majority of our dialysis products are sold to end-users: the
majority of therapeutic filtration products, endoscope repro-
cessing products and services, and dental products are sold to

third-party distributors; the majority of endoscopy and surglcal )

products and services are sold directly to hospitals: the maJor
ity of water purification and filtration products and serwceq are
sold directly and through third-party distributors to hospita[s.
dialysis clinics, pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
and other end-users; scientific products and services are sokj
{0 hospitals, laboratories and other end-users; and specnalty
packaging preducts are sold to third-party distributers, medl_lcal
research companies, laboratories, pharmaceutical companies,
hospitals, government agencies and other end-users. Sales to
all of these customers foliow our revenue recognition polumes
Due 1o the direct distribution of our endoscope reprocessmg
products in the United States cemmencing in fiscal 2007, tlhe
majority of our endoscope reprocessing products and services
will be sold directly to hospitals and other end-users.

Accounts Receivable and Aliowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable consist of amounis due to us from normal
business activities.” Allowances for doubtful accounts are
reserves for the estimated loss from the inability of customers
to make required payments. We use historical experience és
well as current market information in determining the estin!uate.
While actual losses have historically been within management's
expectations and provisions established, if the financial con-
dition of our custemers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their-ability to make payments, additional allow-

ances may be required. Alternatively, if certain customers paid

their delinquent receivables, reductions in allowances mas}
be required.

inventories
inventories consist of products which are sold in the ordinary
course of our business and are stated at the lower of cost
{first-in, first-out) or market. In assessing the value of inven-
tories, we must make estimaies and judgments regarding
reserves required for product obsolescenice, aging of inverlw-'
tories and other issues potentially affecting-the saleable con-
dition of preducis. In perforr_ning such evaluations, we us?
historical experience as well as current market informatioln.
With few exceptions, the saleable value of our inventories Ihas
historically been within management's expectation and pr0vi
sions established, however, rapid changes in the market due
to competition, technology-and various other factors could
have an adverse eifect on the saleable value of cur mventﬁnes.
resulting in the need for additional reserves.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Certain of our identifiable intangible assets. including customer
relationships, brand names, technology, non-compete agree-
ments and patents, are amortized on the straight-line methed
over their estimated useful lives which range from 3 to 20 years.
Additionally, we have recorded goodwill and trademarks and
trade names, ail of which have indefinite useful lives and are
therefore not amortized, All of our intangible assets and good-
will are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes.
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable, and goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment at least annu-
ally. Our management is primarily responsible for determining
if impairment exists and considers a number of factors, includ-
ing third-party valuations, when making these determinations.
In performing a review for goodwill impairment, management
uses a two-step process that begins with an estimation of the
fair value of the related operating segments. The first step is

a review for potential impairment, and the second siep meas-
ures the amount of impairment, if any. In performing our
annual review for indefinite lived intangibles, management
compares the current fair value of such assets to their carrying
values. With respect to amortizable intangible assets when
impairment indicators are present, management would deter-
mine whether non-discounted cash flows would be sufficient
to recover the carrying value of the assets; if not, the carrying
value of the assets would be adjusted to their fair value. On
July 31, 2006, management concluded that none of our intangi-
ble assets or goodwill was impaired. While the results of these
annual reviews have historically not indicated impairment,
impairment reviews are highly deperident on management's
projections of our future operating results which management
believes to be reasonable.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets including
property, equipment and.other assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. An assessment is made to determine if the
sum of the expected future non-discounied cash flows from
the use of the assets and eventua! disposition is less than the .
carrying value. If the sum of the expected non-discounted cash
flows is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is rec-
cgnized based cn fair value.’ With few exceptions, our historical

" assessments of our long-lived assets have not differed signifi-

cantly from {he actual amounts realized. However, the determi-
nation of fair value requires us to make certain assumptions
and estimates and is highly subjective, and accordingly, actual
amounts realized may differ significantly from our estimate.

Warranties

We provide for estimated costs that may be incurred to remedy
deficiencies of quality or performance of our products at the
time of revenue recognition, Most of our products have a one
year warranty, although a majority of our endoscope repro-
cessing equipment in the Unifed States may carry a warranty
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period of up to fifteen months. We record provisions for prod-
uct warranties as a component of cost of sales based upon
an estimate of the amounts necessary to settle existing and
future claims on products sold. The historical relationship of
warranty costs to products sold is the primary basis for the
estimate. A significant increase in third-barty service repair
raies, the cost and availability of parts or the frequency of
claims coutd have a material adverse impact on cur results
far the peri‘od or periods in which such claims or additional

costs materialize. Management reviews iis warranty exposure

periodically and believes that the warranty reserves are ade-

. Quate;.nowever, a(mfﬁl Claims,incurredicou Id|d|ffergfrom¢ong| o

nal estimates, requiring adjustments to the reserves.

Stock-Based Compensation
On August 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123R using the
modified prospective method for the transition. Under the
maodified prospective method, stock compensation expense
will be recognized for any option grant or stock award granted
on or after August 1, 2005, as well as the unvested portion of
stock options granted prior to August 1, 2005, based upon the
_award's fair value. For fiscal 2005 and earlier periods, we have
accounied for stock aptions using the intrinsic value method
under which stock compensation expense is not recognized
because we granted stock options with exercise prices equal
to the market value of the shares at the date of grant.

Most of our stock options are subject to graded vesting in which
portions of the option award vest at different times during the
vesting period, as opposed to awards that vest at the end of
the vesting period. We recognize compensation expense for
options subject to graded vesting using the straight-line basis,
reduced by estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at
the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent peri-
ods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures
are estimated based on historical experience.

The stock-based compensation expense recorded in our Consol-
idated Financial Statements may not be representative of the
effect of stock-based compensation expense in future pericds
due to the level of options issued in past years (which level
may not be similar in the future), assumptions used in deter-
mining fair value, and estimated forfeitures. We estimate the
fair value of each option grant on the date of grant using the -
Black-Scholes option valuation model. The determination of
fair value using an option-pricing mode! is affected by our
stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of sub-
jective variables. These variables include, but are not limited
to, the expected stock price volatility over the term of the
option grant (which is determined by using the historical ¢los-
ing prices of aur Common Stock), the expected dividend yield
{which is expected to be 0%), and the expected option life
(which is based on historical exercise behavior). If factors
change and we employ different assumptions in the applica-
tion of SFAS 123R in future periods, the compensation expense
that we would record under SFAS 123R may differ significanily
from what we have recorded in the current period.

Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

We recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities,
such as costs to terminate a contract, the exit or disposal of
a business, or the early termination of a leased property, by
recognizing the liability at fair value when incurred, except

for certain one-time termination benefits, such as severance
cosis, for which the period of recognition begins when a sev-
grance plan is communicated to employees.

Inherent in the calculation of liabilities relating to exit and
disposal actnntnes are S|gnn‘n:ant management Judgments and.

net cash payments. Such judgments and estimates are reviewed
by us on a regular basis. The cumulative effect of a change

to a liability resulting from a revision to either timing or the
amount of estimated cash flows is recognized by us as an
adjustment to the liability in the period of the change.

Although we have historically recorded minimal charges asso-
ciated with exit or disposal activities, we recorded approximately
$1,329,000 of severance costs in ircome from discontinued
operations in fisca! 2006 related to the sale of substantially all
of Carsen’s asseis.

Legal Proceedings .

In the normal course of business, we are subject to pending
and threatened legal actions. We record legal fees and other
expenses related to litigation as incurred. Additionally, we
assess, in consuitation with our counsel, the need to record
a liability for litigation and contingencies on a case by case
basis. Amounts are accrued when we, in consuttation with
counsel, determine that a liability has been incurred and an
amount of aniicipated exposure can be reasonably estimated.

Income Taxes .

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on dif-
ferences between the financial statement carrying amounts
and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets -
and liabilities also include items recorded in conjunction with
the purchase accounting for business acquisitions. We regu-
larly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and
establish a valuation allowance, if necessary, based on histori-
ca! taxable income, projected future taxable income, and the -
expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differ-
gnces. Although realization is not assured, management
believes it is more likely than not that the recorded deferred
tax assets will be realized. Additicnally, deferred tax liabilities
are regularly reviewed to confirm that such amounts are ’
appropriately stated. Such.a review considers known future
changes in various effective tax rates, principally in the United.
States. If the United States effective tax raie were to change

in the future, cur items of deferred tax could be materially
affected. All of such evaluations require significant manage-
ment judgments.
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It is our policy to esteblish reserves for exposures as a resullt
of an examination by tax authorities. We establish the reserves
based primarily upen management s assessment of exposure
associated with acqmred companies and permanent tax dlf '
ferences. The tax reserves are analyzed periodically (at Ieast
annually) and adjustments are made, as events occur to war-

rant adjustment to the reserves. The majority of our income
tax reserves originated from acquisitions.

Business Combinaltions

Acquisitions require significant estimates and judgments related -

to the fair value of dSsets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Certain liabilities are subjective in nature. We reflect such ||Ia
brht|es based ‘upon the most recent mformatlon avallable In
TP E ol M

conjunctlon Wwith our acqursmons such® Subjectlve I|ab|ht|es
principally include certarn income tax and sales and use tax
exposures, including tax labilities related to our foreign sub
sidiaries. The ultimate settlement of such liabilities may be
for amounts which are different from the amounts recordefi

Other Matters
We do not have any off balance sheet financial arrangements.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Foreign Currency and Market Risk

A portion of our products are imperted from the Far East and
Western Europe. All of our operating segmenis sell a port|on
of their products outside of the United States and our Nether-
lands subsidiary sells a portion of its products outside of the
European Union, Consequenily, our business could be maten-
ally affected by the imposition of trade barriers, fluctuations

[
in the rates of exchange of various currencies, tariff incredses

and import and export restnctlons affecting the United States,
Canada and the Netherlands.

A portion of our Canadian subsidiaries’ inventories (which|are
reported in the Water Purification and Filtration and Specuialty
Packaging segments) are purchased in the United States Iand
a significant amount of their sales are to customers in tlpe
United States. The businesses of our Canadian subsidiarlies
could be materially and adversely affected by the imposition
of trade barriers, fluctuations in the rate of currency exchénge,
tariff increases and import and export restrictions between
the United States and Canada. Additionally, the financial state
ments. of our Canadian subsidiaries are translated using the
accounting polsmes described in Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. Fluctuations in the rates of currency
exchange between the United States and Canada had an over-
all positive impact in fiscal 2006 compared with fiscal 2005
{including our discontinued operations), and in fiscal 2005

" compared with fiscal 2004, upon our resulis of operation§ and

stockholders’ equity, as described in our MD&A. With res'bect
to our continuing operations, there was an overall adverse
impact for the above periods.
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Changes in the value-of the euro against the United States
dollar affect our results of operations because a portion df_the
net assets of our Netherlands subsidiary.(which are reported

* in our Dialysis and Endoscope Reprocessing segments) are

denominated and ultimately settled in United States dollars

but must be converted into its functional euro currency. Addi-
tionally, financial statements of the Netherlands subsidiary are
translaied using the accounting policies described in Noie 2
to the Consolidated Financia! Statements. Fluctuations in the
rates of currency exchange between the Euro and the United
States dollar had an overall positive impact for fiscal 2006
compared with fiscal 2005, and an overall adverse effect in
fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal 2004, upon our results of
operations as described in our MDAA, and had a positive .
impact upon stockholders' equity. \

In order to hedge against the impact of fluciuations in the value
of the eurc relative to the United States dollar, we enter into
short-term contracts to purchase euros forward, which con-
tracts are generally one month in duration. These short-term
contracts are designated as fair value hedge instruments. Due
to the insignificant net amount of assets and liabilities of our
Netherlands subsidiary denominated in United States dollars
at July 31, 2006, we were not entered into any foreign currency
forward contracis. However, under our credit {acilities, such
contracts to purchase euros may not exceed $12,000,000 in an
aggregate notional amount at any time. Ouring fiscal 2006, such
forward contracts were effective in offsetting most of the impact
of the weakening of ihe euro on our results of operations.

The functional currency of Minntech's Japan subsidiary is the
Japanese yen. Changes in the value of the Japanese yen rela-
tive to the United States dollar during fiscal 2006 and 2005 did
not have a significant impact upon either our results of opera-
tions or the translation of the balance sheet, primarily due to the
fact that our Japanese subsidiary accounts for a relatively small
portion of consolidated net sales, net income and net assets,

Interest Rate Market Risk

We have a United States credit fdciiity for which the interest
rate on outstanding borrowings is variable. Therefore, interest
expense is principally affected by the general level of interest
rates in the United States. ’

Market Risk Sensitive Transactions
We are exposed to market risks arising principally from adverse
changes in interest rates and foreign currency.

. With respect to interest rate risk, our.outstanding debt is under

our United States credit {acilities, described elsewhere in
Liquidity and Capital Resources. Such credlt facilities consist
of outstanding debt with fixed repayment amounts at prevail-
ing market rates of interest, principally for LIBOR contracts.
Therefore, our market risk with respect to such debt is the
increase in interest expense which would result from higher
interest rates associated with LIBOR. Such outstanding debt
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under our Unitad States credit facilities was $38,000,000 and
$15,750,000 at July 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, and the

"average outstanding balance during fiscal 2006 and 2005 was

approximately $63,596,000 and $19,577,000, respectively. A 100
basis-point increase in average LIBOR interest rates would
have resulted in incremental interest expense of approximately
$636,000 and $196,000 during fiscal 2006 and 2005, respec-
tively. Presently, we do not utilize any interest rate derivatives.
Qur other long-term liabilities would not be materially affected
by an increase in interest rates. We also maintained a signifi-
cant cash balance of $29,898,000 at July 31, 2006 which is
invested in low risk cash equivalents at prevailing market rates
of interest. An increase in interest rates would generate addi-
tional interest income for us which would partially offset the
adverse impact of the additional interest expense.

With respect to fereign currency exchange rates, we are prin-
cipally impacted by changes in the Canadian dollar and the
Euro as these currencies relate to the United Staies doliar. In
order to minimize the potential adverse impact of unfavorable
movements in foreign currencies, we typically utilize foreign
currency forward contracts. We use a sensitivity analysis to
assess the market risk associated with our foreign currency
transactions. Market risk is defined here-as the potential
change in-fair value resulting ffom an adverse movemenitin: - -
foreign currency éxchange rates.

Qur Canadian subsidiaries and Netherlands subsidiary have net
assets in currencies {principally United Staies dollars) other
than their tunctional Canadian and Euro currency which must
be converted into its functional currency, thereby giving rise

to realized foreign exchange gains and losses. Therefore, our
Canadian subsidiaries and Netherlands subsidiary is exposed
to risk if the value of the Canadian dollar or Euro appreciates
relative to the United States dollar. However, an insignificant
amount of such net assets existed at July 31, 2006 and there-
fore a 10% increase in the Canadian dollar or Euro relative to
the United States dollar would result in an insignificant real-
ized toss. Accordmgly we did not utilize foreign currency for-
ward contracts at July 31, 2006. Additionally, since our foreign
subsidiaries limit the use of foreign currency forward contracts
to the hedging of actual net assets, a loss in fair value for such
instrurnents generally would be substantiaily offset by a gam

in the value of the underlying net assets. :

In addition to the above, adverse changes in foreign currency
exchange rates impact ihe translation of our financial state-
menis (adverse changes would be caused by depreciation of
either the Canadian dollar or the Euro relative to the United
States dollar assuming that such operations are profitable).

. For fiscal 2006 and 2005, a uniform 10% adverse movement in
" foreign currency rates would have resulted in realized losses

(after tax) of approximately $231,000 and $11,000, respectively,
due to the translation of the results of operations of foreign
subsidiaries. Furthermore, a 10% adverse movement in foreign

currency rates could result in an unrealized loss of $3,212,000
and $3,216,000 at July-31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. on our
net investment in foreign subsidiaries. However, since we view
these investments as long-term, we would not expect such a
loss to be realized in the near term..

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND .
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. . : .-

T

See Index to Consofidated Financial Statements, which is Item
15(a), and the Consolidated Financial Statements and schedule
included in this Report.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

We maintain disciosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Rules 13a-15{e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) designed

to ensure that information required to be dtsclosed in our

Exchange Act reports.issrecarded;. processet rizedjand, g
reportedTWItwmrmﬁ X byath SECand

such infermation is aceumulatéd and communicatedto’ our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosures,

Management's Report on Internatl Control over
Financial Reporting

The management of Cantel Medical Corp. is responsibie for’
establishing and maintaining adeguate internal control over
financial reporting for the Company. The Company's internal
control over financial reporting is designed to provide reason-
able assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial staterments for external pur-
poses in accordance with United States generally accepted
accounting principles. The Company's internal control over
fmanual reporting mcludes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the marntenance of records that in reasonable
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company,

(i} provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
" recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with authorizations of manage-
ment and directors of the Company, and

(i} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

" timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispo-
sition of the Company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finan-
cial reporiing may not prevent or detect misstatements. Als!o.
" projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become mrad
equate because of changes in condition, or that the degree
of comptiance with the policies and procedures included in

. such controls may deteriorate.

We, under the supervision and with the participation of our
Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, carri'i'ed
out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting based on the framework and criterfa
established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework, |
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, the Ch|ef|
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer each con-
cluded that our internal control over financial reporting was
effective as of July 31, 2006. However, the fiscal 2006 acquum
tions of Crosstex and Fluid Solutions were excluded from that
evaluation since the acquisitions occurred during f|scal 2005
and were not requlred to be included.

Qur assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control|over
financial reporting, as of July 31, 2006, has been audited by

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accoupting
firm, as stated!in th?ir attestation report which is included below.

Changes in Interr]:llal Control

We have evaluated our internal controls over financial reporting
and determined that no changes occurred during the peri(IJd
covered. by this Report that have materially-affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting, except as described below.

On August 1, 2005, which was the first.day of fiscal 2006, we
acquired Crosstex, as more fully described in Note 3to thé
Consolidated Financial Statements and in the MD&A. In fiiscal
2006, Crosstex represen‘ted a material portion of our sales:, net
income and net assets. In conjunction with the due diligence
performed by us in connection with this acquisition, we deter-
mined that the overall internal control environment of Cro;sstex
contained a number of significant deficiencies. some aof which
rise to the level of material weaknesses. Some of the more

. significant internal contrel weaknesses included the lack <:>f
segregation of duties, the need to hire a principal financiall
and accounting officer, numerous lirmitations with respect to
the management information systems, lack of application of
GAAP in certain aspects of financial reporting, and substan. -
dard monthly closing procedures.-

We believe we have remedied the majority of the more signifi-
cant internal control weaknesses at Crosstex. In order to a#hieve
these objeciives, we took a number of steps including hiring,
during the period covered by this report, a principal financial

and accourting oificer at Crosstex in October 2005, formaliz-
ing the monthly closing procedures and timing, and ensuring
consistent and complete application of GAAP. Additionally, we
have implemented a:number of additional internal control pro-
cedures designed to ensure the completeness and accuracy
of reported financial infermation, including periodic physical
inventories, monthly account analyses and gquarter-end field
reviews by representatives of Cantel's financial and accounting

staff. We are relying extensively on detect controls with respect
to reported month-end financial information until such time
that appropriate prevent controls can be implemented, We have
evaluated the management information systems at Crosstex

" and have selecied a replacement of the existing system. The

implementation process of this new system has recently com-
menced and is expecied to be completed late in fiscal 2007
Since the acquisition, significant improvements have already '
been made in the overall Crossiex internal control environment
and wil! continue to be made throughout fiscat 2007. The most
5|gmf|cant changes anticipated for fiscal 2007 are the imple-
mentation of a new managemery |nformat|on system as dis-
cussed above and continued strengthening of the accounting
and financial staff at Crosstex by hiring additionai personnel,
However, no assurances can be given that the implementation
of the new management information system will be completed
during fiscal 2007 and that such related controls will be oper-
ating effectively by July 31, 2007, '

During February 2006, we compleied remediation efforts -
related to improving segregation of duties and access con-
trols in the general information technology processes at our
Minntech subsidiary. o

Attestation Report of Independent Reglstered Public
Accounting Firm

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors’and Stockholders
Cantel Medical Corp.

We have audited management's assessment, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, that Cantel Medical Corp. maintained
effective internal control over financiat reporting as of July 3%
2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
Cantel Medical Corp.'s management is responsible for main-
taining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinicn
on management's assessment and an opinion on the effective-
ness of the company's internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.
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We conducted aur audit in accordance with the standards

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understand-
ing of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating man-
agement's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the cir-
cumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable

_ . basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a pro-
cess designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control
over financlal reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reason-
able detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reason-
able assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary {0
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with autherizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reascnable assurance regard-
ing prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

- Because of its inhierent timitations, internal control over finan-

cial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of com-
pliance with the palicies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management's Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management's
assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting did not include the internal
controls of Crosstex or Fluid Solutions Incorporated, which
were acquired on August 1, 2005 and May 1, 20086, respec-
tively, which are included in the 2006 Consolidated Financial
Statements of Cantel Medical Corp. and which constituted
29% of consolidated net sales of continuing operations for the -
year ended July 31, 2006 and 26% of consolidated total assets
as of July 31, 2006, excluding $38.8 million of cost in excess

of net assets acquired which was recorded as a result of the
Crosstex and Fluid Solutions acquisitions. Our audit of internal
control over financial reperting of Cantel Medical Corp. alsc
did not include an evaluation of the internal control over finan-
cial reporting of Crosstex or Fluid Solutions.

In our opinion, management's assessment that Cantel Medical
Corp. maintained effective internal control over financial report-
ing as of July 31, 20086, is fairly stated, in all material reépects.
based on the COSO criterfa. Also, in our opinion, Cante! Medical
Corp maintained, in all materia! respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2006, based on
the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), -

the consolidated balance sheets of Cante! Medical Corp. as

of July 31, 2006 and 2005 and the related copsolidated;state; et
ments of income, changes in stockholders' equity and com-
prehensive income and cash flows for each of the three years

in the period ending July 31, 2006 of Cantel Medical Corp. and

our report dated October 12, 2006 expressed an unqualified

opinion thereon.
Sanet ¥ MLLP

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION,

MetroPark, New Jersey
October 12, 2006

Nane.

PART 11l

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
OF THE REGISTRANT.

Incorporated by reference {o the Registrant's definitive proxy
statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regufation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act in connection with the
2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Registrant, except
for the following:

We have adopted a Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive
Officer, the Chief Financial Qfficer and other officers and
management personnel that is posted on our website,
www.cantelmedical.com. We intend o satisfy the disclosure
requirement regarding any amendment to, or a waiver of, a
provision of the Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and other officers and management
perscnnel by posting such .information on our website.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION,

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's definitive proxy
statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act in connection with the
2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Regisirant.
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Iteam 12, SECURﬁ'Y OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's definitive proky
statement to be flied with the SEC pursuant {o Regulation 14A
promulgated under the Exchange Act in connection with the
2006 Annual Meetlng of Stockholders of the Registrant.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND
RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant's definitive pro%y

statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant toc Regulation 14A -

promulgated under the Exchange Act in connection with the
2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Registrant,

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES _
'AND SERVICES. 1

Incorporated by reference to the Registrant s definitive proxy

statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A .

promulgated under.the Exchange Act in connection with the
2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Registrant.

g
i -
i
i PARTIV
. tt
ltem 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL
STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(@) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 31, 2006.
1 Consohdated ‘Financial Staternents: ,' -
(i) Report of Independent Registered Public Account
ing Firm.
(i) Consolldated Balance Sheets as of July 31, 2008
and 2005,
(i) Consolidated Statements of Income for the years
ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004. _
{iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stock-
' holders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
for the years ended July 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004,
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the
years ended July 31, 2008, 2005 and 2004.
{vi} Notes to Consclidated Financiat Statements.

2. Consolidated Financial Statermenf Schedules:

(i Schedule Il Valuation énd_ Oualifying Accounts for
the years ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,

All other financial statement schedules are omitted since
they are not required, not applicable, or the information has
been included in the Consolidated Financial Statements o'r
Notes thereto.
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3. Exhibits: :
2(a)—Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 1,

2005 among Registrant; Crosstex International, Inc. and Arlene

Fisher. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 5, 2005 [the ‘
*August b, 2005 8-K™1.)
2(b)—Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 1,

2005 among Registrant, Crosstex International, Inc. and Frank
Richard Orofino, Jr. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2
to Registrant's August 5, 2005 8-K.) _

2{(c)—Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 1,
2005 among Registrant, Crosstex International, Inc. and
Richard Allen Orofino. {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
2.3 to Registrant's August 5, 2005 8-K.)

2(d)—Stock Purchase Agreerent dated as of August 1,
2005 among Registrant, Crosstex International, Inc. and Gary -
Steinberg. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.4 to Regis-
trant's August 5, 2005 8-K.)

2(e)—Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 1,
2005 among Registrant, Crosstex International. Inc. and
Mitchell Steinberg. (incorporated by reference to Exh|b|t 2.5
to Registrant’s August 5, 2005 8-K.)

3(a) Regisirant’'s Restated Certificate of Incorporation
dated July 20, 1978. {Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 3(a) to Registrant's 1981 Annual Report on Form 10-K))

3(b) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
raticn of Registrant, filed on February 16, 1982, {Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3(b) to Registrant’s 1982 Annual
Report on Form 10-K.)

3(c) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on May 4, 1984. (Incorporated herein

by reference to Exhibit 3(c) to Registrant’s Quarterly Report on -

Form 10-Q for the guarter ended April 30, 1984.)

3(d) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of lncorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on August 19, 1986. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3(d) of Registrant's 1986 Annual
Report on Form 10-K.)

3{e) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on December 12, 1986. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3(e).of Registrant’s 1987 Annual
Report on Form 10-K [the 1987 10-K"].) .-

3(f) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo
ration of Registrant, filed on April 3, 1987. (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3{f) of Registrant's 1987 10-K.)

3(g) Certificate of Change of Registrant, filed on July 12,
1988. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(g) of -
Registrant's 1988 Annual Report on Form 10-K.)

3(h) Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant filed on April 17, 1989. (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3(h) to Registrant's 1989 Annual Report
on Form 10-K.)
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3(i)—Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on May 10, 1899. (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3(i) to Registrant's 2000 Annual Report
on Form 10-K [the 2000 10-K"].)

3{j)—Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on April 5, 2000. (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3(j) to Registrani's 2000 10-K.)

3(k)—Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on September 6, 2001, (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 3(k) to Registrant’s 2001 Annual

3())—Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorpo-
ration of Registrant, filed on June 7, 2002. (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3(I) to Registrant's 2002 Annual Report
on Form 10-K [the 2002 10-K"].)

3(m)—~Ceriificate of Amendment of Certificate of incor-
poration of Registrant, filed on December 22, 2005,

3(n) Registrant's By-Laws adopted April 24, 2002. (Incor-
porated herein by reference to Exhibit 3(m) to Registrant’s
2002 10-K.)

10(a) Registrant’s 1991 Direclors’ Stock Option Plan, as
amended. {Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to
Registrant's 1981 Annual Report on Form 10-X [the "1991 10-K™].)

10{b) Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Regis-
trant’s 1891 Directors’ Stock Option Plan. {Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Regisirant's 1991 10-K.)

10{c)—Registrant's 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan.
{Incorporated herein by reference to Annex B to Registrant's
2004 Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A.)

10(d)—Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under
Registrant’s 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan. {Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10(t) to Registrant's 1997 Annual
Report on Form 10-K.}) '

10(e)—Registrant's 1998 Directors’ Stock Qption Plan,
as amended. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10(ee) to Registrant’s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K [the
2005 10-K").}

10(f)—Form of Quarierly Stock Option Agreement under
the Registrant’s 1998 Directors’ Stock Option Plan. (Incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(hh) to Reg|strant $
2000 10-K.)

. 1996, between the Registrant and Charles M. Diker. {Incorpo-

b g e T """"FatedlhereunﬂtﬁTféfé’FFaﬁ'E’eﬁt'lExhrbd 10{x)k0 Reg:strant
. Annual Report on Form 10-K [the "1998 10-K"].}

‘(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 to Minntech’s

10{g)=Form of Annual Stock Option Agreement under
the Registrant's 1998 Directors'’ Stock Option Plan. (Incor-
porated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(ii) to Registrant's
2000 10 K)

10(h)—8tock Optron Agreement, dated as of GCtober 17,

rated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(v) to Reglstrant s 1996
Annual Report on Form 10-K.)

10(i)—>Stock Option Agreement, dated as of October 16,
1997, between the Regisirant and Charles M. Diker. (Incorpo-
Y908

10{))—Stock Optlon Agreement, dated as of October 30,
1998, between the Registrant and Charles M. Diker. {Incorpo-
raied herein by reference to Exhibit 10(ff) to Registrant’s 1999
Annual Report on Form 10-K.}

10(k)—Form of Non-Plan Stock Option Agreement
between the Registrant and Darwin C. Dornbush. (Incorpo-
rated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(y) to Registrant’s
1998 10-K.) '

10()—Stock Option Agreement, dated as of November
14, 2002, between the Registrant and Seth R. Segel. {Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Registrant's October 31,
2002 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.)

10{m)—Minntech Emeritus Director Consulting Plan.

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended June
30, 1895.)

10{m)—Amendment to Emeritus Director Consulting
Plan effective September 26, 1996. (Incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Minntech's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarier ended September 30, 1996.)

10{0)—Minntech Amended and Restated Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan effective April 1, 2000. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibii 10{m}'to Minntech’'s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarier ended July 1, 2000.)

10(p)~~Employment Agreerhent, dated as of August 30,
2004, between the Registrant and Andrew A. Krakauer. (Incor-
porated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated August 30, 2004.)




10(q)——EmpI0yFnent Agreement, dated as oi Noyembe{r
1, 2004, between the Registrant and Craig A. Sheldon. {Incor-
porated herein by reference to Exhibit 1 to Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K dated January 21 2005 [the “January 21
2005 8-K™.) .

10()—Employment Agreement, dated as of Novembel 1,

2004, between the Registrant,and Seth R. Segel. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 2 to Registrant's January 21, 2005 8- ‘fl()
‘IO(s)—Eranoyment Agreement, dated as of November
1, 2004, between the Registrant and Steven C. Anaya. (Incor
porated by reference to Exh:blt 3 to Registrant's January 21,
2005 8-K.) -

10(t)—Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1
2005, between the Registrant and Eric W, Nodiff, (Incorpora'ted
herein by reference to Exhibit 1 to Registrant's Current Report
on Form 8-K dated January 7, 2005.)

10(u)—Employment Agreement, dated as of November
1, 2004, between Minntech Corporation and Roy K. Malkin.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4 to Registrant's
January 21, 2005 8- K)

10(v)—,Emp|oyment Agreement, dated as of August 1
2005, between the Registrant and James P. Reilly, (Incorpo-
rated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant's August 5,
2005 8-K.) - ; _

10{w)—Employment Agreement, dated as of August 1,
2005, between Crosstex International, Inc. and Richard Allen
Orofino. {Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10(x} to
Registrant's 2005 10-K.)

10{x)—Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2005, among
Registrant, Carsen, Olympus America In¢. and Olympus
Surgical & Industrial America, Inc. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 29,1 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated July 28, 2005.)

10(y)—Agreement, dated as of May 16 2006 among
Registrant, Carsen, Olympus America Inc., Olympus Surgica
& Industrial America, Inc., and Clympus Canada Inc. {Incor.
porated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Registrant's Current
Repert on Form 8-K dated May 22, 2006 [the “May 2006 8-K"].)
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" 10(z) —Distributor Agreement between Olympus America

Inc. and Minntech Corporation dated as of August 1, 2003,
{Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{a) to Registrant’s
January 31, 2004 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q)

10(aa)—Asset Purchase Agreement dated May 18, 2006
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10(bb)—Separation, Severance and Consulting Agree-
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(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to Registrant's May
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as of August 1, 2005 among Registrant, Bank of America .
N.A., PNC Bank, National Association, and Wells:Fargo Bank,
National Association {and Banc of America Securities LLC, as
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reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s August 5, 2005 8-K.)
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‘23—Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
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adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
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- report to be signed on its behalf by the undersrgned thereunto duly authorized.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Cantel Medical Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consoiidated balance sheets of Cantel Medical Corp. {and subsidiaries) as of July 31, 2006
and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule

included in the-Index at item 15(a)-These financial statements and:schedule are the responsibility of the Company's' management: =~ - -

Our responsibility is to express an cpinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement, An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statemenits referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of Cantel Medical Corp. (and subsidiaries) at July 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consoiidated resulis of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended July 31, 2008, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken
as a whole, presents fairly in all materlal respects the information set forth therein. :

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, effective August 1, 2005, the Company changed its method of accounting for
stock-based compensation.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States), the
effectiveness of Cantel Medical Corp.'s internal control over financial reporting as of July 31, 2006, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and
our report dated October 12, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

| St ¥ LLP
MetroPark, New Jersey .

" October 12, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

~ (Doﬁar amounts rn thousands except share data)

July 31,
2006 2005
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 29898 $ 33,335
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $929 in 2006 and $737 in 2005 23,718 20,849
Inventories 23,942 13,576
Deferred income taxes 1,481 2.666
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,288 1,040
Assets of discontinued operations 2121 23,024
Total current assets 82,448 94,480
Property and equipment, af cost:
Land, buildings and improvements 19,334 14,245
Furniture and equipment 31,886 17,102
Leasehold improvements ! 807 482
! 52,027 31,829
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (13,923) (9,795)
, 38,104 .. 22,034
Intangible assets, net 43,219 13,215
Goodwill 72,571 33,119
Other assets 1,835 1,353
Assets of discontinged operations — 1,068
! $238,227 $165.279 -
Liabilities and stockholders equity ‘
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt $ 4,000 3§ 15750
Accounts payable 8,062 6,585 -
Compensation payable 4,120 3.983
Earnout payable+ 3,667 —
Accrued expenses 7,633 5,433
Deferred revenue .1,85¢% 1,264
Income taxes payable 2,377 1,769
Liabilities of discontinued operations 7,319 8,691
Totat current liabilities 39,097 . 43475
Long-iérm debt 34,000 —
Deferred income taxes . 22,021 10,401
Other long-term liabilities 2,304 2,677
Liabilities of discontinued operations — 100
Commitments and contingencie’s : — —
Stockholders’ equity:. . o
Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share; authorized 1,000,000 shares; none issued’ —_ —
Comman Stock, par value $.10 per share; aGthorized 30)000,000 shares: issued 2006—16,149,489

shares, outstanding 2006—15 399,102 shares; issued|2005—15,448,941 shares, outstanding 2005—

15,006,382 shares ' 1,615 1,545
Additional capital 69,171 57,4
Retained earnings 69,395 45,698
Accumulated other comprehensive income . 6,715 5,621
Treasury Stock, 2006—750,387 shares at cost; 20056—443,559 shares at cost (6,091) (1,729)

Total stockholders’ equity 140,805 108,626
$238,227 $165,279

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

{Dollar amounis in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net sales:
Product sales ‘ $175,353  $122.681 $110,476
Product service” : 16,826 14,476 12,565
Total net sales . . i ) 192179 137157 123,041
Cost of sales:
Product sales ' 110,417 73,020 68,167
Product service . 12,546 10,256 9936, . .
Total cost of sales 122,963 83276 78,103
Gross profit - 69,216 53.881 443938-,_,,§g-‘7‘$
Expenses; .

Selling 18,530 15,266 14,546

General and administrative 30,225 20,194 16,336

Research and development 5M17 4,099 4,212

Total operating expenses 53,872 39,559 35,004

* - Income from continuing operations before interest, other income and income taxes 15,344 14322 9,844
Inierest expense 4,232 1,448 1,746
Interest income (839) (506) (181)
Other income — - . (68)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes ’ ‘ 11,951 13,382 8,347
Income taxes 5,298 5,487 3,470
Income from continuing operations 6,653 7,895 4877
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 10,268 7,610 5777
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax 6,776 — . —
Net income $ 23697 % 15505 $ 10,654
Earnings per common share: A -

Basic: _
Continuing operations - $ 043 3§ 053 3 034
Discontinued operations 0.66 052 0.41
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations ) 0.44 — —_

_Net income - $ 153 § 105 $ 075

Diluted: ) '

Continuing operations $ 041 § 049 $ 032
Discontinued operations . 0.63 0.47 0.38
Gain on disposal of discontinued cperations 0.42 —_ . —

Net income . ' ‘ $ 146 3% 096 $ 070

See accompanying notes.
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CONSIOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY .

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Doliar armounts ih thousands, except share data)

Years Ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
Common Stock

- Accumulated Total -Total
. Number _ Other ‘Treasury  Stock-  Compre-
' . of Shares Additional Retained Comprehensive  Siock,  holders'  hensive
Outstanding Amount  Capital - Earnings Income atCost  Equity  Income
‘Balance, July 31,2003 - 13,964,052 l$1 437 - 349,155 $19,539 $1.256 | $(1.204) % 70,182
Exercises of options . 647679 - 68 3572 S (443) 3,197
Income tax benefit from exercises of .
stock options . 388 - ' 588
Unrealized gain-¢n interast rate cap, ' oL
= net of $28 in tax expense 55 5% § 5
Unrealized gain on currency hedging, .
net of tax S 1 - . 1 1
Translation adjustment, net of $584 in L
tax expense 1834 . 1,834 1.834
Net income 10,654 T 10,654 10,654
Total comprehensive income for fiscal 2004 : ) : $12.544
Balance, July 31, 2004 14611731 * ;1,505 53315 30,193 3,145 {1,647 . 86511 -
Exercises of options 393,778 40 _k 2,713 . . 82 2731
Income tax benefit from exercises of ‘ . .
- stockoptions | , 1,405 ' 1,405
Fractional share adjustment for stock split {121) ) @ c ‘ @
Unrealized gain on interest rate cap, B :
net of $2 in tax expense 5- 5 % 5
Unrealized gain on currency hedging, . . . -
net of $44 in tax expense 76 ‘ 6, 76
Translation adjustment, net of $999 in
fax expense - . 2,395 : 2,395 2,385
Net income 15,505 15,505 15,505
Total comprehensive income for fiscal 2005 o $17,981
Balance, July 31, 2005 15,005,382 1545 57.491 45,698 5,621 (1729) 108,626
Issuance for Crosstex acquisition 384,821 38 6,699 6,737
Exercises oi options 311,899 32 2,645 (69) 2612 .
Repurchase of shares {303,000) (4,297) {4,29T)
Stpck—based compensation 1,178 : ’ - 1,178
Income tax benefit from exercises of :
stock options i,158 1,158
Unrealized gain on currency hedging, B . .
net of $49 in tax expense a0 90 §. 90
Translation adjustment, net of $476 in _ .
tax expense 1,004 1,004 1,004
Net income 23,697 23697 23697
Total comprehensive income for fiscal 2008 ‘ $24.791
Balance, July 31, 2006 15,399,102  [$1,615  $69171  $69,395 $6,715 - §(6,081) $140,805
See accompanying notes. -
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CdNSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -

(Doliar amounts in thousands)

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities ' ‘ ' . g
Net income - ' : ' $ 23,697 315505 $ 10,654
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash. prov:ded by operatlng activities: : '
.. Depreciation.and amortization .- Tﬂ- R o = 10,183 . -
Stock-based compensation expense - L 17178
Amortization of debt issuance costs ‘ ' . 357 563 541

!
4566 -

2,153

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 168 108 61
impairment of long-lived assets ' ) — 393 1863
Deferred.income taxes {3,136) 3,761 2,729
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensa‘uon (787) — —_
Gain ondisposal of discontinued operations (6,776) — —
Changes in assets and liabilities: )
Accounts receivable 2,982  (1,676) 24
Inventories - (3,114) 458, 665
-Prepaid expenses and other current assets ’ : 285 17 (138}
Assets of discontinued operations ‘ ) - (2,996) (1,733) (2,896)
Accounts payable, deferred revenue and accrued expenses 984 = 2,485 550
Income taxes payable : 134 "{114) 1,643
Liabilities of discontinued operations . {1,138) 296 1,463
Net cash provided by operating activities . 22,061 24,773 19,544
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (6,069) (3.353) /(1 918}
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 147 B 39
Acguisition of Crosstex, net of cash acquired B (68,231) —_ . —
Acquisition of Biolab, net of cash acquired - — - (1782
Acquisition of Mar Cor, net of cash acquired e 7.977)
Acquisition of Dyped. net of cash acquired . . .. ' — = (696}
Acquisition of Saf-T-Pak, nei of cash acquired — — (8.273}
Acquisition of Fluid Solutions, net of cash acguired ' - _ (2,903) = — —
Proceeds from disposal of d|scontrnued operat:ons ' 30,774 - —
Other,net . : ' 332 (281 (89)
Net cash used in investing activities ) ' (45,950) (3.626)  (26,695)
Cash flows from financing activities
Borrowings under term loan facility, net of debt issuance cosis 39,399 — 3,806
Borrowings under revolving credit facilities, net of debt issuance costs ' 27,635 — . 1313
Repayments under term loan facility . + (17,750) (6,250} (3,000) :
Repayments under revolving credit facilities ' (28,300) (30000 (10,151) |
Proceeds from exercises of stock options ) 2,612 2,731 3197 -
Excess tax benefits from siock-based compensation _ : 787 — C—- '
Purchase of treasury stock ' (4,256) — —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities _ 20,127 - (6519 - 7,053
Effect of exchange rate changes cn cash and cash equwalents ) 325 . 845 943
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equwalents i ’ (3,437) 15473 - 844
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year - . 33,335 17,862 17,018

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 29,898 $33,335 $17.862

See accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended July 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

1. Business Desc‘ription

Cantel Medical Corp {(“Cantel") is a feading provider of mfe'c-

tion prevention and control products in the healthcare market,
specializing in the following operating segments: l

+ Dialysis: Medical device reprocessing systems, sterrlants/
disinfectanis, dialysate concentrates and other supplies for
renal dialysis. r;

“EPenial: -Single:use.sinfection-control preducts used pringi-
pally in the dentalimarket including face masks, towels and
bibs, tray covers, saliva ejectors, germicidal wipes, plastllc
cups, sterilization pouches and disinfectants.

* Endoscope Reprocessing: Medical device reprocessing sys-
tems and sterilants/disinfectants for endoscopy. !

» Water Purification and Filtration: Water purification equip-
ment and services, filtration and separation products, and
disinfectants for the medical, pharmaceutical, biotech and
other industrial markets.

« Therapeutic Ftltratron Hollow fiber membrane filtration qnd )

separation technologles for medical applications. (Included
in All Other reporting segment)

+ Specialty Packaglng Specialty packaging and thermal con
trol products, as weII as related compliance training, for the
transport of infectious and hiological specimens and ther

maIIy sensitive pharmaceutical, medical and other products‘

{included in All Other reporting segment)

Most of our equipment, consumahbles and supplies are used
to help prevent the occurrence or-spread of infections.

Cantel had six opérating comoanies during fiscal 2006 due

to the August 1, 2005 acquisition of Crosstex International,
Inc. (“Crosstex”). Minntech Corporation (*Minntech™), Carsen
Group Inc. ("Carsen”}, Mar Cor Purification, Ing. (formerly’
known as Mar Cor Services, tnc.)("Mar Cor"), Saf-T-Pak, Inc.
("Saf-T-Pak"y and Crosstex are wholly-owned operating subsid-
iaries of Cantel. Biolab Equipment Ltd. {"Biolab") is a wholly-
owned operating subsigiary of Carsen. In addition, Minntech
has two foreign subsidiaries, Minntech BV, and Minntech
Japan K.K,, which serve as Minntech's bases in Eurooe and
the Asia/Pacific markets, respectively.

Cn July 31, 2006, Carsen closed the sale of substantially all of
its assets to Olympus America inc. and certain of its affiliates

(collectively, "Olympus”) under an Asset Purchase Agreerr'rent

dated as of May 186, 2006 among Carsen, Cantel and Olympus
as more fully described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Fmancral
Statements. As a result of the foregoing transacticn, Carsen
no longer has any remaining product lines or active busrnless
operations. The businesses of Carsen, previously reported in
the Endoscopy and Surgicai, Endoscope Reprocessing and

All Other reporting segments, are reflected as a discontinlued
operation in our Consolidated Financial Statements and hlawe
been excluded from segment results for all periods presented.

Net sales, cost of sales, operating expenses, interest expense
and income taxes attributable to Carsen's operations have
been aggregated intc a s%n’gle_line. income from discontinued
operations, nei of tax, on the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Additionally, the assets and liabilities related to the
disconiinued operations have been segregated from continu-
ing op’e_rgtjor_rs in th.e Consolidated Balanco Sheets.

On August 1, 2005, Cantel acquired Crosstex, a privately held
company headquartered in Hauppauge, New York, as more fully
described in Note'3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Crosstex is a leading manufacturer and reseller of single-use, .
infection contrel products used principally in the dentat market.
For fiscal 2006, the Crosstex business is reported in a new
reparting segment known as Dental. Because the acquisition
of Crosstex was consummated on August 1, 2005, its results of
operations are not included in fiscal 2005 and 2004. However,
see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for pro
forma information which assumes Crosstex was included in’
our results of operations as of the beginning of fiscal 2005.

In January 2005, we issued 5,095,000 additional shares in
connection with a three-fortwo stock split. This 50% stock
dividend was paid on January 12, 2005 to stockholders of
record on January 5, 2005.. The effect of the stock split has
been recognized retroactively throughout this report.

"ou

Throughout this document, references to "Cantel,” “us,” “we.”

““our,” and the "Company” are references to Cantel Medlcal .

Corp. and its subsidiaries, except where the context makes it
clear the reference is to Cantel itself and not its subsidiaries. -

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of our significant accounting poli-
cies used to prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements.
Such policies are applicable for ail of our operating segmenis
including Carsen’s operations which became discontinued in
fiscal 2006 as more fully described in Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Staiements.

Principles of Consolidation )
The Consolidaied Financial Statements include the accounts of -
Cantel and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany trans-
actions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Revenue Recognition .
Revenue on product sales (excluding certain sales of endoscope
reprocessing equipment in the United States) is recognized

as products are shipped to customers and title passes. The
passing of title is determined based upon the FOB terms spec-
ified for each shipment. With respect to dialysis, therapeutic,
specialty packaging and a portion of endoscope reprocessing
products, shipment terms are generally FOB origin for com-
men carrier and FOB destination when our distribution fleet
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is utilized (except for one large customer in dialysis whereby
all products are shipped FOB destination). With respect to
endoscopy and surgical, water purification and filtration, scien-
tific products and dental products, shipment terms may be
either FOB origin or destination. Customer acceptance for the
majority of our product sales occurs at the time of delivery. In
certain instances, primarily with respect to some of our water
purification and filtration equipment and an insignificant
amount of our sales of dialysis equipment and scientific prod-
ucts, post-delivery obligations such as installation, in-servicing
or training are contractually specitied:.insuch; unstances.

T g fecognitiont (daferted it B SUe Teondtionshave
been substantially fulfilled such that the products are deemed
functional by the end-user, With respect to a portion of endos-
copy and surgical, water purification and filtration and scientific
product sales, equipment is sold as part of a systern for which
the eguipment is functionally interdependent or the customer's
purchase order specifies “ship-complete” as a condition of
delivery; revenue recognition on such sales is deferred until all
equipment has been delivered.

With respect to a portion of endoscopy and surgical sales (all
of which is part of the discontinued operations), we enter into
arrangements whereby revenue is immediately recognized upon
the transfer of equipment to customers who pay on a cost per
procedure basis, subject to minimum monthly payments. Such
arrangements are non-cancelable by the customer and provide
for a bargain purchase option by the customer at the conclu-

. sion of the term. All direct cosis related to these transactions
are recorded ai the iime of revenue recognition. Some of such
transactions also provide for future servicing of the equipment,
which service revenue component is deferred and recognized
over the period that such services are provided, With respect
to these muitiple element arrangements, revenue is allocated
to the equipment and service components based upon vendor
specific objective evidence which brincipally includes compa-
rable historical transactions of similar equipment and service
sold as stand-alone components.

Sales of a majority of our endoscope reprocessing equipment
to a third-party distributor in the United States are recognized
on a bill and hold basis. Such sales satisfy each of the follow-
ing criteria: (i) the risks of ownership have passed to the third-
party distributor; (i) the third-party distributor must provide a
written purchase order committing to the purchase of speci-
fied units; (i) the bill and hold arrangement was specifically
requested by'the third-party distributor for the purpose of mini-
mizing the impact of multiple shipments of the units; (iv) the
third-party distributor provides specific instructions for ship-
ment to customers, and completed units held by us for the
third-party distributor generally do not exceed three months

of anticipated shipments; (v) we have no {urther performance
obligations with respect to such units; (vi) completed units are
invoiced to the third-party distributor with 30 day payment
terms and such receivables are generally satisfied within such
terms; and (vii} completed units are ready for shipment and
segregated in a designated section of our warehouse reserved

(VO

only for the third-party disiributor, Due to the termination of the
Minntech/Olympus distribution agreement on August 1, 2008,
future sales will no longer be made on a bill and hold basis.

Revenue on service sales is recognized when repairs are
completed at the customer's location ar when repairs are
completed at our facilities and the products are shipped to
customers. All shipping and handling fees invoiced to cus-
tomers, such as freight, are recorded as revenue (and related

_ costs are included within cost of saies) at the time the sale

is recognized. . . . ST A

~None'ofoursalesy including the bifland hold sales arrange-

ment, contain right-of-return provisions, and customer claims
for credit or return due to damage, defect, shortage or other
reason must be pre-approved by us before credit is issued or
such product is accepted for return. No cash discounts for
early payment are offered except with respect to'a small por-
tion of cur sales of dialysis and dental products and certain
prepaid packaging products, We do not offer price protection,
although advance pricing contracts or required ‘notice periods

“‘prior to implementation of price increases exist for ceriain cus-

tomers with respect to many of our products With respect to
certain of our dlaly5|s endoscope reprocessmg and dental :
customers, volume rebates allowances are provided; such
volume rebates allowances are provided for as a reduction

of sales at the time of revenue recognition and amounted to
$1,216.000, $749.000 and $1,035,000 in fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Included in the volume rebates for fiscal
2006 is approximately $1,157,000 in volume rebates as a result
of the addition of dental products, offset by canceliation during
the three months ended October 31, 2005 of a volume rebate
program resulting from consolidation in the dialysis industry.
Such allowances are determined based on estimated projec-
tions of sales volume for the entire rebate agreement periods.
If it becomes known that sales volume to customers will devi-
ate from original projections, the volume rebate provisions
originally established would be adjusted accordingly.

The majority of our dialysis products are sold to end-users; the
majority of therapeutic filtration products, endoscope repro-
cessing products and services, and dental products are sold to
ihird-party distributors; the majority of endoscopy and surgical
products and services are sold directly to hospitals; the major-
ity of water purification and filtration producis and services are
sold directly and through third-party distributors to hospitals,
dialysis clinics, pharmaceutical and bictechnology companies
and other end-users; scientific products and services are sold
to hospitals, laboratories and other end-users; and specialty
packaging producis are sold to third-party distributors, medi-
cal research companies, laboratories, pharmaceutical com-
panies, hospitals, government agencies and other end-users.
Sales to all of these customers follow our revenue recognition
policies. Due to the direct distribution of our endoscope repro-
cessing products in the United States commencing in fiscal
2007, the majority of our endoscope reprocessing products and
services will be sold directly to hospitals and other end-users.
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Translation of Foreign Currency Financial Statements
Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated
into United States dollars at year-end exchange rates; sates
and expenses are translaied using average exchange rates
during the year. The cumulative effect of the translation of the
accounts of the foreign subsidiaries is presented as a com-
ponent of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss.
Foreign exchange gains and losses related-io the purchase
of inventories are included in cost of sales. Foreign exchange .
gains and losses related to the conversion of foreign assets
and iiabilities-into fogelgn subsidiaries' functional currencies
are included in geneifal and administrative expenses.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of
three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

i

v

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable consist of amounts due to us from nor-
mal business activities. Allowances for doubtful accounts are
reserves for the estimated loss from the inability of customers
to make required bayments We use historical experience as
well as current market information in determlnmg the est+mate
While actual losses have historically. been within management's
expectations and provisions established, if the financial co‘n
dition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in a'n’
impairment of their ablhty to make payments, additional allow-
ances may be required. Alternatwely. if certain customers
paid their delinquent receivables, reductions in allowances
may be reguired.

Inventories " ‘ )
Inventories consist of products which are sold in the ordinary
course’of our business and are stated at the lcwer of cost
(first-in, first-out) or market. In assessing the value of inven
tories, we must make estimates and judgments regarding
reserves reguired for product obsolescence, aging of invento-
ries and other issues potentially affecting the saleable condi-
tion of producis. In performing such evaluations, we use
historical experience as well as current market information,

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Additions and
improvements are capitalized, while maintenance and repair
costs are expensed. When assets are retired or otherwiseI
disposed, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or
amortization is removed from the respective accounts and|any
resulting gain or [0ss is included in income. Depreciaticn and
amortization is provided on either the straight-line method!or,

. for certain furniture and equipmént. the declining balance

method, over the estimated useful lives of the assets which
generally range from 2-15 years for furniture and equipment,
5-32 years for buildings and improvements and the life of Ehe
lease for leasehold improvements, Excluding our discontinued
operations, depreciation and amortization expense relatedlto
property and equipment for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$4, 570 000. $2,807.000 and $2.711,000. respectively. Fiscal 2006
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includes depreciation and amortizatioh expense attributable to
our Dental ségment of approximately $1,726,000.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Certain of our identifiable intangible assets, including customer
relationships, brand names, technology, non-compete agree-

ments and patents, are amortized on the straight-line method
over their estimated useful lives which range from 3 to 20 years.
Additionally, we have recorded goodwill and trademarks and
trade names, all of which have indefinite useful lives and are
therefore not amortized. All of our intangible assets and good-
will are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable, and goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment at least annu-
ally. Our management is primarily responsible for determining
if impairment exists and considers a number of factors, includ-
ing third-party valuations, when making these determinations.
In performing a review for goodwill impairment, management
uses a two-step process that beging with an estimation of the
fair value of the related operating segments. The first stepis a
review for potential impairment, and the second step measures
the amount of impairment, if any. In performing our annual
review for indefinite lived intangibles, management compares
the current fair value of such assets to their carrying values.
With respect to amortizable intangible assets when impair-
ment indicators are present, management would determine
whether non-discounted cash flows would be sufficient to
recover the carrying value of the assets: if noi, the carrying
value of the assets would be adjusted to their fair value. On
July 31, 2006, management concluded that nane of our intan-
gible assets or goodwill was impaired. While the résulis of
these annual reviews have historically not indicaied impair-
ment, impairment reviews are highly dependent on manage-
ment's projections of our future operating results Wthh

) management believes to be reasonable

Long- leed Assets .

We evaluate the carrying value of long-lived assets including
property, equipment and other assets whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. An'assessment is made.to determine if the
sum of the expected future non-discounted cash flows from
the use of the assets and eventual disposition is less than the
carrying value. if the sur of the expected non-discounted cash
flows is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss is rec-
ognized based on fair value. With few exceptions, our historical

assessments of our long-lived assets have not differed signifi-

cantly from the actual amounts realized. However, the deter-
mination of fair value requires us to make certain assumptions
and estimates and is highly subjective, and accordingly, actual
amounts realized may differ significantly from our estimate.

Other Assets - .
Debt issuance costs associated with the credit facilities are

amortized to interest expense over the life of the credit facilities.
In conjunction with the amended and restated credit facilities
dated August 1, 2005, as more fully described in Note 9 to the
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Consolidated Financial Statements, we incurred debt issuance
costs of approximately $1,426,000, of which $160,000 of thirg-
party costs was recorded in general and administrative expenses
during the three months ended October 31, 2005 in accordance
with applicable accounting rules. The remaining $1,266,000

of costs is being amortized over the life of the credit facilities.
As of July 31, 2006 and 2005, such debt issuance costs, net

of related amortization,-were included-in other assets and
amounted to $1,607,000 and $647,000, respectively.

SR - e

bl .~
Warranties
We provide for estimated costs that may be incurred to remedy
deficiencies of quality or performance of our products at the
time of revenue recognition. Most of our producis have a one
year warranty, although a majority of our endoscope repro-
cessing equipment in the United States may carry a warranty
period of up to fifteen menths. We record provisions for prod-
uct warranties as a component of cost of sales based upon
an estimate of the amounts necessary to seitle existing and
future claims on products sold. The historical relationship of
warranty costs to products sold is the primary basis for the
estimate. A significant increase in third-party service repair
rates, the cost and availability of parts or the frequency of
claims could have a material adverse impact on our results
for the period or periods in which such claims or additional
costs materialize. Management reviews its warranty exposure

i periodically and believes that the warranty reserves are ade-
quate; however, actual claims incurred could differ from origi-
nal estimates, requiring adjustmenis to the reserves.

Stock-Based Compensation

On August 1, 2005, we adopted SFAS No. 123R using the modi-
fied prospective method far the transition. Under the modified
prospective method, stock compensation expense will be rec-
ognized for any option grant or stock award granted on or after
August 1, 2005, as well as the unvested portion of stock options
granted prior to August 1, 2005, based upon the award's fair
value. For fiscal 2005 and earlier periods, we have accounted
for stock options using the intrinsic value method under which
stock compensation expense is not recognized because we
granted stock options with exercise prices equal to the market
value of the shares at the date of grant.

Most of our stock options are subject to graded vesting in which
portions of the option award vest at different times during the
vesting period, as opposed to awards that vest at the end of
the vesting period. We recognize compensation expense for

i options subject to graded vesting using the straight-line basis,
reduced by estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at
the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent peri-
ods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures
are estimated based on historical experience.

The stock-based compensation expense recorded in our
Consolidated Financial Statements may not be representative
of the effect of stock-based compensation expense in future
_periods due to the level of options issued in past years (which
level may not be similar in the future), assumptions used in

fa - -~

determining fair value, and estimated forfeitures. We estimate
the fair value of each option grant on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The deiermination
of fair value using an option-pricing model is affected by our
stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of sub-
jective variables, These variablas include, but are not limited to,
the expected stock price volatility over the term of the option
grant (which is determined by using the histarical closing
prices of cur Commaon Stock), the expected dividend yield

(which is expected to.be O%)@nd;the@xpgcte@phon lifems

_ '(wh|ch is based on historical exercise behavior). If factors
' change and we employ different assumptions in the applica-

tion of SFAS 123R in future periods, the compensation expense
that we would record under SFAS 123R may differ significantly
from what we have recorded in the current period.

If we had elected to recognize compensation expense prior {0
August 1, 2005 based on the fair value of the options granted
at the grant date over the vesting period as prescribed by SFAS
123, net income and earnings per share for the comparable
periods would have been as follows:

Year Ended July 31,

2005 2004
Net income: - '
As reporied $15,505,000 $10,654,000
Stock-based compensation expense
determined under fair value basead
model, net of tax (6,531,000 (1,488,000)
Pro forma - $ 8974000 $ 9,166,000
Earnings per common share—basic;
As reported $ 106 % 075
Pro forma . ‘ 3 061 % Q.65

Earnings per common share—diluted:
As reported .
Pro forma

$ 09 $ . 070
) . $ 055 % 0.60
The pro forma effect on net income for these years may not
be representative of the effect of stock-based compensation
expense in future periods due to the level of opticns issued

in past years (which levet may not be similar in the future),
assumptions used in determining fair value (including the
volatility of Cantel stock}, the estimated forfeiture rate (which
was approximately 4%;) and the accelerated vesting of certain
options in fiscal 2005.

In fiscal 2005, we accelerated the vesting of certain unvested
and “out-of-the-money" stock options previously awarded to
certain executive ofiicers and other employees (67 individuals
in total) under our 1997 Employee Stock Option Plan. Such
options had exercise prices greater than $16.85, the closing

" price an June 24, 2005, the date that our Board of Directors

authorized such acceleration. Options to purchase 759,650
shares of common stock (of which approximately 577,500
shares are subject tc options held by executive officers) were
subject to this acceleration. All other terms and conditions of
the options remain in effect. Options held by non-employee
directors were not included in the acceleration. Because these
options had exercise prices in excess of the market vaive of
Cantel common stock on June 24, 2005, and therefore were
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not fully achieving our original objectives of incentive compen-
- sation and ernployeelretenhon we expect the acceleration may
- have a posﬂwe effect on employee morale, retention and per-
ception of option value The acceleration eliminated any futdre
compensation expense we would otherwise recognize in ou'r
income statement W|th respect to these options with the
August 1, 2005 lmplementatlon of SFAS 123R. The compen
sation expense, after tax, related to this acceleration totaled

approximately $3,400,000. if such acceleration did not occulr.
we would have recognized additional compensation expense,
net of tax, of approximately $1,300,000, $1,300,000. $600, 000
and $200,000 in fiscal 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009, respectlvely
based on the fair value of the options granted at grant date
over the original vestlng pericd.

Costs Assocmted &lth Exit or Disposal Activities
We recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities,
such as cosis to terrlninate a contract, the exit or disposal of
a business, or the early termination of a leased property, by,
recognizing the liability at fair value when incurred, except

for certain one-time lermination benefits, such as severance
costs, for which the perlod of recognition begins when a sev-
' erance plan is communlcated to employees

Inherent in the calcu!Iatlon of liabilities refating to exit and d
pogal activities are srgnlflcant management judgments: and
estlmates including estimates of termination costs, employee

attrition and the interest rate used to discount certain expected _

net cash payments. Such judgments and estimates are reviewed
by us on a regular basis. The cumulative effect of a change

to a liability resulting from a revision to either timing or lhe’
amount of estimated cash flows is recognized by us as an
adjusiment to the liability in the period of the change.

Although we have historically recorded minimal charges asse-
ciated with exit or disposal activities, we recorded aDDFOXImE‘lteW
$1,329,000 of severance costs durlng fiscal 2006 relating to
the sale of substantially all of Carsen’s assets. At July 31, 2006
such amount was included in gain on disposal of dlscontlnued
operations. )

Legal Proceedings
In the normal course of business. we are subject to pendlng
and threatened legal actions. We record legal fees and other
expenses related to litigation as incurred. Additicnally, weI
assess, in consultation with our counsel, the need {o record
a liability for litigaticn and contingencies on a case by case| :
basis. Amounts are accrued when we, in consultation with
counsel, determine that a liability has been incurred and E‘lll‘l
amount of anticipated exposure can be reascnably estimated.

Earnings Per Common Share
Basic earnings per common share are computed based upon
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
dunng the year.

Dituted earnings per common share are computed based upon
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year plus the dilutive effect of options using the

[

treasury stock method and the average market price of our
Common Stock for the year.

. Advertising Costs -

Our policy is to expense advertising costs as they are incurred.
Adveriising costs charged to expense were $637,000, $267,000
and $170,000 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Fiscal
2006 includes expense aitributable to our Dental segment of

approximately $338.000.

Income Taxes
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on ditfer-

- ences between the financial statement carrying amounts and

the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assefs and
liabilities also include items recorded in conjunction with the
purchase accounting for business acquisitions. We regularly
review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish
a valuation allowance, if necessary, based on historical {axable
income, projected future taxable incorme, and the expected
{iming of the reversals of existing temporary differences.

~ Although realization is not assured, management believes it

is more likely than not that the recorded deferred tax assets
will be realized: Additionally, deferred tax liabilities are regu-
larly reviewed to coniirm that such amounts are appropriately
stated. Such a review considers known future changes in vari-
ous effective tax rates, principally in the United States. If the
United States effective tax rate were to change in the future,
our items of deferred tax could be materially afiected. Al of
such evaluations require significant management judgments,

It is our policy to establish reserves for exposures as a result
of an examination by tax authorities. We establish the reserves
based primarily upon management's assessment of exposure
associated with acquired cempanies and permanent tax dif-
ferences. The tax reserves are analyzed pericdically (at least
annually) and adjusiments are made, as events occur to war-
rant adjustment to the reserves. The majority of our income
tax reserves originated from acquisitions.

Use of Estimates

The preparation ¢i financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that atfect’
the amounts reported in the financial statemenis and accom-
panying notes. Actual resulis could differ from those estimates.
On an ongoing basis, we evaluate the adequacy of our reserves
and the estimates used in caldulations of reserves as well as -

. other judgmental financial statement items, including, but not

limited to: collectability of accounts receivable; volume rebaies
and trade-in allowances; inventory values and obsolescence
reserves; warranty reserves; depreciation and amortization
periods; deferred income taxes; goodwill and intangible assets;
impairment of long-lived assets; reserves for tax exposures;
reserves for legal exposure; stock-based compensation; and
expense accruals.

Acquisitions require significant estimates and judgments relaied
to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
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Certain Habilities are subjective in naiure. We reftect such lia-
bilities based upon the most recent information available. In
conjunction with our acquisitions, such subjective liabilities
principally inciude certain income tax and sales and use tax

exposures, including tax liabilities related to ofif foreign subsid-

iaries. The ultimate settlement of such liabilities may be for
- amounts which are different from the amounts recorded.

Reclassifications
Certain distribution and warehouse expenses of Crosstex have
been reclassified from amounts previously reported in our
quarterly Form 10-Q’s to conform with the accounting policies
of Cantel which require such costs to be classified as cost of
“sales. These reclassifications affect cost of sales, gross profit
and general and administrative expenses of cur Dental seg-
ment, and therefore our consolidated amounts. See Note 20
to t‘he Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In July 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (*FASB”)

issued FIN No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,

an interpretation of FASB Staternent No. 109" ("FIN No. 48"). FIN
No. 48 clarifies the accounting and reporting for uncertainties
in income tax law. FIN No. 48 prescribes a comprehensive
model for the financial statement recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of uncertain tax positions taken
or expected to be taken in income tax returns. FIN No. 48 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006.
-We are currently in the process of evaluating the effect of FIN
48 on our financial position and results of operations and
therefore, are unable to estimate ihe eifect on our overall
results of operations or financial position.

3. Acquisitions

Crosstex

On August 1, 2005, we acquired Crosstex, a privately held
company founded in 1953 and headquartered in Hauppauge,
New York. Crosstex is a leading manufacturer and reseller of
single-use infection control products used principally in the
dental market. Crosstex products include face masks, patient
towels and bibs, self-sealing sterilization pouches, tray covers,
sterilization packaging accessorigs, surface barriers including
eyawear, aprons and gowns, disinfectants and deodorizers,
germicidal wipes, hand care products, gloves, sponges, cotton
products, cups, needles and syringes, scalpels and blades,
and saliva evacuators and ejectors.

Under the terms of Stock Purchase Agreements with the five
stockholders of Crosstex, pursuant to which we acquired all of
the issued and outstanding capital stock of Crosstex, we paid

an aggregate purchase price (excluding any earnout) of approx-

imately $77.863,000, comprised of approximately $6¢,843,000
in cash consideration and 384,821 shares of Cantel common
stock (valued at $5,737,000) to the former Crossiex sharehold-
ers, and transaction costs of $1,283.000. The purchase price

included the retirement of bank debt and certain other liabili-
ties of Crosstex. Of this purchase price, $2,200,000 is held in
escrow for a period of eighteen months from the closing date
in the eventuality that the sellers breach standard representa-
tions and warranties in the purchase agreement. The Company
believes it is likely that the escrowed funds will be fully paid to
the sellers, and therefore such amount has been included in
the determination of the purchase price. In addition to this pur-
chase price, there is a further $12,000,000 potential earnout
payable to the sellers of Crosstex over three years based on
the achievement by Crosstex of certain targets cf (i) earnings
before interest and taxes and (i) gross profit percentage. For

- the initial post-acquisition year ended July 31, 2008, the full
potential earnout for year one of $3.667,000 was earned by the

sellers of Crosstex and therefore represents additional purchase
price, bringing the"aggregate earned purchase price as of July
31, 2006 to $81,530,000. The additional earnout purchase price
for fiscal 2006 has been reflected in the accompanying consol-
idated balance sheet at July 31, 2006 as additional goodwill
and as a separate item within current liabilities (as the corre-
sponding payment of such earnout is not required o be paid
until October 2006). For the fiscal years ending July 31, 2007
and 2008, an additional earnout of $3,667.000 and $4,566,000,
respectively, is available to the sellers of Crosstex if the speci-
fied targets of earnings before interest and taxes, and gross -
profit percentage, are achieved. Such additional earnout, if
achieved, would represent additional purchase price and there-
fore be recorded as additional goodwill when earned.

A registration statement covering the resale of the 384,821
shares issued to the selling stockholders was declarad effec-
tive by the Securities and Exchange Commission on November
15, 2005. Subject to the conditions and limitations described in
the Stock Purchase Agreements with the selling stockholders,
we agreed that if the average sales price for any such shares
sold by a selling stockholder during the four month period
following November 15, 2005 is less than $17.635 per share,

we would pay to such selling stockholder an amount equal to
the praduct of (A) the difference beiween the $17.635 and the
average sales price and (B) the number of shares sold by the
selling stockholder. For the four month period ended March 14,
2006, the selling stockholders sold an aggregate of 181,700
shares and the aggregate payment to the selling shareholders
was approximately $49,000, which was recorded as a reduction
to additional capitat. Such payment did not change the aggre-
gate purchase price.

In conjunction with the acquisition, on August 1, 2005 we
amended our existing credit facilities, as discussed in Note 9
to our Consalidated Financial Statements, to fund a subsiantial
porticn of the cash consideration paid in the acquisition and
transaction costs, We borrowed $68,300,000 for the acquisition
and utilized existing cash for the remaining cash requirements.
Additionally, we incurred debt issuance costs of approximately
$1,426,000, of which $160,000 of third-party costs was recorded

"
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in general and admir']istrative expenses during the three months

ended October 31, 2005 in accordance with applicable acco'mt-

ing rules The remammg $1,266,000 of costs was recorded
in other assets and i is being amortized over the life of the
credit facilities. :

Since the acquisition and restated credit facilities were com-
pleted on the first day of fiscal 2006, the results of operatiorlls
of Crossiex are included in our results of aperations for fisc}al
2006 and are excluded from our results of operations for fis-|

cals 2005 and 2004

Asa result of the August 1, 2005 acqu:smon of Crosstex we
added a new reportmg segment known as Déntal, As of .July 3
2006, this new segment had |dent|fJable assets of $97,361, 000

‘ificiuting $15,630; 000 in Tong- Jived 585efsTFar fiscAl200867 the

Dental segment addéd the following to our consolidated finan-
cial statements:

Year Ended

July 31, 2006
Net sales $54,293,000
Operating income $ 7,917,000
Capital expenditures $ 3,471,000
- Depreciation and amortization $ 5,344,000

Included within the depreciation and amertization amount
above was depreciation and amortization associated with prop-
erty and equipment of $1,726,000, amortization of intangible‘
assets of $2,960,000 (included within general and administra-
tive expenses) and amoriization related to the step-up in thé
value of inventories of $658,000 (included within cost of sales)

Operating income added by Crosstex excludes interest expense
associated with the Company's borrowings related to the acqui-

*sition. The segment operating income for fiscal 2006 also

excludes non-recurring charges directly related to the acquisi-
tion which were incurred by us-upen the closing of the acqui-

“sition. Such non- recurring charges include (i} debt issuanceI

costs relating to the term | oan famhty of approximately $160, 000
and (n) incentive compensahon for an officer of Cantel of
approximately $345,000. The aggregate amount of such
charges was approximaiely $505,000 (or $318,000, net of tax)
and has been included within general corporate‘expenses in
our segmeni presentation in Note 18 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements o

The reasons for the acqmsmon of Crosstex were as follows:
(i the complementary nature of the companies' infection pre-
vention and control products; (i} the addition of a market ledd-
ing company in a distinct niche.in‘infection preventicn and
control; (iii} the increase in the percentage of our net sales
derived from recurring consumables; (iv} the opportunity to
utifize Crosstex as a sizeable platform to acquire additional
companies in the healithcare consumables indusiry; {(v) the
expectation that the acquisition will be accretive to our earn-
ings per share; and (vi) the opportunity for us to further expland
our business into the design, manufacture and distribution of

proprietary products. Such reasons constituté the significant
factors which contributed to a purchase price that resulted in
recognition of goodwill,

The purchase price (inctqding the fiscal 2006 earnout) was

allocated to the assets acquired and assumed liabilities based
on estimated fair values as follows:

Final
Net Assets Allocation
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,264,000
_ Accounts receivable 4,387,000
Inventories 7,281,000
Other CU_rrent assets 731,000
Total current assets 16,673,000
Property and equipment 13,809,000
~Non-amortizable intangible assets—' - '
trade names (indefinite life}~ . - - #5,200,000°
Amortizable intangible assats: '
Non-compete agreements (6-year life) 1,800,000
Customer relationships (10-year life) 17,900,000
Branded products (10-yaar life) 8,700,000
Total amortizable intangible assets
(9-year weighted average life) 28,400,000
Other assets . 50,000
Current liabilities (4,571,000}

Noncurrent deferred income tax liabilities (16,241,000)

Net assets acquired

$ 43,320,000

There were no iﬁ-proéess research and development projects
acquired in connection with the acquisition. The excess pur-
chase price of $38,210,000 was assigned to goodwill. Such
goodwill, all of which is non-deductible for income tax purposes,
has been included in our new Dental reporting segment.
Included in cash and cash equivalents was $1,370,000 funded
by the selting stockholders and utilized for the payment in
August 2005 of current liabilities (incfuded above and reflected

within cash flows from investing activities in our consolidated -

statement of cash flows for fiscal 2008) directly.resulting from
the acquisition.

Selected consolidated statement of income data for fiscal 2006
and comparable unaudited pro forma consolidated statement
of income data for fiscal 2005 (assuming that Crosstex was
included in our resulis of continuing operations as of the
beginning of fiscal 2005) are as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005
Netl sales $192,179,000 $184,545,000°
Income from contmumg operations $ 6,653,000 $ 8633000
Earnings per share from continuing :
operations: -

Basic $ 043 3 057

Diluted * B 041 3 0.52
Weighted average common shares:

Basic 15,471,000 15,215,000

Diluted 16,276,000 16,593,000

P




This pro forma information is Qrovided' for illustrative purposes
only, and does not necessarily indicate what the operating
results of the combined company might have been had the
acquisition actually occurred at the beginning of fiscal 2005,
nor does it nacessarily indicate the combined company's
future operating results.

In order to effect the unaudited pro forma consolidated state-
ment.of income data for fiscal 2005, the operating results of

Cantel for fiscal 2005 were consolidated with the operating
results of Crosstex for their fiscal year ended April 30, 2005.
The results presented in the selected unaudited pro forma
consolidated statement of income data for fiscal 2005 have
been prepared using the following assumptions: (i) cost of
sales during fiscal 2005 reflects & step-up in the cost basis
of Cr’osstex'inventories based upon the appraiséd value of
such inventories; (i) amortization of intangible assets and
deprebiation and amortization of property and equipment is
based upon the appraised fair values and useful lives of such
assets; (ifi) interest expense includes interest on the senior
bank debt at an effective interest rate of 6% per annum, amor-
tization of a portion of the new debt issuance costs overthe
life of the credit facilities in accordance with applicable
accounting rules and eliminaticn of the histarical interest
expense of Crosstex; (iv) compensation for former owners
has been decreased fo be consistent with the terms of their
new employment contracts; and (v) calculation of the income
tax effects of the.pro forma adjustments. All other operating
results reflect actual performance. .

The unaudited pro forma consdlidated statement of income
data for fiscal 2005 does not reflect non-recurring charges
directly related to the acquisition whlch were incurred by
us upon the closing of the ach|5|t|on Such non-recurring

" charges include (i) debt issuance costs relating to the term
loan facility of approximately $160,000 and (i} incentive com-
pensation for an officer of Cantel of approximately $345,000.
The aggregate amount of such charges was approximately
$318,000, net of tax. If such charges had been included in the
unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of income data,
pro forma consolidated basic and diluted earnings per share
from continuing operations would have been $0.55 and $0.50,
respectively, for fiscal 2005,

Fluid Solutions. '

On May 1, 2006, Mar Cor purchased certain net assets of
Fluid Sotutions, Inc. (* Fluid Selutions”), a company with annual
revenues of approxwmately 35, OOO 000 based in Lowell, Massa-
chusetts that designs, manufactures, installs and services high
*guality, high purity water systems for use in biotech, pharma-
ceutical, research, hospitals, and semicenductor environments.
Tetal considerati‘oh for the transaction was $2,959,000. This
acquisition added revenues of approximately $1,500,000 for
the three months (post-acquisition) ended July 31, 2006, and
otherwise had an insignificant contribution to our results of
operations for fiscal 2006.

v
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The-purchase price was allocated {0 the assets acquired and
assumed liabilities based on estlmated fair values as follows:

Net Assets Allocation
Current assets ’ - $1,486,000
Property and equipment 887.000
Non-amertizable intangible assets—

trade names {indefinite life) - 214,000
Amortizable intangible assets—customer

relationships (4-year weighted average life) * 220,000
Current liabilities - (430,000)
Net assets acquired $2,377.000

The excess, purchase price of $582 000 was assigned to good-
will. Such goodwwll all of which is deductible for income tax
purposes, has been included in cur Water Purification and
Filtration reporting segment.

The reasons for the acquisition were as follows: (i) the opportu—f

nity to add a base of business and expand the Mar Cor service
netwark in a region that has a concentration of life science
companies as well as healthcare and research institutions;

(il further develop the Fluid Solutions water b'ulsiness to serve"

the New England dialysis market, (m) the potential revenue .
and cost savings synergies and efficiencies that could be reai
ized through optimizing and combining thé acquired assets
{(including Fluid Solution employees) into Mar Cor; and (i) the
expectation that the acquisition will be accretive to our future
earnings per share.

Pre-Fiscal 2005 Acqmsmons

During fiscal 2004 we acquired Saf-T-Pak, Dyped, Biolab and
Mar Cor. Since these acquisitions occurred in fiscal 2004,
the res:ults of operations of these acquired co‘mpanies are’
included in our operating resulis for fiscal 2008 and 2005
and the portion of fiscal 2004 subsequent to the dates of
the respective acquisitions.

Certain of the assumed liabilities relating to the Biclab, Mar Cor,
Dyped and Sai-T-Pak acquisitions are subjective in nature. Thege
liabilities have been reflected based upon the most recent
information available and principally include certain potential
income tax exposures. The ultimate settlement of such liabili-
ties may be for amounts which are different from the amounts
presently recorded. Settlernents related to income tax expo-
sures, if any, would be adjusted threugh goodwill.. .

There were no iniprocess research and development projects
acquired in connection with the Biolab, Mar Cor, Dyped and
SafT-Pak acquisitions. ‘

Saf-T-Pak . :
Cn June 3, 2004, we acquired alf of the issued and outstanding
stock of Saf-T-Pak,-a private company located in Edmonton,

Alberta, Canada with pre-acquisition annual revenues of approx-

imately $5,000,000 and pre-acquisition annua! operating income
of approximately $1,800,000 for its latest pré-acquisition fiscal
year ended August 31, 2003. Saf-T-Pak is a designer and manu-
facturer of specialty packaging and thermal control products
for the safe transport of infectious and biclogical specimens

S |
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and thermally sensitive pharmaceutical, medical and other
products. SafT Pak alsc offers a full array of compliance train-
ing services ranging from software and internet sessrons to
group seminars and private on- sﬁe programs.

The total consideration for the transaction, including transac:

tion costs, was approximately $8.522,000. Under the terms of
the purchase agreement, we may pay additional consideratio'n
at the end of each fiscai year, up to an aggregate of $3.094‘0'00
for the thirty-eight month period ending July 31, 2007, based
upon Saf-T-Pak achieving specified targets of earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA™), As
of July 31, 2006, none of the additional purchase price had
been earned; however, because the earnout targets contain a
cumulative clause, it is possible for the full remaining amount
to be earned in fiscal 2007. If earned, such earnout would beI
recorded as additional goodwill, ‘
The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired anci
assumed liabilities based on estimated fair values as followslz

Net Assets Allocation
Current assets 3 1.3411):00
Property and equipment 54,000
Non-amortizable intangible assets—

trade names (indefinite life) 666,000
Amortizable intangible assets:

Current technology (S-year weighted average life) 2,035,000

Customer relationships {(5-year weighted average life) 1,118,000

Total amortizable intafngible assets. (7-year weighted

average life) N 3,154,000

Current liabilities (584,0:00)
Nencurrent deferred rncome tax liabilities (1,411,000
Net assets acquired J; 3 3.220.d00

The excess purchase.price of $5,302,000 was assigned to
goodwill. Such goodwill, all of which is non-deductible for
income tax purposes, has been included in our Specialty
Packaging reporting segment.

The reasons for the acquisition of SafT-Pak were as follows:
(i) the opportunity to expand and diversify our infection pre-
vention and control business; (i) the opportunlty for Cantel to
. enter into the specialized packaging market for the transport
of infectious and biological substances which is a market that
has undergone recent government regulatory changes crear
ing attractive market dynamics; and.{iiiy the expectation that
the acqmsrtlon will be accretive to our earnlngs per share

Dyped ' \

On September 12, 2003, we acquired the endoscope repro;’
cessing systems and infection control technclogies of Dyped,. "
a private company based in The Netherlands. The total consid-
eration for the transaction,-including transaction costs, was|
approximately $1,812,000 and included a note payable in f‘rve
annual instaliments with a present value of approximately
51,211,000 (with a face value of $1,505,000). Since certain spec-
ified research and development objectives were not achfeve’d
we were not required to pay any additional purchase price. The

primary reason for the acquisition of Dyped' was to expand

Minntech's technological capabilities and augment its endo-
scope reprocessing preduct line with a new, fully autornated
reprocessor designed to be compliant with European stahd-_
ards and market requirements.

The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
assumed Jiabilities based on estimated fair values as follows; -

Net Assets Allocation
Current assets $ 503.000
Property and equipment 14,000
Amcortizable intangible assets:
Current technology (8-year life) 585,000
Customear relationships (4-year life} 79,000
Total amortizable intangible assets
(7.5-year weighted average life) 664,000
Current liabilities (777,000
Long-term liabilities (232,000}
Net assets acquired $ 172,000

The excess purchase price of $1,640,000 was assigned to
goodwill. Such goodwill, ali of which is non-deductible for
income tax purposes, has been included in our Endoscope
Reprocessing reporting segment,

For fiscal 2006 ‘and 2005, the acquisition of Dyped coniributed
$1,845,000 and $1,521,000 to our nét sales and had an insignifi-
cant impact upon net income. For the portion of fiscal 2004
subsequent to its acquisition, Dyped had an insignificant
impact upon net sales and net income. However, a significant
portion of our research and development expenses for fiscal
2008, 2005 and 2004 were attributable to the Dyped product
line. Additionally, such research and development expenses
contributed to the overall loss at Minntech’s Netherlands facil-
ity for which a partiat tax benefit was recorded, as described
in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Biolab

On August 1, 2003, we acqurred all of the issued and outstand-
ing stock of Biolab, a private company in the water treatment’
industry with historical pre-acquisition annual revenues of
approximately $10,000,000. Biolab designs, manufactures, sells

- and provides maintenance and installation services for high

purity water systems for the medical, pharmaceutical, bictech-
nology, research, beverage and semiconductor industries.
Biolab has locations in suburban Torontd and suburban
Montreal, Canada.

The total consideration for the transaction, including transac-
tion costs and assumption of debt, was approximately $7,876,000.
Under the terms of the purchase agreement, we may pay addi-
tional consideration at the end of each fiscal year, up toran
aggregate of $3,000,000 for the thrée year period ending July
31, 2006, based upon Biclab achieving specified targets of
EBITDA. As of July 31, 2006, none of the additional purchase
price had been earned and there is no {urther opportunity for
such earnout to be achieved; however, see Note 21 to the
Consoclidated Financial Statements.

1
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The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
assumed liabilities based on estimated {air values as follows:

Net Assets Allocation
Current assets $ 4,230,000
Property and equipment 580,000
Non-amortizable intangible assets—

{rademarks and tradenames (indefinite lifg} 762,000
Amortizable intangible assets:

Current technology (10-year life) . 339,000

Customer relationships (10-year life) 664,000

Total amortizable intangible assets .

{10-year weighted average life} 1,003,000

Other assets : 5,000
Current liabilities : {1,866,000)
Long-term liabilities (1,181,000
Net assets acquired $ 3.443,000

The excess purchase price of $4,433,000 was assigned to gocd-

will. Such goodwill, all of which is non-deductible for income
tax purposes, has been included in our Water Purifice_ztion and
Filtration reporting segment.

Mar Cor .

On August 1, 2003, we acquired all of the issued and out-
standing stock of Mar Cor, a private company in the water
treatment industry with historical pre-acquisition annual reve-
nues of approximately $10,000,000. Mar Cor, based in subur-
ban Philadelphia, Pennsylvania with locations in Atlanta and -
Chicago, is primarily a service-oriented company providing
design, installation, service and maintenance, training and
supplies for water and fluid treatment systems to the medical,
research, and pharmaceutical industries. )

The total consideration for the transaction, including trans-
action costs and assumption of debt, was approximately
$8,215,000.

The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and
assumed liabilities based on estimated fair values as follows:

A summary of inventories is as follows:

Net Assets Allocation,
Current asseis $ 3,254,000
Property and equipment 947,000
Non-amortizable intangibte assets—

trademarks and tradenames (indefinite life) 834.000
Amortizable intangible assets;

Customer relationships (10-year life) 480,000

Covenant-not-to-compete (3-year life) 169.000

Total amoriizable intangible assets

(8-year weighted average life) « - 649,000

Other assets 17,000
Current liabilities (2,094,000,
Long-ierm Hhabilities (636,000)
Net assets acquired $2.571.000

ak |

" The excess purchase price of $5,244,000 was assigned to good-

will. Such goodwill, all of which is non-deductible for income

tax purposes, has been included in our Water Punhcahon and
Filtration reporting segment, -

The reasons for the acquisitions.of Biolab and Mar Cor were as
follows: (i) the overall strategic fit of water treatment with our-
existing dialysis and filtration technology businesses; (i) the
opportunity to grow our existing businesses and the water
treatment business by combining Minntech'’s sales, marketing,
and product deyglopment,capabilities with- Mar Gor's ;reglonam‘
field service organuzatlon ‘and Biolab's water treatment equip-

ment design and manufacturing expertise; (iii) the opporiunity
to expand and diversify our infecticn prevention and control
business, particularly within the pharmaceutical and biotech-
nology industries; and (iv) the expectation that the acquisitions’
would be accretive to our earnings per share.

ok

4. Inventories

July 31, . .
2006 - 2006 -
Raw materials and parts $ 9,692,000 F 5352,000 )
Work-in-process 3,717,000 2,915,000
Finished goods 10,533,000 5,309,000
Total $23,942,000 $13,576,000

5. Discontinued Operations

On July 31, 2006, Carsen closed the sale of substantially all

of its assets to Olympus under an Assei Purchase Agreement
dated as of May 18, 2006 among Carsen, Cantel and Olympus.
Olympus purchased substantially all of Carsen's assets other
than those related to Carsen's Medivators business and certain
other smaller product lines. Following the closing, Olympus
hired substantially all of Carsen's employees and took over
Carsen’s Olympus-related operations (as well as the operations
related to the other acquired product lines). The transaction
resulted in an aftertax gain of approximately $6.,776,000 and
was recorded separately on the Consolidated Statements of
Income as gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of
tax. In connection with the transaction, Carsen’s Medivators-
related assets as well as certain of its other assets that were

. not acquired by Olympus were sold to our new Canadian dis-

tributor of Medivators products.

The purchase price for the net assets sold {o Olympus was
approximately $31,200,000, comprised of a fixed sum of
$10,000,000 plus an additional formula-based sum of
$21,200,000. In addition, Qlympus wili pay Carsen 20%

of Olympus' revenues attributable to Carsen's unfilled
customer orders as of July 31, 2006 that were assumed by
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Olympus at the closing. Such payments to.Carsen (currently
anticipated to be approximately $450,000) will be made follow-
ing Olympus' receipt of customer payments for such orders.

The $10,000,000 fixed portion of the purchase price was in
consideration for {i) Carsen's customer lists, sales records,
and certain other assets related to the sale and servicing of

Olympus products and certain non-Olympus products dis-
tributed by Carsen, (ii} the release of Olympus’ contractua!
restriction on hiring Carsen personnel, (i} real property leases
(which were assumed or replaced by Olympus) and Ieasehold
improvements, computer and software systems equipment
and machinery, telephone systems, and records related to

the acquired assets, and (iv) assisting Olympus in effecting

a smooth transition of Carsen's business of distributing and
servicing Olympus and certain non-Olympus products in
Canada. Cantel has also agreed (on behalf of itself and its affil
iates) not to manufacture, distribute, sell or represent for sale
in Canada through July 31, 2007 any products that are compet
itive with the Olympus products formerly sold by Carsen under
its Olympus Distribution Agreements.

The 821.200.000 formula-based portion of the purchase price

was based on the book value of Carsen’s inventeries of Olympus '
" and certain non-Olympus products and the net book amount

of Carsen's accounts receivable and certain other assets, all
at July 31, 2006, subject to offsets, particularly for accounts
payable of Carsen due to Olympus,

Net proceeds from Carsen'’s sale of net assets and the termi-

nation of Carsen’s operations were approximately $21,100,000
(excluding the backlog payments} after satisfaction of remain-
ing liabilities and taxes.

2

As a result of the foregoing transaction, which coincided with
the expiration of Carsen's exclusive distribution agreements
with Olympus on July 31, 2006, Carsen no longer has any
remaining product lines or active business operations.

The net sales and operating income attributable to Carsen's
business (inclusive of both Olympus and non-Olympus busi-
ness, but exclusive of the sale of Medivators reprocessors)
coenstitute the entire Endoscopy and Surgical reporting seg-
ment and Scientific operating segment, which historically
was included within the All Other reporting segment.

v

Operating segment information and net inccme attril)utablelto Carsen's business is summarized below:

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004
Net sales: 3 ’ ’ o
Endoscopy and Surgu:al s $49,021,000 $41,469,000 $34,6i1,000
Endoscope Reprocess:ng : 1,854,000 1,589,000 1,223,000
Smenimc . 14,046,000 17.187,000 11,118,000
Total ) ’ $64,921,000 $60.245,000 $46,952,000
Operating income: ‘ ) .
Endoscopy and Surgical $14,018,000 $10.004,000 $§ 8,400,000
Endoscope Reprocessing 968,000 656,000 490,000
Scientific 978,000 1,207,000 161,000
15,964,000 11,867,000 9,051,000
Interast expense 57,000 118,000 85,000/
Income before income taxes 15,807,000 11,749,000 8,966,000
Income taxes 5,639,000 4,139,000 3,189,000
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $10,268,000 $ 7,610,000 § 5777.000
Gain on sale of dlscontmued operatlons $11,397,000 § — 3 —
Income taxes : 4,621,000 i — —
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax

$6776000 $ 2 — S .. —

Prior to being reported as discontinued operations, fiscal 2006 net sales and operating income of Carsen accounted for approxi-
mately 25.3% and 53.3% of bur fiscal 2006 consolidated netisales and operating income, respectively.

-Cash flows attributable to discontinued operations comprise the following:

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 6,561,000 $ 6,731,000 § 4,565,000
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $30,774,000 $ (6400000 3 (122,000)

Financing activities of our discontinued operations did not

result in any net cash.in fiscal 2008, 2005 and 2004.
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At July 31, 2006 and 2005, assets and liabilities of discontinued

. operations consisted of the following:

SJuly 31,
2006 2005

Current assets:

Accounts receivable, net $ 655,000 $13,401,000

Inventories . 695,000 8,556,000

Prepaids and other current assets 771,000 1,067,000
Assets of discontinued operations—

current . . 2,921,000 23,024,000
Property and equipment, net _ 627,000
Deferred income taxes 4> - 115,000
Other |ong term assets : C— 326,000
Assets of discontinued operations—

non-current _ 1,068,000

Total assets of discontinued oberations $ 2,121,000 $24,092,000

Current liahilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,744,000 § 4,345,000

Compensation payable 1,195,000 973,000

Accrued expenses 354,000 585,000

Deferred revenue 1,063,000 1,007,000

Income taxes payable 2,023,000 - - 957,000

Deferred income taxes - — 824,000
Liabilities of discontinued operations—

current 7,379,000 8,691,000

Liabilities of discontinued operatuons—
non-current . _ 100,000

Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 7,379,000 $ 8,791,000

Total net (liabilities) assets $(5,258,000) $15,301,000

As of September 18, 2006, substantially all of the July 31, 2006
assets {(which primarily related 1o the finalization of the Olympus
transaction) have been converted to cash and a significant por-
tion of the liabilities have been paid; the remaining liabilities
will be settled prior to the end of fiscal 2007.

6. Financial Instruments

We account for derivative instruments and hedging activities
in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133"}, as amended.
SFAS 133 requires the Company to recognize all derivatives on
the balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not desig-
nated as hedges must be adjusted {o fair value through earn-
ings. If the derivative is designated as a hedge, depending on
the nature of the hedge. changes in the fair value of the deriv-
ative will either be offset against the change in the fair value
of the hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments through
earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until
the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective por-
tion of the change in fair value of a derivative that’is designated
as a hedge will be immediately recognized in earnings.

N

Carsen purchased and paid for a substantial portion of its prod-

ucts in United States dollars and sold its products in Canadian .

dollars, and was therefore exposed to fluctuations in the rates

‘of exchange between the United States dollar and the Canadian
. dollar. In order to hedge against the impact of such currency

fluctuations on the purchases of inventories, Carsen entered
into foreiﬁn currency forward contracts on firm purchases of
such inventories in United States doliars. These foreign cur-
rency forward contracis were designated as cash flow hedge
instruments. Due to the sale of substantially all of Carsen’s
assets to Olympus on July 31, 2006, Carsen no longer has any

such forelgn currency forward contracts at July 31, 2006.

In addition, changes in the value of the euro against the
United States dollar affect our results of operations because
a portion of the net assets of our Netherlands subsidiary
(which are reported in our Dialysis and Endoscope Reproc-
essing segments) are denominated and ultimately settled in
United States dotlars but must be converted into its functional
eurc currency. In order to hedge against the impact of fluc-
tuations in the value of the euro relative to the United States
dollar, we enter into short-term contracts to purchase euros
forward, which contracts are generally one month in duration.
These shortterm contracts are designated as fair value hedge
instruments. Due to the insignificant net amount of assets
and habilities of our Netherlands subsidiary denominated in
United States dollars at July 31, 2006, we did not have any
foreign currency forward contracts on that date. Under our
credit facilities, such contracts o purchase euros may not .
exceed $12,000,000 in an aggregate notional amount at any
time. During fiscal 2006, such forward contracts were effec-
tive in ofisetting most of the impact of the weakening of the
eurc on our results of operations.

Al of our foreign currency forward coniracts were designated
as hedges in accordance with SFAS 133. Recognition of gains

‘and losses related to the Canadian foreign currency forward

contracts were deferred within other comprehensive income
untit settlement of the underlying commitments, and realized
gains and losses were recorded within cost of sales upon set-
tlement. Gains and lesses related to the hedging contracis to
buy euros forward are immediately realized within general and
administrative expenses due to the short-term nature of such
contracts. We do not hold any derivative financial instruments .
for speculative or trading purposes.

As of July 31, 2006 and 2005, the carrying amounts for cash
and cash equivalents, accounis receivable and accounts pay-
able approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments. We believe that as of July 31, 20086, the fair value
of our outstanding borrowings under our credit facilities approx-
imates the carrying value of those obligations based on'the
borrowing rates which are comparable to market interest rates.

R
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7. Intangibles and Goodwill

ante! Medical Corp. oL

Our intangible assets which contmue to be sub;ect to amorhzatuon consist primarily of customer relationships, technology, brand
names, non-compete agreemerits and patents. These lntanglb!e assets are being amortized on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from 3-20 years and have a weighted average amortization period of 10 years as of
July 31, 2006. Amortlzahon expense related to intangible assets was $4,726,000,'$1,590,000 and $1,264,000 for fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectlvely Intang|ble assets acqusred in conjunctlon with the Crosstex acquisition are more fully described in Note 3

to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives and therefore are not amortized -

consist of frademarks and {radenames.

The Company's intangible assets consist of the following:

July 31, 2006
Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net
Intangible assets with finite lives:
Customer relationships $23,411,000 $(4,778,000) $18,633,000
Technology 8,880,000 (2,929,000) 5,951,000
Brand names 8,700,000 (870,000) 7,830,000
Non-compete agreaments 1,969,000 (469,000) 1,500,000
Patents and other registrations 343,000 (46,000) 297,000
43,303,000 (9,092,000) 34,211,000
Trademarks and tradenames 9,008,000 _ 9,008,000
Total intangible assets $52,311,000  $(9,092,000) $43,219,000
July 31, 2005
- Accumulated
) . Gross Amortization - Net
Intangible assets with finite lives: . - .
Customer relationships $ 5123.000 $(2.141,000) § 2,982,000
Technology S T 8,404,000 (2,034,000 6,370,000
Non-compete agreements 169,000 (113,000)° 56,000
Patents and other registrations . 384,000 (39,000 345,000
) ) 14,080,000 (4,327,000) 9,753,000
Trademarks and tradenames 3,462,000 — 3,462,000
Total intangible assets” $17.542,000 $(4,327,0000 $13,215,000
Estlmated annual amortlzat\on expense of our intangible assets for the next five years is as follows:
Year Endmg July 31, ;
2007 $4,724,000
2008 -4,527,000
2009 4,206,000
2010 3,982,000
2011 3,765,000
Goodwill changed during fiscal 2006 and 2005 as follows:
' Water -
Endoscope Purification Total
Dialysis Dental Reprocessing  and Filtration  All Other Goodwill -
Balance, July 31, 2004 $8958,000 & — $6,245,000 $11,321.000 $6,599,000 - $33,123.000
Adjustments primarily relating to income
tax exposure of acguired businesses (543,000 — — (285,000) (69.000) (887.000)
Foreign currency translation o !— — 13,000 401,000 469,000 883,000
Balance, July 31, 2005 . 8.41 5.0{)0 —_ 6.258,000 11,437,000 7.009,000 33,119,000
Acquisitions —:— 34,543,000 _ 582,000 — 35,125,000
Earnout on acquisition — . 3,667,000 . — — — 3,667,000
Adjustments primarily relating to income : ' : '
taxes of acquired businesses (153,000) . — —_ (66,000 {87.000) (306,000
Foreign currency translation !—— . — 94,800 396,000 476,000 966.000
Balance, July 31, 2006 $3,262,0b0 $38,210,000 $6,352,000 $12,349,000 $7,398,000 $72,571,000

On July 31, 2006 and 2005, we performed impairment studies of the Company's goodwill and trademark and tradenames and con-

cluded that such assets were not impaired.
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8. Warranties

A summary of activity in the warranty reserves follows:
Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005
Beginning balance $ 581,000 $ 658,000
Provisions ’ 848,000 746,000
Charges ’ (845,000) {827,000
Foreign currency translation 4,000 4,000

Acquisitions 31,000 —
’ $ 619,000 $ 581,000

Ending Balance

The warrahty provisions and charges during fiscal 2006 and
2005 relate principally to the Company's endoscope reprocess-
ing products.

9. Financing Arrangements

in conjunct'{on with the acquisition of Crosstex, we entered
into amended and restated credit facilities dated as of August
1, 2005 (the "2005 U.S. Credit Facilities”) with a consortium of
United States lenders to fund the cash consideration paid in
the acquisition and costs associated with the acquisition, as
well as to modify our existing United States credit facilities. The
2005 U.S. Credit Facilities include (i) a six-year $40.0 million
senior secured amortizing term loan facility and (ii} a five-year
$35.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility. In addition,
we agreed to repay the July 31, 2005 outstanding borrowings
of $15,750,000 under our original term loan facility within ninety
{80) days from the closing. In October 2005, such amount was
repaid primarily through the repatriation of funds from our
foreign subsidiaries. Amounts we repay under the term loan
facility may not be re-borrowed. Additionally, we incurred debt
issuance costs of approximately $1,426,000, of which $160,000
of third-party costs was recorded in general and administrative
expenses during the three months ended October 31, 2005 in
accordance with applicable accounting rules. The remaining
$1,266,000 of costs was recorded in other assets and will be
amortized over the life of the credit facilities.

Borrowings under the 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities bear interest

at rates ranging from 0% to 0.75% above the lender's base
rate, or at rates ranging from 1.0% to 2.0% above the London
Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), depending upon our, consoli-
dated ratio of debt to earnings before interest, taxes, deprecia-
tion and amortization, and as further adjusted under the terms
of the 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities ("EBITDA"). At July 31, 20086,
the lender's base rate was 8.25% and the LIBOR rate was 4.22%.
The margins applicable to our outstanding borrowings at July
31, 2006 were 0.00% above the lender's base rate and 1.25%
above LIBOR. All of our outstanding borrowings were under
LIBOR contracts at July 31, 2008. The 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities
alsc provide for fees on the unused portion of our facmtres at
rates ranging from 0.20% to 0.40%, depending uponfour con- o
solidated ratio of debt to EBITDA; such rate was 0.25% at
July 31, 20086,

The 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities require us to meet certain finan-
cial covenants and are secured by (i) substantiatty all of our
U.S.-based assets (including assets of Cantel, Minntech,

Mar Cor and Crosstex) and (ii} our pledge of ali of the out-
standing shares of Minntech, Mar Cor and Crosstex and 65%
of the outstanding shares of our foreign-based. subsidiaries.
Additionally, we are not permiited to pay cash dividends on aur
Common Stock without the consent of our United States lend-
ers. In June 2006, Crosstex obtained a 600,000 euro standby
letter of credit from its former bank relating to a fixed asset
being constructed for Crosstex. Subsequent to July 31, 2006,

a waiver was received from our lenders permitting the standby
letter of credit. We are in compliance with all financial and
other covenants under the 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities.

On July 31, 2006, we had $38,000,000 of outstanding borrow-
ings under the 2005 U.S. Credit Facilities, all of which was
under the-United States term loan facility. In July 2006, we ter-
minated our Canadian-based senior secured revolving credit
facility with a Canadian bank due to the July 31, 2006 sale of
substantially all of Carsen’s assets.

The maturities of our United States term loan facility are
described in Note 11 te the Consolidated Financial Statements.

10. Income Taxes

The consolidated effective tax rate from.continuing operations was 44.3%, 41.0% and 41.6% for fiscal 2006, 2005, and 2004, respec-
tively, and reflects income tax expense for our United States and international operatlons at their respective statutory rates.

The provision for income taxes from continuing operatlons consists of the following:

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2006 2004
Current Deferred Current Delerred Current Deferred
. United States: ‘
Federal $5,554,000  $(1,337,000) $1,269,000  $2,765,000 $183.000  $2.838.000
State 1,398,000 (297,000) 778,000 11,000 434,000 (65.000)
Canada 367,000 (177,000) 781,000 {267.000) 100,000 (134,000)
Netherlands {118,000) \ {25,000) —_ (24,000) — (30,000}
Japan . — (66,000) 174,000 — 144,000 —

Total $7,200,000

$(1,902,000)

$3.002,000  $2,485,000 $861,000  $2,609,000
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The geographic components of income from continuing opera-
tions before income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 2004
United States $14,126,000 $12,936,000  $8,756,000
Canada © 386,000 1,456,000 (246.000)
Netherlands (2,423,000) (1397.0000  (483.000)
Japan (138,000) 387,000 320,000
Total $13.382,000  $8,347.000

$11,951,000

The effective tax rate from continuing operaticns differs frorrL
the United States statutory tax rate (35% in 2006 and 34% in
2005 and 2004) due to the following:

Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005 2004
Expected statutory tax $ 4,183,000 3 4550000 $2.838,000
Differential attributable
to foreign operations:;
Canada 54,000 18,000 48,000
Netherlands 704,000 451,000 134,000
Japan (18,000) 43000 - - 35,000
State and local taxes 694,000 521,000 230,000
Extraterritorial income
exclusion (117,000) (85,000} (39,000)
Stock ogtion expense 35,000 — -
Tax reserve provision (84,000) {30,000) 232,000
Domestic production
deduction X (241,000) — —
Change in Federal f e .
tax rate . 39,000 - =
Other ' " 49,000 19,000 . (8,000)
Total $ 5,288,000 $ 5487000 $3‘470.0:00

Deferred income tax assets and liahilities from continuing
operations are comprised of the following:

Year Ended July 31,
2006 2005 .
Current deferred tax assets: - )
Accrued expenses  ° $ 1,108,000 $ 1,286.000
Inventories - 873,000 865.000
Allowance for doubtful accounts 171,000 128,000
Alternative minimum tax credit : — 236,000
Domestic NOLs _— 151,000
Subtotal 2,152,000 2 666.000
Valuation aliowance | o (671,000) _
. , © 8 1,481,000 $ 2,666,000
Non-current deferred tax assets:
Goodwill - $ 165000 3 207000
Other long-term ||ab|||t|es 672,000 697,000
Stock-based compensation 240,000 i -
Foreign tax credit © 1,424,000 —
Foreign NOLs 321,000 -
Capitalized R&D costs 1,070,000 e
Other 94,000 —
Subtotal 3,986,000 904,000
Valuation allowance (2,172,000) —
1,814,000 904,000
Naon-current deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment (5,966,000) (3,172,000
Intangitle assets (15,906,000) {4,458,000)
Cumulative translation adjustrment (1,443,000) (1.918,000)
Tax on unremitted foreign earnings (520,000) (1,756,000)
(28,835,000)  (11,305,000)

Net non-current deferred tax liabilities  $(22,021,000) $(10|401.QOO)

e .

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been adjusted for
changes in statutory tax rates as appropriate. Such changes
only have a significant impact in the United States where sub-
stantially alt of our deferred tax items exist. Such deferred tax
itemns reflect a combined U.S. Federal and state effective rate
of approximately 39% for fiscal 2006.

For domestic tax reporting purposes, our net operating loss
carryforwards ("NOLs") were fully utitized during the three

months ended October 31, 2005. For foreign tax reporting pur- -
poses, our NOLs at July 31, 2006 are approximately $1,133,000.

Of this amount, the NOLs from our Japanese subsidiary total
approximately $137,000 and expire on July 31, 2013. The remain-

" ing NOLs of $996,000 relate to our Netherlands subsidiary and

have an indefinite life.

On January 1, 2008, a favorable tax rufing in the Netherlands
expired. This favorable ruling generated no effective tax rate
for the Netherlands. The expiration of the ruling generated an
effective tax rate which gave rise to deferred tax assets amount-
ing to approximately $1,419,000 as of July 31, 2006. A valuation
allowance was established in fiscal 2006 to reduce substantiaily
all the net deferred tax assets of our Netherlands subsidiary.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
{the "Act") became law. The Act creates a ona-time tax incen-
tive for United States corporations to repatriate accumulated
income earned abroad by providing a tax deduction equal to
85% of the dividends received for certain foreign earnings that
are repatriated. In December 2004, the FASB issued FASB
Staff Position 109-2, which provided inierpretative guidance

in connection with accounting for the impact of the Act, due
to the lack of clarification of the provisions within the Act and
the timing of enactment.

We repatriated dividends of approximately $2,000,000 and
$44,872,000 of qualified foreign earnings from continuing
operations and discontinued operations, respectively, during
fiscal 2006 for which we have provided U.S. Federal and state
income taxes and foreign withholding taxes.

A portion of the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsid-
iaries amounting to approximately $1,447,000 was considered
to be indefinitely reinvested at July 31, 2006. Accordingly, no
provision.has been made for United States income taxes that
might result from repatriation cf these earnings.

Canadian income taxes related to income from discontinued
operations have an effective tax rate of approximately 35.4%. We
also recorded a gain on d|sposa| of discontinued operations of
$6.776,000, which is net of $4,621,000 in taxes. Such income
taxes related to the gain on disposal of discontinued operétions
include Canadian income and foreign withholding taxes of
$2,617.000 and U.S. income taxes of $2,004,000. Such U.S.
income taxes and foreign withholding taxes refated excluswely
to the aforementioned dividend repatriation. Add|t|0nally, we.
also recorded a deferred tax asset of approximately $1,424,000
related to a foreign tax credit that resulted from the dividend
repatriation. This foreign tax credit carryover expires on July 31,
2016. A full valuation altowance was established in fiscal 2006
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on this foreign tax credit as we believe that it is more likely than nct that we will not utilize the foreign tax credit. See Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financiai Statements for additional information related to discontinued operations.

We had income tax reserves from continuing operations totaling $1,088,000 and $1,433,000 at July 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. '
Such amounts were recorded in income taxes payable.

11. Commitments and Contingencies h

Long-Term Contractual Obligations
Aggregate annual required payments over the next flve years and thereafter under our contractual obllgatlons that have long-term

St : Year Ended July 31, h ©
2007 2008 2008 2010 2011 Thereafter Total

(Amounts in thousands) |

$ 4,000 $38,000

Maturities of the credit facilities , $ 6,000 % 8000 $10.000 -$10.000 3 —
A Exp_pcged mterest payments under the credit fagilities™ ' ‘ 2,441 2,106 1,642 1,040 366 — . 7,588
MR commitrents under hdncancelablg” operating Ieases . 2748 e .3_2,261,_‘_&;}(“'_#,‘2:092' . ‘1 58 31 085 -
Minimum cemmitments under noncancelable capital leases’ 14 — e f HEGNY
Note payable—Dyped 734 638 — — — i
Deferred compensation and other 55 47 41 34 406 1,012 1595 'y
Employment agreemenis 3,290 1,594 224 110 116 122 5456
Totat contractual obligations $13.282 $12.64% $11,99% $312773 $11.973 $3,266 $65942

(1) The expected inferest payments under the credit facilities reﬂec:{ an interest rate of B.75%, which was our interest rafe on outstanding borrowings at Sepfember 18, 20086,

Operating Leases

Minimum commitments under operating leases include mini-
mum rental commitments for our leased manufacturing
facilities, warshouses, office space and equipment.

Five of the more significant leases that contain escalation
clauses are two building feases for our Water Purification and
Filtration business and three building leases for our Dental
husiness. The two Water Purification and Filtration building
leases are far the United States headquarters in suburban
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and the Canadian headquarters

" in suburban Toronto, Ontario. The lease for the Philadelphia

building provides for monthly base rent of approximately
$15,100 during fiscal 2007 and escalates annually to approx-
imately $18,200 in fiscal 2017 when it expires. The Toronto
building lease provides for monthly base’rent of approximately
$8,900 during fiscal 2007 through fiscal 2009 and escalates

to approximately $11,000 in fiscal 2010. The Toronto building
lease expires in fiscal 2015. Both the Philadelphia and Toronto
building leases are guaranteed by Cantel. Additionally, our
Dental segment has three significant builging leases with
escalation clauses that are used for manufacturing and ware-
housing. One building lease in Sharon, Pennsylvania provides
for monthly base rent of approximately $7,700 during fiscal
2007 and escalates annually to approximately $9,700 in fiscal
2015 when it expires. This facility is owned by an entity con-
trolled by three of the former owners of Crosstex (two of whom
currently serve as officers of Crossiex). The second building
lease in Lawrenceville, Georgia provides for monthly base rent
of approximately $11,000 during fiscal 2007 and escalates

annually to approximately $11,800 in fiscal 2011 when it expires,

The third building lease in Santa Fe Springs, California provides
far monthly base rent of approximately $18,000 during fiscal

2007 and escalates annually to approximately $19.900 in {iscal
2011 when it expires.

Rent expense related to operating leases for fiscal 2006 was
recorded on a straight-line basis and aggregated $2,881,000
{including rent expense attributable {o our Dental segment
of approximately $782,000) compared with $2,071,000 and
$1,703,000 for fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively. The fiscal
2006, 2005 and 2004 amounts exclude rent expense related
to our discontinued operations.

Capital Leases
Minimum commitments under capital leases are for four trucks
used in our Water Purification and Filtration business. The

- aggregate cost of the four trucks was approximately $122.000.

At July 31, 2006 and 2005, the net book value included in
property and equipment was approxirmately $12,000 and
$41,000, respectively.

Dyped Note Payable and Other Long-Term Liabilities
In conjunction with the Dyped acquisition on September
12, 2003, we issued a note with a face value of €1,350,000

" ($1.505,000 using the exchange rate on the date of the acqui-

sition). At July 31, 2006, approximately $1,372,000 of this note
was outstanding using the exchange rate on July 31, 2006
Such note is non-interest bearing and has been recorded at

" its present value of $1,282,000 at July 31, 2006. The current

portion of this note is recorded in accrued expenses and the
remainder is recorded in other long-term liabilities.

Also included in other long-term liabilities are deferred com-
pensation arrangements for certain former Minntech directors
and officers.
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12. Stock-Basedeompénsation

On August 1, 2005, we adopted Statement of Financial Accou‘ntmg
Standards (“SFAS") No. 123, “Share-Based Payment (Rewsed
2004)" ("SFAS 123R") using the modified prospective rnethod
for the transition. Under the modified prospective method, stock
compensaiion expense will be recognized for any option grant
or stock award granted on or after August 1, 20085, as well as
the unvested portxon of stock options granted prior to Augt'rst 1,
2005, based upon the award's fair value. For fiscal 2005 and
earlier periods, we ‘have accounted for stock options usmg
the intrinsic value method under,which stock compensation

|
expense is not recognized because we granted stock optlons

with exercise prices equal {0 the market value of the shares at '

the date of grant

The followmg table shows the income statement components
of stock-based compensation expense recognized in the
Consolidated Statement of Income in fiscal 2006:

Year Ended

July 31! 2008
Cost cf sales i . ] 50',000

Operating expenses: -
Selling -~ ¢ 141,000
-General and administrative . - 845,000
Research and development i 20,000

-t - l ————
Total operating expenses i 1,006,000

Qiscont_inued operations ! 122,000 -

Stock-based compensation before income taxes 1,118;000
Income tax benefits (248,000)
Total stock-based compensation expense, net of tax $ 93d.OOD

For the year ended July 31, 2006, we have recorded in our
condensed consollrdated financial statements stock- based
compensation expense in the amount of $1,178,000 (whm.tt
decreased both baSIC and diluted earnmgs per share from net
income by $0.06) W|th a corresponding increase to add:tronal
capital, partially offset by the related income tax benefits of
$248,000 (which pertam to options that do rot qualify as|
incentive stock optrons) with a corresponding increase to
long-term deferredtlncome tax assets (which are netted with
long-term deterred income tax Ilab|I|t:es)

Most of our stock optlons are subject to graded vesting in which
portions of the option award vest at different fimes durind the
vesting period, as opposed to awards that vest at the end :ot
the vesting period. We recognize compensation expense for
options subject to graded vesting using the straight-line.basis,
reduced by estimated forfeitures. Total-unrecognized stock
based compensation expense related to total nonvested stock
options was $651,000 at July 31, 2006 with a remaining welghted
average period of 18 months over which such expense is
expected to be recognized.

The falr value of each option grant is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model with the

. following assumptions for. ophons granted durlng fiscal 2006,

2005 and 2004. -

Weighted Average

Black-Scholes Option Year Ended July 31,
Valuation Assumptions ) 2006 2005 2004
Dividend yield ‘ 0.0% 00% . 0.0%
Expected volatility™ 0.515 0.446 . 0425
Risk-free interest rate® | 465%  3.67%  3.32%
Expected lives {in years)® ! 4.80 3.49° T 447

(1) Volatility was based on historical closing prices of our Common Stock.
(2} The U.S. Treasury rate based on the expected life at the date of grant.
(3) Based on historical exercise behaw‘or. -

Additionelly. ail options were considered to be non-deductible
for tax purposes in the valuation model, except for options
granted during fiscal 2006 and 2005 under the 1998 Director's
Plan and certain options under the 1997 Employee Plan. Such
non-qualified options were tax-effected using the Company's
estimated U.S. effective tax rate at the time of grant, In fiscal
2006, 2005 and 2004, the weighted average fair value of all
options granted was $8.15, $7.38 and $3.94, respectively. The
aggregate intrinsic value (i.e., the excess market price over the
exercise price) of all options exercised was approximately
$2.714,000. $5,545,000 and $4,878,000 in fiscal 2008, 2005 and
2004, respectively. The aggregate fair value of all options vested
was approximately $1,797,000, $7,555,000 and $1,690,000 in
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The aggregate fair
value of afl options vested during fiscal 2005 was significant
due to the accelerated vesting of certain options as more fully
explained in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Staternents.

A eummary of stock option activity follows:

Mumber  Weighted Average
of Shares Exercise Price
Qutstanding at July 31, 2003 2,271,277 % 569
Granted . 719,813 993
Canceled (64,545) 9.83
Exercised (680,895} 5.35
Qutstanding at July 31, 2004 2,245,650 7.03
Granted ‘897,525 20.30
Canceled (37.221) 12.63
Exercised (397,461) 7.08
Qutstanding at July 31, 2005 2,708,483 11.35 .

"~ Granted 69,375 16.83
Canceled (88.442) * 8.96
Exercised (315,727 ° 8.48

Qutstanding at July 31, 2006 2,373,698 $11.98

Exercisabie at July 31, 2004 1,228,364 $ 535

Exercisable at July 31, 2005 2,065,895 $11.87°
$12.07

Exercisable at July 31, 2006 2,125,735
Upon exercise of stock options, we typically issue new shares
of our Common Stock (as opposed to-using treasury shares).

If certaln criteria are met when an option is exercised, the
Company is allowed a deduction on its income tax return.
Accordingly, we account for the income tax effect on such
income tax deductions as additional capital (assuming deferred
tax assets do not exist pertaining to the exercised stock
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|
| options) and as a reduction of income taxes payable. In fiscal excess tax benefits to be classified as financing cash flows.
|

2006, options exercised resulted in income tax deductions that + In fiscal 2006, $787,000 in excess tax benefits were shown as
reduced income taxes payable by $1.166,000. financing cash flows in our Consolldated Statement of Cash

. Flow
AtJuly 31, 2005 (prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R), we ows. Excess tax benefits arise when the ultimate tax effect of
the deduction for tax purposes is greater than the tax benefit
: presented all tax- benefrts of deductions- resultrng from the--
1 o0 stock compensation expense (including tax benefits on

- exercrs fof StockiaD tronSfas 0 eratm Rfowsin the A2
: iystockiop 20D g{r:as < SIOCR compensatron expensevthatliasToniyibeen reﬂectedlrnm
idated statements of cash flows Beginning August 1, 2005,
the pro forma disclosures) which was detérmired based upon
we changed our cash flow presentation in accordance with ,
the award's fair value.

SFAS 123R which requires the cash flows resulting from

The following table summarizes additional information related to stock options outstanding at July 31, 20086:

Options Outstanding s Options Exercisable ,
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Number Remaining Number Remaining
Range of Exercise Qutstanding at Contractual Life Weighted Average  Exercisable at Contraciual Life Weighted Average
Prices July 31, 2006 ‘(Months}) Exercise Price July 31,2006 . (Months) Exercise Price .
$ 2.27-35.16 642,375 2 § 302 U gala st e A e e
$ 7.00-$14.83 798,048 24 $ 957 594,334 21 % 9.51
$15 23—$29 49 933,276 42 $20 21 889,026 42 $20 32

T %

: wir- 2*125"735 e -«-‘-‘-530 S _..5.1&.512 O

r“" Total intr|n5|c Value o h"$'1 17;2922 S - ) v $10,195,315
i A summary of our stock option plans follows: 1998 Directors’ Plan
) A total of 450,000 shares of Common Stock was originally
1997 Employee Plan ' reserved for issuance or available for grant under our
A total of 3,750,000 shares of Common _StOCk was originally 1998 Directors' Stock Option Plan, as amended.:Options
reserved for issuance or available for grant under our 1997 . under this plan: ‘
Employee Stock Option Plan, as amended, which exprres on -
%: October-15,2007. Options under this plan; —are granted to directors at the closing market price at the
time of grant, -
—are granted at the closing market price at the time of —are granted automatically to each newly appomted or
= the grant, , elected director to purchase 15,000 shares,
—are granted primarily as incentive stock options (although —are granted annually on the last day of our fiscal year
non-incentive stock options are permitted), to each member of our Board of Directors to purchase
—are usually exercisable in three or four equal annual . 1,500 shares (assuming the individual is still a'member of
installments contingent upon being employed by the the Board of Directors. 50% are exercisable on the first
Company during that period, and anniversary%f the grant of such options and 50% are
—typically expire five years from the date of the grant. exercisable on the second anniversary of the grant of
This plan was amended in December 2003 to permit the grant of such options),

—are granted quarterly on the last day of each of our fiscal
quarters to each non-employee direcior whe attended that
. quarter's regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting to

options that do not qualify as incentive stock cpticns. At July 31,
2006, options to purchase 1,698,699 shares of Cammon Stock

were outstanding under the 1997 Employee Plan and 642,785
shares were available for grant. In July 2005, we accelerated purchase 750 shares (100% are exercisable immediately),
the vesting f certain unvested and “out-of-the-money” stock —have a term of ten years if granted prior to July 31, 2000 or
options, as more fully described above. - five years if granted on or after July 31, 2000, and

: —do not qualify as incentive stock options.

At July 31, 2006, options to purchase 266,625 shares of
Common Stock were outstanding under the 1998 Directors’
Plan and 86,625 shares were available for grant.

1991 Directors’ Plan S
Atotal of 450,000 shares of Common Stock was originally
reserved for issuance or available for grant under our 1991
Directors' Stock Option Plan, which expired in fiscal 2001.
All options outstanding at July 31, 2006 under this plan do not Non-Plan Options

qualify as incentive stock options, have a term or_‘ ten years We also have 345,375 non-plan options outstanding at July 31,
and are fully exercisable, At July 31, 2006, options to purchase 2006 which have been granted at the closing market price at
B83.000 shares of Commaon Stock ware outstanding: No addrtlonal the time of grant and expire up to a maximum of ten years
optlons will be granted under this plan. from the date of grant. These non-plan options do not qualify

as incentive stock options.




13. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Our accumulated other comprehenswe income consists of the
following:

duty 31,
' 2006 2005
Unrealized loss on currency hedgmg i . .
net of tax $ — § (90.000}
Accumulated translation adjustment, ‘
‘net of tax 6,715,000 5,711,000

$6,715,000  $5,621,000

For purposes of translating the balance sheet at July 31, 2006
compared with July 31, 2005, the value of the Canadian dollar
increased by approximately 8.2% and the vélue of the euro
increased by approximately 5.2% compared with the value|of
the United States dollar. The total of these currency movements
increased the accumulated translation adestment_ by $1,004,000
during fiscal 2006 after adjusting for the realization of the

:cumulative translation adjustment related to our discontini_red
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operations in the amount of $3,286,000 (which was recorded in
the gain on disposal of discontinued operations, net of tax, in
the Consolidated Statement of Income).

14. Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share are computed based upon
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year ' e

Diluted earnings per common share are computed based upon
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the year plus the dilutive effect of comman stock
equwalents using the treasury stock method and the average
market price of our Common Stock for the_year

N . . . ) A . <
The calculations of weighted average common shares and

earnings per sharé for all periods presented reflect the January
2005 stock split, as described in Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. it

The following table'sets forth the computation of bésic'aﬁrlj dileted earnin'gs per common share: ~

Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005 2004
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share: ]
Income from contir;'iuing operations - © $ 6,653,000 $ 7805000 - ‘% 4,877,000
Income from d|scont|nued -gperations . 10,268,000 1,610,000 5,777.000
Galn from dlscontmued operatlons 6776000 = = — -
Net i income $23,697,000 . $15505.000 $10,654,000
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share: ! L ' ' )
Denominator for basic earnings per share—weighted average number of shares outstanding 15,470,990 14,230,318 14,187,603 -
D|Iut|ve effect of options using the treasury stock methed and the  average market price for the year 804,698 1,377,423 1,056,554
Denomlnator for dituted earnlngs per share—welghted average number of shares and common . o .
stock equivalents : 16,275,688 16,207,741 15,244,157

Be_r5|c earnings per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Gain from discontinued operations

Nat income N

" Diluted earnings per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Gain from discontinued operations

Net income

$ - 043 § « 053 3% 0.34

0.66 0.52 0.41
048 — -
$° 153 $ 105 % 0.75

$ 041 049 § 032
0.63 0.47 0.38
0.42 .= —

$ ' 146 '3 096 $ 0.70

15. Repurchase of Shares

. . . t

In April 20086, our Board of Directors approved the repurchase
of up to 500,000 shares of our outsianding Common Stock
Under the repurchase program we repurchase shares from
time-to-time at prevailing prices and as permitted by appllcable
securities laws (mcludmg SEC Rule 10b-18) and New York Stcck
Exchange requirements, and subject to market condrtlons‘ The
repurchase program has a one-year-term ending April 12, 2007.

The first purchase under our repurchase erogram-occurred on
Aprit 19, 2006, Through July 31, 2008, we had completed the
repurchase of 303,000 shares under the repurchase program.

The followihg table summarizes the repurchase of Comrmon .
Stock under the repurchase program during fiscal 2008:

. Maximum Number
- Total Number

Average of Shares That May
Price Paid of Shares Yei Be Purchased
Month ) Per Share Purchased Under the Program
April. C 31463 123300 376,700
May $14.00 43,800 332,900
June $13.69 110,400 222,500
July $14.30 25,500 197,000
303.000
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Through September 18, 2006, we had completed the purchase
of 349,600 shares under the repurchase program at a tota!

average price per share of $14.14. Therefore, at September 18,
2006, the maximum. number of shares that may be purchased

under the program are 160,400 shares, - : -

16. Retirement Plans

We have 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plans for the benefit
of eligible United States employees. Additionally, Crosstex

maintains a profit sharing plan for the benefit of eligible employ-

ees, Contributions by the Company are both discretionary and
non- dlscret|onary and are limited in any year to the amount

--a-—a\lowabl“ti‘?tﬁ“"lnternal Revenue Service.

Aggregate employer contributions under these plans were
$898,000, $1,054,000 and $537,000 for fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. In fiscal 2006, our new Dental segment
contributed $399,000. The higher employer contributions in
fiscal 2005, compared with fiscal 2006 and 2004, was primarily
due to the Company providing discretionary contributions in
fiscal 2005 to eligible United States employees primarily in our
Dialysis, Endoscope Reprocessing and Therapeutic reporting
segments. No such discretionary contributions were given in
fiscal 2006 and 2004.

t7. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Interest paid was $3,289,000, $966.000 and $1,082,000 for fiscal
2006, 2005 and_ 2004, respectively.

Income tax payments were $7,470,000, $2,137,000 and $421.000
for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The increase in
income tax payments in fiscal 2006 as compared to fiscal 2005
and 2004 is due to the full utilization of our remaining Federal
net opera_ting'loss carryforwards in fiscal 2006. Included in the
fiscal 2004 income tax payments are refunds received which
related to prior year overpayments of foreign income taxes.

As part of the purchase price for the Crosstex acquisition, as
more fully described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, 384.821 shares of Cantel common stock (valued at
$6,737,000) were issued to the former Crosstex shareholders.

18. Information as to Operating Segments and
Foreign and Domestic Operations

We are a leading provider of infecticn prevention and control
products in the healthcare market. Cur products include
specialized medical device reprocessing systems for renal
dialysis and endoscopy, dialysate concentrates and other
dialysis supplies, water purification equipment, sterilants,
disinfectants and cleaners, hollow fiber membrane filtration and
separation products for medical and non-medical applications,
and specialty packaging for infectious and biological specimens.
We also provide technical maintenance for our products and
offer compliance training services for the transport of infectious
and hiological specimens.

In accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments
of an Enterprise and Related Information” {("SFAS 131", we have
determined our repcrtable business segments based upon
an assessment of product types, organizational structure,

customers and internally prepared financial statements. The

primary factors used by us in analyzing segment performance .

are net sales and operating income.

- Since the acquisition of Crosstex was completed on the first day

of fiscat 2008, the results of operations of Crosstex are included
in the accomparying segment information for fiscal 2006 and
are excluded from the accempanying segment information
for fiscal 2005 and 2004, The Crosstex acquisition added a’

new reporting segment known as Dental-as: more-fully ‘st

described below.

Since the acquisition of Sai-T-Pak occurred in June 1, 2004, its
results of operations are included in the accompanying seg-
ment information for fiscal 2006, 2005 and the portion of fiscal
2004 subseguent to the date of acquisition.

The Company's segments are as foliows:

Dialysis, which includes disinfection/sterilization reprocessing

“equipment, sterilants, supplies and concentrates related to

hemodialysis treatment of patients with acute kidney failure or
chronic kidney failure associated with end-stage renal disease.
Additionally, this segment includes technical maintenance
service on its products.

Dental, which includes single-use infection contro! products
used principally in the denta! market such as face masks, patient
towels and bibs, self-sealing sterilization pouches, tray covers,
sterifization packaging accessories, surface barriers including
eyewear, aprons and gowns, disinfectants and deodorizers,
germicidal wipes, hand care products, gloves, sponges, cotton
products, cupé, needles and syringes, scalpels and blades,
and saliva evacuators and ejectors.

QOur Dental segment is particularly reliant on four customers

who collectively accounted for 48% of Dental segment net sales '

and 13% of our consolidated net sales from continuing operations
during fiscal 2006. Three of such customers, Henry Schein,
Benco Dental and Patterson Dental each accounted for 10%
or more of this segment’s net sales during that period.

Water Purification and Filtration, which includes water
purification equipment design and manufacturing, project
management, installation, maintenance, deionization and
mixing systems, as well as hollow fiber filter devices and °
ancillary products for high-purity fluid and separation
applications for the medical, pharmaceutical, biotechnology,
research, beverage and semiconducter industries, Additionally,
this segment includes cold sterilant products used to disinfect
high-purity water systems.”

Endoscope Reprocessing, which includes endoscope disin-
fection equipment and related accessories and supplies that are
sold to hospitals, clinics and physicians. Additionally, this seg-
ment includes technical maintenance service on its products.




All Other
In ac¢ordance with guantitative thresholds establlshed by
SFAS 131,'we have combined the Specialty Packaging,
and Therapeutic operatmg segments into the Alt Other
‘reporting segment, '

Specialty Packagmg, which includes spemalty packaging

and thermal contro! products, as well as related compliance
A trammg for the safe transport of mfectious and biological

specimens and thermally sensmve pharmaceutical, medical -

i

- and other products.

Therapeutic Filtration, which includes hollow fiber filter]
devices and ancillary products for use in medical applica-
_tions that are sold to biotech manufacturers and third-party
distributors.

. b}
i

On.July 31, 2006, Carsen.closed the sale of substantlally all of
its assets to Olympus America Inc. and certain of its afflhates

under an Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of.May 16, 2006~
among Carsen, Cantél and Olympus, as more-fully descnbed in -

Note 5'to the Consolldated Financial Statements. As a resultI of
the foregoing transactlon Carsen no longer has any remalnlng

product lines or active business operations. The businesses of
Carsen, previously reported in the Endoscopy and Surgical, | -
Endoscope Reprocessing and All Other reporting segments,
- are reflected as a d|sc0nt|nued operation in our Consohdateb
Financial Statements and have been excluded from segment,
results for aji penods presented.

) The operating segments follow the same accounting policies .

used for our Consolidated Financial Statements as describer'j
in Note 2.

Information as to operating segménts is summarized below:
v Year Ended July 31,

N _ : 2006 2005 2004

Net sales: ’ X |
Diatysis $ 58,908,000 $ 65457000 $ 60,810,000
Dental 54,203,000 - — —

Water Purification .
29,718,000

and Filtration 36,356,000 29,123,000
Endoscope - .o
Reprocessing 30,403,000 © 28,677,000 24,726,000
All Other 12,215,000 13,900,000 7,787.000 -
Total . $192,179,000 $137,157,000 $123,041.000
Operating Income:
Dialysis $ 6,915,000 3$ 8081000 $ 6702000
Dental 7,917,000 . — —
Water Purification . T c
_and Filtration 2,758,000 2,711,000 2,849,000
Endoscope ' . L
Reprocessing 2,451,000 4,428,000 2,979,000
All Other 1,722,000 3.973,000 941,000
21,763,000 16,193,000 13,571,000
General corporate ‘
expenses (6,419,000} (4,871,000 (3,727,000}
Interest expense, net (3,393,000) (940,000) (1,497,000}
Income from con-
tinuing operations
before income : -
$ 13382000 $ 8347000

$ 11,951,000

{axes

69 — Cante! Medical Corp,

Year Ended July 31,

7 2006 2005 2004
Identifiable assets:
Dialysis $ 32,856,000 $ 36585000 § 40,930,000
Dental 97,351,000 — —_
Water Purification : .
and Fifiration 35,858,000 31,308,000 28,394,000
Endoscope
Reprocessing 21,602,000 21,634,000 18,906,000
All Other 17,220,000 17,713,000 17,645.000
General corporate, :
including cash
and cash ' . L
equivalents 31,219,000 33,947,000 19,282,000
Total 236,106,000 - 141,187,000 125,157,000
\Assets from discon-
_ tinued operations 2,121,000 24,092,000 21,569,000
Total $238,227,000 - $165279,000 $146,726,000
Capital expenditures: .
Dialysis $. 544000 $ BV0000 $ 728,000
Dental 3,471,000 — —_
Water Purification : ' -
and Filtration . 948,000 1,187,000 563,000
Endoscope - ' :
Reprocessing 861,000 390,000 398,000
All Other 134,000 217,000 87,000
General corporate 111,000 - 40,000 2,000
Total 6,069,000 2,704,000 1,778,000
Assets from discon- . . _
tinued operations —_ 649,000 ~ 140,000
Total $ 6,069,000 $ 3353000 $ 1918000
Depreciation and ' !
amortization: o
Dialysis “$ 1,197,000 3 1841000 $ 1.956,000
Dental 5,344,000. — —
Water Purification .
. and Filtration 1,301,000 1,027,000 570,000
Endoscope )

_ Reprocessing 626,000 643,000 614,000
All Other 865,000 853,000 407,000
General corporate 27,000 33,000 . . 28,000,

Total 9,860,000 4,357,000 3,975,000

Assets from discon- o
tinued ogerations 223,000 169,000 178,000

Totat $ 10,183,000 3F 4566000 $ 4,153,000
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Information as to geographic areas (including net sales which
represent the geographic area from which the Company derives
its net sales from external customers) is summarized below:

- Year Ended July 31,

2006 2005 2004
Net sales:
United States $162,030,000 $104,843,000 $ 97,761,000
Canada 1,960,000 8,761,000 8,062,000
Asia/Pacific 7,996,000 9,647,000 8,242,000
Europe/Africa/ '
Middle East 9,893,000 1,940,000 6,552,000
Latin America/ T coLTTT T LT
_ South America . 4,300,000, - 5,950,000 2,324,000
Total $192,179,000 $137,157,000  $123,041,000
Total long-lived

assets:

United States $ 36,982,000 $ 20231,000 $ 20,501,000

Canada 1,244,000 661,000 710,000

Asia/Pacific 28,000 27,000 11,000

Europe 2,135,000 2,168,000 2,191,000
Total $ 39,989,000 § 23337.000 § 23.413,000
Goadwili and intangi- ‘

ble assets 115,790,000 46,334,000 46,886,000
Assels from discon- '

tinued operations — 1,068,000 2,483,000
Total $155,779,000 $ 70,789,000 $ 72,782,000

19. Direct Sale of Medivators Systems in
the United States

On August 2, 2006, we commenced the sale and service of
our Medivators brand endoscope reprocessing equipment,
high-ievel disinfectanis; cleaners and consumables through

our own United Siates field sales and service organization.
Our direct sale of these products is the result of our decisicn
that it is in our best long-term interests to control and develop
our own hospital-based United States distribution network
and, as such, not to renew Olympus’ exclusive United States
distribution agreement when it expired on August 1, 20086.
Net sales to Olympus accounted for 9.8%, 11.8% and_ 13.4% of
our net sales from continuing operations in fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. : -

Throughout the former distribution arrangement with Olympusm“_.

we employed our own personnel to provide clinical sales support

activities as well as an internal technical and customer service
function, depot maintenance and service and all logistics and
distribution services for the Medivaiors/Clympus customer base.
This existing and fully developed infrastructure will continue to
be a critical factor in our new direct sales and service strategy.
During fiscal 2008, we incurred $806,000 to develop our direct
field sales and service organization in preparation for the
August 2, 2006 implementation of our new direct sales and.
service strategy.

_ During the seven-year period following the expiration of the

distribution agreement with Olympus on August 1, 2008,
Olympus will have the option to provide certain ongoing support
functicns to its existing customer base of Medivators products,
subject to the terms and conditions of the agreement. In addition,
Olympus may continue to purchase from Minntech for resale
in connection with such support functions, Medivators acces-
sories, consumables, and replacement and repair parts, as
well as Rapicide® disinfectant.




20. Quarterly Resiults of Operations (unaudited)

The foIIo'wing isa sur'nmary of the quarterly results of operati
O IS
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ons for thel years ended July 31, 2006 and 2005:

First Second  Third Fourih
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2006 |
Net sales $47,812,000 $47,340,000 $46,887,000 $50,140,000
Cost of sales® 29,851,000 30,502,000 29,841,000 32,769,000
Gross profit? “:[ . 17,961,000 16,838,000 17,046,000 17,371,000
Gross profit percentagé‘?’ ' 37.6% " . 35.6% ) 36.4% 34.6%
— Income from contmumg Operations, net of tax 2,218,000 1,874,000 1,639,000 922,000
“*Thcome from drsconhnued operations:net of tax< - 2 1,660,000 2,191,000 3,141,000 3,276,000
Gain (loss) on dlsposal of discontinued-operations . . (132,000) {136,000) - - (197,000) 7,241,000 -
Net income $ 3,746,000 $ 3,929,000 $ 4,583,000 $1%,439,000
Earnings per commen share:®
Basic:
Continuing operations $ 014 § 0.1z $ 010 0.06
Ciscontinued operations 1 0.1 0.14 0.20 0.21
Gain {loss) on disposal l (0.01) (0.01) {0.01) 0.47
Net income ' $0.24 § 025 $ 029 $ 0.74
Diluted:
Continuing operations $ 0.13 $0.11 § 010 $ 0.06
Discontinued operations 0.10 0.14 0.19 0.20
Gain {loss) on disposal — (0.01) {0.01) 0.45
Net income 3 023 $ 0.24 $ 028 $ on
First Second Third Fourth
~ Quarter Quarter Quarter "Quarter
2005 . .
Net sales $32568,000 $34,497.000 $34,427,000 $35.665,000
Cost of sales 18,684,000 21,292,000 20,953,000 21,337,000 _
Gross profit . 12,874,000 13,205,000 13.47;1‘000 14,328,000
Gross profit percentage . 355% 38.3% 39.1% 40.2%
Income from continuing operations, net of tax 1,656,000 1,804,000 1,771,000 2,664,000
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 1,451,000 2,072,000 2,038,000 2,045,000
Net income o ! $ 3,107,000 § 3876000 $ 3,809000 $ 4,713,000
Earnings per common share:™" '
Basic: '
Continuing operations 3 011§ 012 % 012 -3 0.18
Discontinued operations 0.10 0.14 0.13 _0.14
Net income $ 021 % 026 $§ 025 % 0.32
Diluted:
Continuing operations 3 010 011 % 011 3. 0.16
| ' Discontinued operations Q.10 0,13 012 0,13
' Net income $ 020 $° 024 $ 023§ 0.29

(1) The summation of quarterly earmngs per share does not necessarily equlaf the fiscal year earnings per share due to rounding.
(2) Certain distribution and warehouse expenses of Crosslex have been red‘lass:ﬁed fram amounts previously reported in our quarlerly Form 10-Q's to conform with the
accounting policies of Cantel which require such costs to be classified as cost of sales. These reclassifications affect cost of sales, gross profit and general and

administrative expanses of our Dental segment, and therefore cur cons
first, second and third quarters of fiscal 2006, respectively.

+

plidated amounts, and amounted to approxxmaten‘y $183,000, £157,000 and $189,000 for our
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21. Legal Proceedings

In the normal course of business, we are subject to pending
and threatened legal actions. It is our policy to accrue for
amounts refated to these legal matters if it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and an amount of anticipated expo-
sure can be reascnably estimated: -~ -

On: January 27, 2006, the Unlted States D|str|ct Court District of
anesota granted ‘Minntech’s Motion for Summary Judgment
in the. previously reporied antitrust lawsuit commenced by
HDC Medical, Inc. in Novermnber 2003. As a result of the ruling,
the complaint against Minntech, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Cantel, has been dismissed. In March 2006, HDC filed a
Notice of Appeal with respect to the court’s ruling for Summary
Judgment and in April 2006, HDC filed its Brief and Addendum
in support of its appeal. Minntech filed its Brief in response to
the appeal on May 24, 2006 and HDC submitted a Reply Brief
on June 7, 2006. Oral argument before the Eighth Circuit Court
of Appeals in St. Louis is scheduled for October 19, 2006. We
do not expect the Court to render a decision on HDC's appeal
prior to December 2006.

In July 2008, we received a I;etter from the “Sellers” of Biolab
Equipment Ltd. claiming that the Contingent Payment under
the Biolab Stock Purchase Agreement is payable to the Sellers

but providing:virtually no support for their position. We
responded by stating that the claim has absolutely no merit
but that a formal analysis with respect to fiscal 2006 could
not be provided until the completion of our year-end financia!
statenents. In October 2006, the Sellers sent a letter to us
claiming that the Contingent Payment, as welllas related
incentive compensation payments to two of the Sellers under
their employment agreements, ‘Q?as been fully earned. Although
the Sellers prowded an analysis purportedly supporting their
position, we believe that the analysis is erroneous and the claim

+ has no merit whatsoever. We advised the Sellers of our position

and within the next few weeks will deliver to the Sellers the
formal calculations required under the terms of the Stock
Purchase Agreement. Although we hope that this matter will
be dropped following the Sellers’ receipt of such calculations,
there can be no assurance in that regard. If we cannot
amicably resolve this matter, the Sellers can commence an
arbitration proceeding under the terms of the Stock Purchase
Agreement. The maximum Contingent Payment and incentive
compensation that could be earned under the Stock Purchase
Agreement and related employment agreements of two of the
Sellers (one of whom remains an employee of the Company)
are approximately $3,000,000 and $600,000, respectively.
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
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Balanclse at o
Beginning Translation Balance at
of Period  Additions  (Deductions)  Adjustments  End of Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts: .
Year ended July 31, 2006 $ 737.000  $230,000@ $ (66.000) $28,000 $ 929,000
Year ended July 31, 2005 $1.337:,000 $ 17,0000 . $(665,000)® $48,000 $ 737,000
Year ended July 31, 2004 $1 .OTd.OOO $504,000"  © $(281,000) $44,000 - $1,337,000

(1) includes $145,000 recordéd in connection with the purchase accounltmg for the Biolab, Mar Cor, Dyped and Saf-T-Pak aCQUISIfIOI’?S and 3359,000 .

charged to expense during fiscal 2004.

(2} The significant reduction in additions in fiscal 2005, as compared wrth fiscal 2004 and 2003 was primarily due lo the collection of several large
dehnquent receivables, ‘whzch had been reserved in pas! fiscal years,

(3) Includes the write- off of a $400,000 recelvable that existed at the date of the Minntech acguisition on September 7, 2001,

(4) Includes §100,000 recorded m connect:on with the purchase accountmg for the Crosstex and Fluid Solutions acquisitions, and $130,000 charged to

expenses during fiscal 2006

i.

s




Carsen Group Inc.
Minntech Corporation
Minniech B.V.
Minntech Japan K.K.

--Biolab Equipment-Lid.-.- - -

Mar Cor Purification, Inc.
Saf-T-Pak, Inc.

Crossiex International, Inc.
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e . EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

(Amalgamated under the laws of Ontario, Canada)
" (Incorporated under the laws of Minnesota)
(Incorporated under the laws of The Netherlands)

S {Incorporated under the laws of Japan)

e e e e = (Amalgamated under the faws of Ontario, Canada)

(Incorporated under the laws of Pennsylvania)
(Incorporated under the laws of Canada)

{Incorpaorated under the laws of New York)
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} . . EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

| We consent to the lncorporatron by reference in the Caniel Medical Corp. Regrstratron Statement (Form 5-3 No. 333-129053) and

i refated Prospectus and Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nés 333-123037, 333-113277, 33-04495, 333-20819 and 333-57232) of

, our reports dated October 12, 2006, with respect to the Consolrdated financial statements and schedule of Cantel Medical Corp.,
' Caniel Medical Corp. management's assessment of the effectlveness of internal control over financial reporting, and the efiective-
ness of internal control over financial reporting of Cantel Medrcal Corp., included in this Annual Report (Form 10- K) for the year
ended July 31, 2006 . .

|
|
|
|
i
i

| R LLP
" MetroPark, NewJersey'f: . ' oo ) . o

’ October 12, 2006
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

|, James P. Reilly, President and Chief Executive Officer,
certify that:

1. 1 have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cantel
Medical Corp.;

=", Based on nﬁy’inowledge. this report does not contain any
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period coversd by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other
financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and | are responsible
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and t5d-15(f)
for the registrant and we have:

a} Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or
caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the regisirant, including its consol-
idated subsidiaries, is made known o us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is heing prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting,
or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasconable
assurance regarding the reliability of {financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted account-
ing principles;

b

—

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure
controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report basedionisuchyevaluationiand

S e

o ————_—

d) Disciosed in this repori any chénges in the registrant's
Ainternal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect. the registrant’s internal control over

_financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officers and | have disclosed,
based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors {or persons

- performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal controls over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and '

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves manage-
ment or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal controls over financiai reporting.

Date: October 16, 2006

o CF2H
@/es P. Reilly, President and Chief Executive Officer
rincipal Executive Officer)




77 — Gantel Medical Corp.

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

Officer, certify that: J

I .

|- i .
I 1, Craig A. Sheldon, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial’

i

1. I have reviewed thls Annua! Report on Form 10-K of Cante
Medical Corp.;

. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any
untrue sta’{ement of a material-fact or omit to state a matenal
fact necessary to make the statements made, in‘light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made.I not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this rep'ort;

. Based on my knowledge, the financial staternents, and other
financial information included in this report, fairly presept
in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and fo'r.
the periods presented in this report;

. The registrant's ofher certifying officers and | are responflble
for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures {as deflned in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(1'3)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal conirol over financial reportlng
(as deflned in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(f) and-15d- 15(f)
for the reglstrant and we have:

-a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or

. caused such disclosure controls and procedures to ble
designed under cur supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its co:nsol-
idated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which|this
report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reparting,

o
-~

be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external

ing pnnaples

or caused such internal control over financial reporting to -

I
purposes in accerdance with generally accepted account-»

+

- ¢)" Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure
controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

" controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant's

internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

© registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably fikely
to materiafly affect, the registrant's internal control over

" financial reporting: and

~—

b, The registrant's other certifying officers and | have disclosed,
based on our most recent evaluation of internal control aver
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
the design or operation of internal controls over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves manage-
ment or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: October 16, 2006

Cooip @ Ll

Craig &/ Sheldon, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32

-CERTIFICATION

L , PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
e - oo (SUBSECTIONS (a) AND (5) OF SECTION 1350, CHAPTER 63 OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE) -

= Pursuani to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of Title 18, United
States Code), the undersigned officers of Cantel Medical Corp. (the "Company"), do hereby certify with respect to the Annual
Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the year ended July 31, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“Form 10-K") that, to the best of their knowledge: - ‘ e et et

1. The Form 10-K fully complies with the _réqui.rements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information .contained in the Form 10-K fairly preéents. in all material respects, the financial condition and resuits of opera-

tions of the Company.

Date: October 16, 2006

e

s ———
@J{S P. Reilly
resident and Chief Executive Officer

{(Principal Executive Officer)

. é—«.‘?ﬁ %A.«(o/mw

Craig gSheldon
Senvior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Form 10-K Report

Stockholders may obtain a copy of Cantel
Medical Corp.'s 2006 Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission by visiting
our website at www.cantelmedical.com
or writing to Ms. Joanna Zisa-Albrecht,
Assistant Secretary, Cantel Medical Corp.

We have filed with the SEC, as Exhibits
31.1 and 31.2 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fisca! year ended
July 31, 2008, the CEO and CFO certifica-
tions required under Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and SEC Rules
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a). In addition,
following our 2005 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, we submitted to the NYSE
the annual ceriification of our CEO, as
required under Section 303A.12(a) of the
NYSE Listed Company Manual, which
certified that cur CEQ was not aware

of any violation by us of the NYSE's
corporate governance listing standards.
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